# DISCREPANCIES BETWEEN CHILDBEARING EXPECTATIONS AND THE PERCEPTION OF THE ACTUAL EXPERIENCE OF THE MATURE PRIMIPARA

by

**Margaret Gander** 

A thesis submitted to the Faculty of Graduate Studies in Partial Fulfilment of the Requirements for the degree of

MASTER OF NURSING

Faculty of Nursing
The University of Manitoba
Winnipeg, Manitoba

(c) December, 1992



Acquisitions and Bibliographic Services Branch

395 Wellington Street Ottawa, Ontario K1A 0N4 Bibliothèque nationale du Canada

Direction des acquisitions et des services bibliographiques

395, rue Wellington Ottawa (Ontario) K1A 0N4

Your file Votre référence

Our file Notre référence

The author has granted an irrevocable non-exclusive licence allowing the National Library of Canada to reproduce, loan, distribute or sell copies of his/her thesis by any means and in any form or format, making this thesis available to interested persons.

L'auteur a accordé une licence irrévocable et non exclusive permettant à la Bibliothèque nationale du Canada de reproduire, prêter, distribuer ou vendre des copies de sa thèse de quelque manière et sous quelque forme que ce soit pour mettre des exemplaires de cette thèse à disposition la des personnes intéressées.

The author retains ownership of the copyright in his/her thesis. Neither the thesis nor substantial extracts from it may be printed or otherwise reproduced without his/her permission.

L'auteur conserve la propriété du droit d'auteur qui protège sa thèse. Ni la thèse ni des extraits substantiels de celle-ci ne doivent être imprimés ou autrement reproduits sans son autorisation.

ISBN 0-315-81838-7



Name	
Dissertation Abstracts International is arranged by progg.	general subject categories. Please select the one

Dissertation Abstracts International is arranged by production, general subject categories. Please select the one subject which most nearly describes the content of your dissertation. Enter the corresponding four-digit code in the spaces provided.

nursing

SUBJECT TERM

0569

U·M·I

SUBJECT CODE

# **Subject Categories**

### THE HUMANITIES AND SOCIAL SCIENCES

	28691487949	
Architect Art Histo Cinema Dance Fine Arts Informati Journalis Library S Mass Co Music	on Science mmunications	0729 0377 0900 0378 0357 0723 0391 0399 0708
Administ Adult and Agricultur Agricultur Bilingual Business Commun Curriculu Early Chi Elementa Finance . Guidance Health Higher History o Home Ec. Industrial Language	ON  ration	0514 0516 0517 0273 0282 0688 0275 0727 0518 0518 0524 0277 0580 0745 0520 0278 0521 0279

0525 0535 0527 0714 0533 0534 0529 0529 0710 0288 0747
0679 0289 0290 0291
0401 0294 0295 0297 0297 0316 0315 0352 0355 0311 0311 0313 0314

PHILOSOPHY, RELIGION AND THEOLOGY	
Philosophy	.0422
Religion General Biblical Studies Clergy History of Philosophy of Theology	. 0319 . 0320 . 0322
SOCIAL SCIENCES	
American Studies	.0323
Archaeology	.0324 .0326 .0327
General	0310 0272 0770 0454
Economics General Agricultural Commerce-Business Finance History Labor Theory Folklore Geography	0503 0505 0508 0509 0510 0511 0358
Geography Gerontology History	0351
General	0578

Ancient Medieval Modern Black African Asia, Australia and Oceania Canadian European Latin American Middle Eastern United States History of Science	.05 .03 .03 .03 .03 .03 .03	81 82 31 32 34 35 37 85
Political Science		
General	.06	15
General	06 06 80	16 17 14
Sociology General Criminology and Penology Demography Ethnic and Racial Studies Individual and Family Studies Industrial and Labor Relations Public and Social Welfare Social Structure and	062 062 063	28 29 30
Development	070 070 070 099 045	14 19 19 53

### THE SCIENCES AND ENGINEERING

BIOLOGICAL SCIENCES	
Agriculture,	
General	0473
Agronomy Animal Culture and	0285
Animal Culture and	0.475
Nutrition Animal Pathology	04/3
Food Science and	04/0
Tochnology	0250
Technology Forestry and Wildlife Plant Culture	0337 0470
Plant Cultura	047 0 0470
Plant Pathology	0477
Plant Physiology	0817
Plant Pathology Plant Physiology Range Management Wood Technology	0017
Wood Technology	0746
Biology	070
General	0306
Anatomy	
Biostatistics	0308
Botany	0309
Cell	0379
Ecology	0329
Entomology	. 0353
Genetics	0369
Limnology	0/93
Microbiology	0410
Molecular Neuroscience	030/
Occapography	0.0317
Oceanography Physiology	0410
Radiation	0821
Veterinary Science	0778
Zoology	0472
Biophysics	•
General	0786
Medical	
TARTI CONTROL	
EARTH SCIENCES	
Biogeochemistry	0425
Goochemistry	NYVA

seophysics lydrology dineralogy aleobotany aleocology aleontology aleontology alynology hysical Geography hysical Oceanography	0345 0426 0418 0985
IEALTH AND ENVIRONMENTA CIENCES	\L
nvironmental Sciences lealth Sciences	0768
General Audiology Chemotherapy Dentistry Education Hospital Management Human Development Immunology Medicine and Surgery Mental Health Nursing Nutrition Obstetrics and Gynecology Occupational Health and Therapy Ophthalmology Pharmacology Pharmacy Physical Therapy Public Health Radiology Recreation	0300 0992 0567 0350 0758 0982 0564 0569 0570 0380 0354 0351 0571 0419 0572 0382 0573

Toxicology Home Economics	0383 0386
PHYSICAL SCIENCES	
Pure Sciences	
Chemistry	
General Agricultural	0485
Agricultural	0/49
Analytical	0486
Biochemistry Inorganic Nuclear	0.407
Nuclear	0400 0738
Organic	0490
Organic Pharmaceutical	0491
Physical	0494
Polymer	0495
Radiation	0/54
Mathematics	0405
Physics General	0406
Acoustics	000
Astronomy and	0700
Astrophysics	0606
Astrophysics Atmospheric Science	0608
Atomic Electronics and Electricity	0748
Electronics and Electricity	0607
Elementary Particles and	0700
High Energy Fluid and Plasma	0/98
Molecular	0/37
Nuclear	0.610
Optics Radiation Solid State	0752
Radiation	0756
Solid State	0611
Statistics	0463
Applied Sciences Applied Mechanics	
Applied Mechanics	0346
Computer Science	0984

Engineering General Aerospace Agricultural Automotive Biomedical Civil Electronics and Electrical Heat and Thermodynamics Hydraulic Industrial Marine Materials Science Mechanical Metallurgy Mining Nuclear Packaging Petroleum Sanitary and Municipal	.0538 .0539 .0540 .0541 .0542 .0543 .0544 .0545 .0546 .0547 .0794 .0548 .0743 .0551 .0552
Sanitary and Municipal System Science Geotechnology Operations Research Plastics Technology Textile Technology	,0/95
PSYCHOLOGY	
General Behavioral Clinical Developmental Experimental Industrial Personality Physiological Psychobiology Psychometrics	.0384 .0622 .0620 .0623 .0624 .0625 .0989 .0349



Nom	
-----	--

Dissertation Abstracts International est organisé en catégories de sujets. Veuillez s.v.p. choisir le sujet qui décrit le mieux votre thèse et inscrivez le code numérique approprié dans l'espace réservé ci-dessous.

**CODE DE SUJET** 

#### SUJET

### Catégories par sujets

### HUMANITÉS ET SCIENCES SOCIALES

humanites	et	SCI
COMMUNICATIONS ET LE	S ART	ſS
Architecture		.0729
Beaux-arts	•••••	.035/
Cinóma	•••••	.0377
Communication verbale		0459
Communications	,	.0708
Danse		.0378
Histoire de l'art	• • • • • • • •	. 0377
Bibliotheconomie Cinéma Communication verbale Communications Danse Histoire de l'art Journalisme Musique		0.0391
Sciences de l'information		0723
Musique		.0465
ÉDUCATION		
		515
Généralités Administration		.0514
Art		.0273
Collèges communautaires		.02/5
Économie domestique	••••••	0278
Education permanente		.0516
Éducation préscolaire		.0518
Éducation sanitaire		.0680
Enseignement agricole		.0517
Enseignement bilingue et		0282
Enseignement industriel		0521
Enseignement primaire		.0524
Enseignement professionne	el	.0747
Enseignement religieux	• • • • • • • •	.0527
Enseignement secondaire		.0533
Enseignement supérieur		0745
Évaluation		.0288
Finances		.0277
Formation des enseignants	; <i></i>	.0530
Histoire de l'éducation	• • • • • • • •	.0520
Généralités Administration Art Collèges communautaires Commerce Economie domestique Education permanente Education préscolaire Enseignement agricole Enseignement bilingue et multiculturel Enseignement primaire Enseignement primaire Enseignement primaire Enseignement primaire Enseignement priessionne Enseignement spécial Enseignement spécial Enseignement supérieur Evaluation Finances Formation des enseignants Histoire de l'éducation Langues et littérature		02/ 9
		gén
sciences et		yer
SCIENCES BIOLOGIQUES		
Agriculture GénéralitésAgronomie. Alimentation et techno		.0473
Agronomie		.0285
Alimentation et techno	logie	
Alimentation et techno alimentariore		0359
Culture		.0479
Elevage et alimentation Exploitation des péturo	1	0777
Pathologie animale		.0476
Pathologie végétale		.0480
Physiologie végétale		.0817
Sylviculture et taune	• • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • •	.04/8
l'echnologie du bois		.0/40
Biologie Généralités		0306
Biologie Généralités		.0287
Biologie (Statistiques) .		.0308
Biologie moléculaire		.0307
Botanique	• • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • •	0309
Foologie		0379
Entomologie		.0353
Génétique		0369

ices sociales	
Lecture Mathématiques Musique Orientation et consultation Philosophie de l'éducation Physique Programmes d'études et enseignement Psychologie Sciences Sciences sociales Sociologie de l'éducation Technologie	0280 0522 0519 0998 0523
LANGUE, LITTÉRATURE ET	
LINGUISTIQUE	
Langues Généralités Anciennes Linguistique Modernes Littérature	0289 0290 0291
Généralités Anciennes Comparée Mediévale Moderne Africaine Américaine Anglaise Asiatique Canadienne (Anglaise) Canadienne (Française) Germanique Latino-américaine Moyen-orientale Romane Slave et est-européenne	0294 0295 0297 0298 0316 0591 0305 0305 0352 0311 0312 0313

PHILOSOPHIE, RELIGION ET THEOLOGIE	
Philosophie	0422
Religion Généralités Clergé Etudes bibliques Histoire des religions Philosophie de la religion Théologie	0319 0321 0320
SCIENCES SOCIALES	
Anthropologie Archéologie Culturelle Physique Droit Economie	0324 0326 0327 0398
Généralités Commerce-Affaires Economie agricole Economie du travail Finances Histoire Théorie Études américaines Études canadiennes Etudes féministes Folklore Géographie Gérontologie Gestion des affaires	0503 0510 0508 0509 0511 0323 0385 0453 0358
Généralités Administration Banques Comptabilité Marketing	0310 0454 0770 0272
Histoire Histoire générale	0578

Ancienne	
Médiévale	.0581
Moderne	.0582
Histoire des noirs	.0328
Atricaine	0331
Canadienne États-Unis	.0334
États-Unis	.0337
Européenne	.0335
Moven-orientale	0333
Latino-américaine	.0336
Latino-américaine Asie, Australie et Océanie	.0332
Histoire des sciences	()585
Loisirs Planification urbaine et	.0814
Planification urbaine et	
régionale	.0999
Généralités  Administration publique	.0615
Administration publique	.0617
Droit et relations	
internationales	.0616
Sociologie	
Généralités	.0626
Généralités Aide et bien-àtre social	.0630
Criminologie et	
établissements	
pénitentiaires	.0627
pénitentiaires Démographie Études de l' individu et	.0938
Études de l' individu et	
de la famille	.0628
Études des relations	
interethniques et	
des relations raciales	.0631
Structure et développement	
social	.0700
social	.0344
Travail et relations	
industrielles	.0629
Transports Travail social	0709
Travail social	.0452

# VIERIE

SCIENCES BIOLOGIQUES	
Agriculture Généralités	.0473
Agronomie. Alimentation et technologie alimentaire	0359
Culture	.0479
Culture Élevage et alimentation Exploitation des péturages Pathologie animale Pathologie végétale	.0777
Pathologie végétale	.0480
Physiologie végétale Sylviculture et faune Technologie du bois	.0478
Biologie Généralités	
Anatomie	0287
Biologie (Statistiques) Biologie moléculaire Botanique	.0307
Cellule	.03/9
Écologie Entomologie Génétique	.0353
Limnologie	0/10
Neurologie Océanographie Physiologie	.0317
Physiologie Radiation	.0433
Science vétérinaire Zoologie	.0778
Biophysique Généralités	.0786
Medicale	.0760
SCIENCES DE LA TERRE Biogéochimie	.0425
Géodésie	.0370
Géographie physique	.0368

Géologie         0372           Géophysique         0373           Hydrologie         0388           Minéralogie         0411           Océanographie physique         0415           Paléobotanique         0345           Paléoécologie         0426           Paléontologie         0418           Paléozoologie         0985           Palynologie         0427	
SCIENCES DE LA SANTÉ ET DE	
L'ENVIRONNEMENT   Économie domestique	

SCIENCES PHYSIQUES	
Sciences Pures	
Chimie	0.405
Genéralités Biochimie	
Chimie agricole	0749
Chimie agricole Chimie analytique Chimie minérale	0486
Chimie minerale Chimie nucléaire	0488
Chimie organique	0490
Chimie pharmaceutique	0491
Physique PolymCres	0494
Radiation	
Mathématiques	0405
Physique Généralités	
Acoustique	0603
Actronomia at	
astrophysique	0606
Electronique et electricite	0607
Météorologie	0608
astrophysique Electronique et électricité Fluides et plasma Météorologie Optique Particules (Physique	0752
Particules (Physique nucléaire)	0798
Physique atomique Physique de l'état solide Physique moléculaire Physique nucléaire Radiation Statistics	0748
Physique de l'état solide	0611
Physique moléculaire	0609
Radiation	0756
Statistiques	0463
Sciences Appliqués Et	
Informatique	0984
Généralités	0537
Agricole	0539
Automobile	0540

ransports ravail social	. 0709 0452
Biomédicale	
Chaleur et ther modynamique	0348
Conditionnement (Emballage) Génie aérospatial Génie chimique Génie électronique et	0549
Génie aérospatial	0538
Génie chimique	0542
Genie civii	0543
électrique	0544
électrique Génie industriel	0544
Génie mécanique	0548
Génie nucléaire	0552
Ingénierie des systàmes	0790
Mécanique navale	0547
Métallurgie	0743
Science des matériaux	0794
lechnique du petrole	U/ 63
Technique minière	0551
Techniques sanitaires et	0554
municipales Technologie hydraulique Nécanique appliquée	05/45
Nécanique appliquée	0346
Séotechnologie	0428
Géotechnologie Natières plastiques	
(Technologie)	0795
(Technologie) Lecherche opérationnelle	0796
'extiles et tissus (Technologie)	0794
SYCHOLOGIE	
Sénéralités	0621
ersonnalité	0625
Psychobiologie	U3/19
sychologie clinique	0622
sychologie clinique sychologie du comportement sychologie du développement	0384
sychologie du développement .	0620
svenologie experimentale	UOZ3
sychologie industrielle	0624
sychologie physiologique sychologie sociale	0451
sychometrie	0632
37CHOHEILE	0002



# DISCREPANCIES BETWEEN CHILDBEARING EXPECTATIONS AND THE PERCEPTION OF THE ACTUAL EXPERIENCE OF THE MATURE PRIMIPARA

by

### MARGARET GANDER

A Thesis submitted to the Faculty of Graduate Studies of the University of Manitoba in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of

#### MASTER OF NURSING

© 1993

Permission has been granted to the LIBRARY OF THE UNIVERSITY OF MANITOBA to lend or sell copies of this thesis, to the NATIONAL LIBRARY OF CANADA to microfilm this thesis and to lend or sell copies of the film, and UNIVERSITY MICROFILMS to publish an abstract of this thesis.

The author reserves other publication rights, and neither the thesis nor extensive extracts from it may be printed or otherwise reproduced without the author's permission.

#### **ABSTRACT**

A number of studies suggest that the mature primipara has high expectations of herself in the mothering role. She also may have anxieties about the physiological and psychosocial consequences of childbearing. Little is known, however, about the childbearing experience of mature primiparas or of the congruence between their expectations and perceptions of the experience. How well a woman's childbearing expectations match her perception of the experience has been reported to have impact on her ability to view childbearing as a positive experience and her ability to take on the mothering role.

The purpose of this study was to explore and describe the childbearing experience of the mature primipara, with specific focus on maternal childbearing expectations and on discrepancies between expectations and the perceived experience of this population.

The study sample consisted of nine primiparas who ranged in age from 35 to 42 years. Data were gathered through unstructured interviews conducted between two and six months following the birth of the baby. A qualitative, grounded theory approach was used in the collection and analysis of data. Childbearing as a bittersweet experience was identified as the core category, that is, the theme central to the experience of delayed childbearing. Childbearing as a bittersweet experience was identified as the perception held by mature primiparous women that there were more negative aspects to their childbearing experience than they had expected, and that these negative aspects offset the positive aspects or gratifications of childbirth they had anticipated. For all women in the study, the experience was less positive than anticipated. Antecedents, or factors that seemed to contribute to the perception of childbirth as a bittersweet experience, action/interaction strategies and intervening conditions that modulated the experience, and consequences of the negative aspects of the experience were identified as they related to the core category. The consequences for these subjects of holding bittersweet perceptions ranged from postpartum depression, to feelings of loss of control, disappointment. dissatisfaction, anger, and guilt. The findings suggest that the type and quality of health care offered to the mature primipara should be examined. Prenatal preparation and postpartum services tailored to the needs of the mature primipara would do much to improve the childbearing experience of this age group and would help to ensure that their childbearing expectations are realistic.

### ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

This thesis is dedicated in loving memory of V. N. Round whose encouragement and unfailing love provided me with the courage to pursue my dream. Thank you Dad!

To my family, thank you for your patience and understanding throughout this project. I know that a lot of sacrifices have been made along the way and I thank you for not trading me in for a new mother.

To my chairperson, Dr. Ina Bramadat thank you for your support, your encouragement, as well as your incredible expertise in the field of long distance communication.

To my colleagues, thank you for your patience in enduring my lengthy conversations and consultations concerning my latest findings.

# TABLE OF CONTENTS

		Page
CHAPTER I	STATEMENT OF THE PROBLEM	. 1
	Background to the Study	. 1
	Delayed Childbearing	. 2
	Significance of the Study	. 3
	Statement of Purpose	. 6
	Research Questions	. 6
CHAPTER II	REVIEW OF THE LITERATURE	. 8
	Maternal Physiological Risks	. 8
	Risks to the Infant	10
	The Impact of Maternal Health Status on Pregnancy/Fetal Outcome	11
	Infertility	13
	Motivation for Pregnancy	14
	Impact of Maternal Illness on Pregnancy Outcome	16
	Gratification, Role Attainment, and Self Esteem	17
	Role Strain	21
	Support and Perinatal Satisfaction	22
	Impact of Childbearing on the Marital Relationship	24
	Expectations for Labor and Delivery	25

		Page
	Failed Expectations	. 28
	Summary	. 29
CHAPTER III	METHODOLOGY	. 30
	Grounded Theory	. 30
	Theoretical sensitivity	. 31
	Constant comparative analysis	. 32
	Memo writing	. 33
	Theoretical sampling	. 33
	Validity and Reliability	. 34
	Credibility	. 35
	Fittingness	. 37
	Auditability	. 37
	Confirmability	. 38
	Organizational Framework	. 38
	Definition of Terms	. 41
	Study Design	. 42
	Sample	. 42
	Setting	42
	Time frame	42
	Instruments	43

		Page
	Procedure	43
	Ethical Considerations	44
CHAPTER IV	FINDINGS	46
	Section I - The Preconceptual Period:  Making the Decision	47
	Expectations	47
	Personal expectations	47
	Impact of partner, family and friends on expectations	51
	Society/Culture and childbearing expectations	55
	Childhood fantasies and childbearing expectations	57
	Perceptions	58
	The passage of time and childbearing expectations	58
	Actions/Interactions in Preconceptual Period	60
	Weighting	60
	Taking chances	62
	Section $\Pi$ - Women's Experience of Pregnancy	63
	Expectations For Pregnancy	64
	Perceptions of Pregnancy	66

	Page
Intervening Conditions	68
Accepting the reality of pregnancy	68
Congruence with expectations	68
Assurance that the baby was healthy	70
Getting "in sync" with partner	70
Support from family and friends	72
Action/Interaction Strategies during Pregnancy	72
Presenting the pregnancy	73
Complying with the "rules of pregnancy"	74
Preparing for delivery	74
Section III - Experience of Labor and Delivery	75
Expectations for Labor and Delivery	75
Perceptions of Labor and Delivery	76
Intervening Conditions Affecting Perception of Labor and Delivery	76
Sense of control	
Pain management	
Support from labor coach	80
Doctoring	81
Perceived threat to the infant	84

Pa	g
Action/Interaction Strategies during Labor and Delivery	34
Attending prenatal classes 8	34
Developing a birth plan	35
Minimizing discrepancies 8	35
Section IV - Experience of Motherhood	9
Expectations for Motherhood	9
Expected lifestyle changes 8	9
Expectations for the child	0
Expectations for themselves as parents 9	1
Perception of the Experience of Motherhood 9	2
Initial reactions to the baby 9	2
Perceived realities of coming home with the baby	4
Perceptions of breastfeeding 9	5
Common negative perceptions 9	6
Common positive perceptions 9	9
Intervening Conditions	0
Support	0
Dedicating to the baby	1
Perceived changes in the marital relationship	3
Changes in self-concept 10	4

		Page
	Separating from the baby - returning to work	105
	Action/Interaction Strategies	108
	Advantages to delayed childbearing	108
	Consequences of Negative Perceptions of Motherhood	109
	Depression	109
	Feelings of guilt	109
	Section $V$ - Evaluation and Advice to Others	109
	Overall Satisfaction with their Childbearing Experience	110
	Women's Advice to Others	113
CHAPTER V	DISCUSSION OF FINDINGS	115
	Delayed Childbearing as a Bittersweet Experience	115
	Antecedents	116
	Intervening conditions	123
	Action/interaction strategies	126
	Consequences	129
	The Relationship of the Findings to the Organizational Framework	131
	Implications for Further Research	133
	Implications for Practice	135

	Page
Limitations of the Study	137
Conclusions	138
REFERENCES	141
APPENDIX A - Instruments	147
APPENDIX B - Letters Requesting Access to Study Participants	149
APPENDIX C - Approach to Prospective Participants	151
APPENDIX D - Consent Form	154
APPENDIX E - Contact from Community Health Nurse	156
APPENDIX F - Ethical Review Committee Approval .	158
APPENDIX G - Schematic of the Core Category	.160
LIST OF TABLES	
Table 1 - Complications and Medical Interventions .	. 77

#### CHAPTER I

#### **Statement of the Problem**

This descriptive study was designed to explore and describe the childbearing experience of mature primiparous women. Using a grounded theory methodology, childbearing expectations, perception of the actual experience, and discrepancy between expectations and perception were examined.

#### **Background to the Study**

Pregnancy and the birth of a child are events that typically evoke images of happiness and fulfilment. However, personal observations during postnatal visits to primiparous women in their thirties suggested that this group of women tended to have more difficulties in postpartum adjustment than younger women. It seemed that these women expressed feelings of isolation, loneliness, and frustration to a greater extent than their younger counterparts. Consultation with colleagues indicated that similar observations had been made by other health care professionals regarding postpartum adjustment in this age group. This phenomenon was particularly evocative because these women, for the most part, had decided to delay childbearing until they felt better prepared for motherhood; they were well educated and well read, had supportive marital relationships, and were financially secure. Many of them had experience with skilled, responsible, and prestigious occupations.

According to Strauss and Corbin (1990), professional experience such as the above observation of mature primiparous women may be a source of theoretical sensitivity: "The

more professional experience, the richer the knowledge base and insight available to draw upon in the research" (Strauss & Corbin, 1990, p.42). Theoretical sensitivity, as derived from clinical experience, enables the researcher to formulate theory that is faithful to the reality of the phenomena under study (Strauss & Corbin, 1990). The clinical observations of postpartum adjustment in the older primipara provided sensitivity to a departure from the typical perception of motherhood. Through this sensitivity, it was recognized that older primiparas are a unique population and that their experience should be examined to provide a more complete and comprehensive view of women's response to pregnancy and childbirth.

### **Delayed Childbearing**

A review of the literature conveyed some confusion about what constitutes delayed childbearing. As result of varying definitions of delayed or postponed childbearing, comparison of the findings of one study with another is problematic. Some authors have selected an arbitrary age, after which the primipara is considered elderly. Bloom (1984) identified four definitions of delayed childbearing: 1) the period of time which married women avoid childbirth; 2) the avoidance of childbirth by post-pubescent women; 3) the age at which currently married or ever-married women bear their first child; and 4) the tendency of one group or cohort of women to initiate childbearing at a later age than another group or cohort of women.

From a medical perspective, a primipara over the age of 35 years has been considered "high risk" (Morrison, 1975). Women in this age group have been reported to

be at risk for a number of physiological problems during the perinatal period. These include infertility, pregnancy complications, longer labors, and increased use of medical interventions during delivery. Their infants have been shown to be at increased risk for major chromosomal anomalies, a risk that increases with the age of the mother. Some studies have demonstrated that the mature primipara is at risk for a difficult adjustment to the parenting role. Thus it was anticipated that risks associated with delayed childbearing would be central to women's expectations and perceptions of their experience.

For the purposes of this study, therefore, primiparas thirty-five years of age or older were considered to have delayed childbearing. This definition has the added advantage that it does not rely on the time of marriage or the age at which the woman reached puberty.

#### Significance of the Study

The importance of understanding the childbearing experience of women who delay childbearing is underlined by the increasing numbers of women who fall into this category. An increased tendency for women of "the 80's" to postpone childbearing is well documented in the literature (Baldwin & Nord, 1984; DeVore, 1983; Pickens, 1982; Ventura, 1982; Woods, 1978). Baldwin and Nord (1984) reported that first births among women aged 30 to 35 more than tripled from 1970 to 1982. Wilkie (1981) reported a childless rate of 60 percent among professional women at the age of 28. In Canada, in 1983, 2.6 percent of all first time births were among women 35 years and older, as

compared to 1973, when only 1.5 per cent of live births occurred in this age group. This represents a 68 percent increase in the past eleven years in the number of women who postponed childbearing until at least their 35th birthday (Winslow, 1987).

One of the reasons for this increase in age at first birth is that those who were born during the baby boom are just now having children (Pebley, 1981). Baldwin and Nord (1984) and Pebley (1981) suggested that the fact that these older parents have had to work harder and wait longer for financial security may very well be a factor in delayed childbearing. Women also have many more options open to them which compete with childbearing and couples have control over the initiation of childbearing with the availability of reliable methods of contraception (Baldwin & Nord, 1984; Hofferth, 1984; Pebley, 1981). Employment outside the home has become more acceptable (Pebley, 1981), so that women now expect to work until they retire with only brief interruptions for childbearing.

A review of the literature revealed a paucity of research regarding the childbearing experience of the older primiparous woman. What did emerge from the review was a fairly clear profile of the older primipara. Women who delay childbearing are generally well established professionally and secure economically (Hofferth, 1984). Women delay childbearing to complete a "preparental" agenda which includes career, education, personal growth, and economic security (Mansfield, 1986). This profile closely matched clinical observations.

Education has been associated with both the delay of marriage and childbearing (Baldwin & Nord, 1984). A greater investment in education has given women the

opportunity to acquire better paying, more prestigious jobs (Baldwin & Nord, 1984). Education may impart new values, change aspirations, and create new skills which motivate the individual to try other options before settling into parenthood. Wilkie (1981) reports that the proportion of women having first births at older ages increases directly with schooling so that over 80 percent of first births to women with four or more years of college are at age 25 or older, and 20 percent are at age 30 or older.

Bloom (1984) summarized the following individual, demographic, economic, and social factors which he found to be associated with delayed childbearing: lower total fertility, longer intervals between births, greater marital stability, greater health risks related to pregnancy, higher wages, higher probabilities of working, employment in higher - status occupations, greater asset accumulation, more consumption of luxury items, costlier child care and education for children, and increased geographic mobility.

It is evident from this profile that the older primiparous woman has many unique characteristics that may result in a childbearing experience that differs substantially from that of younger women. Older primiparous women are for the most part a well read and well educated group and they tend to be keenly aware of the risks that accompany delayed childbearing. This raises questions about the expectations which this group of women might have regarding their childbearing experience and how their actual experience might differ from their expectations. It also raises questions regarding the consequences for the mature primipara should there be discrepancies between her expectations and her perception of her childbearing experience.

A review of the literature thus confirmed a trend toward postponing childbearing

and a profile was developed which closely compared to that which had been observed in clinical practice. It also established that these women may be physiologically and psychoemotionally at risk, and that their expectations and childbirth experience may differ from that of other childbearing women. Little research was found that described the experience of women who delayed childbearing, and none was reported on the congruence between expectations and perception of the birth experience among mature primiparas.

#### **Statement of Purpose**

The purpose of this study, therefore, was to explore and describe the childbearing experience of the mature primipara, with specific focus on maternal childbearing expectations as well as the discrepancies between the expectations and the perceived experience of this population.

### **Research Questions**

The following research questions guided the study:

- a) What is the childbearing experience of the mature primiparous woman?
- b) What are the expectations that mature primiparous women have for their childbearing experience?
- c) To what extent are the expectations of mature primiparous women and their perception of their actual experience congruent?
- d) What are the consequences for mature primiparous women should discrepancies exist between childbearing expectations and the perception of the actual experience?

In the following chapter, literature that pertains to delayed childbearing is explored to identify guidelines for approaching the phenomena and to provide a general organizational framework for the study.

#### **CHAPTER II**

#### **Review of the Literature**

Strauss and Corbin (1990) suggest that exploring technical literature stimulates theoretical sensitivity by providing concepts and relationships that can be examined against actual data. They define technical literature as reports of research studies and theoretical or philosophical papers characteristic of professional and disciplinary writing. It is not the intent of the researcher who is using grounded theory methodology to enter the field with a complete list of concepts and relationships, but rather to be aware of those that appear to be significant and to bring them to the field to see whether they apply to the situation that is being studied and what form they take there (Strauss & Corbin, 1990).

A review of technical literature therefore was undertaken to stimulate theoretical sensitivity. Some key concepts and relationships associated with delayed childbearing were identified. This review focuses on maternal physiological and emotional risks associated with delayed childbearing, physiological risks to the infant, and ability to take on the parenting role. As well, the impact of these factors on the expectations of women who delay childbearing until after age thirty-five and on the perceptions they have of their childbearing experience are examined.

# Maternal Physiological Risks

Many physiological concerns associated with delayed childbearing were reported in the literature. These included maternal hypertension, maternal diabetes, placenta previa, placenta abruptio, postpartum hemorrhage, longer labor, and increased incidence of

forceps delivery (DeVore, 1983; Merlin, 1987; Morrison, 1975; Woods, 1987). Daniels and Weingarten (1979) reported that the risk of early spontaneous abortion and fetal loss increase with maternal age as does the likelihood of toxemia and hemorrhage. The risk of death in childbirth rises slowly in the early thirties and steeply after age thirty-five (Daniels & Weingarten, 1979).

An increased probability of cesarian delivery has been reported among older first time mothers. Older women are more likely to have uterine fibroids which are associated with miscarriage and cesarian birth (Daniels & Weingarten, 1979; Kitzinger, 1982; Merlin, 1987). Daniels and Weingarten (1979) suggested that the slight increase in dysfunctional labor and complications of delivery may be iatrogenic in that obstetricians may treat their older patients more cautiously than younger women during pregnancy, labor, and delivery. Daniels and Weingarten (1979) reported, for example, that "women 35 years and over were five times more likely than younger women to be delivered by cesarian section, even though in two out of three cases the indications for a cesarian delivery were doubtful" (p.16). There is some evidence that heavy sedation is often administered to the older patient, increasing the chance of a dysfunctional labor and of cesarian delivery (Daniels & Weingarten, 1979; Mansfield, 1986). Studies reported by Mansfield and Cohn (1986) suggested a 25 percent higher obstetrical risk for older women. However, these statistics indicated only an increased probability for delivery by cesarian section. Physicians may prefer cesarian deliveries for older women to safeguard the baby or to avoid anticipated complications (Mansfield, 1986; Mansfield & Cohn, 1986). Morrison (1975) conducted a five year review of births to primigravidas (19681972). The control group, made up of a random selection of primigravidas under 35 years, had a three percent incidence of lower segment cesarian sections compared with a incidence of 31 percent for the experimental group, which was comprised of primiparas who were 35 years or older.

Knowledge of these childbearing risks and the perception of herself as "at risk" would conceivably have impact on the expectations which the over thirty-five year old woman might have regarding her own childbearing experience.

#### Risks to the Infant

The physiological risks to the mother are further complicated by increased risks to the infant. The incidence of fraternal twinning reportedly peaks among women 35 to 39 years of age (Baldwin & Nord, 1984; Daniels & Weingarten, 1979). Multiple births are associated with a higher incidence of birthing complications. Daniels and Weingarten (1979) noted that infant death rates decrease and remain fairly constant for women in their 20s and 30s and then rise again for women over the age of 40. However, when indicators of medical risk were considered, the rise in infant deaths was associated to a larger extent with social class than with age.

Women over 35 years have an increased chance of giving birth to a child with congenital anomalies (Baldwin & Nord, 1984; Daniels & Weingarten, 1979; Kitzinger, 1982; Merlin, 1987; Woods, 1987). The chances of having a child with Down's Syndrome rises from 1 in 1000 at age thirty to 1 in 100 at age forty (Merlin, 1987). In addition, advanced paternal age has been implicated as an independent causal factor in fresh gene

mutation that produces a number of dominantly inherited disorders including Down's syndrome (Baldwin & Nord, 1984; Daniels & Weingarten, 1979).

Women who delay childbearing tend to be well read and aware. The perception that increased risks are involved in childbearing over the age of thirty-five might well cause them concern regarding the health and well being of their infant.

# The Impact of Maternal Health Status on Pregnancy/Fetal Outcome

The above studies indicated that there are physiological risks to both mother and infant as result of delaying childbearing. However, some studies demonstrated that it is the health status of the woman that is the most important factor in predicting good obstetrical and fetal outcome for older mothers (Baldwin & Nord, 1984: DeVore, 1983; Woods, 1987). Daniels and Weingarten (1979) pointed out that age is an inexact measure of physical health and well-being. There are numerous factors involved which make it difficult to distinguish the role of general health from that of age. These factors include the number and spacing of previous pregnancies, mother's genetic disposition, medical history, hygiene, nutrition, obstetrical care, as well as socioeconomic circumstances.

Although statistics show that older mothers have a slight increase in numbers of stillbirths, premature births, and low birth weight babies, the impact of controlling for previous medical conditions or inadequate nutrition on these statistics is unclear (DeVore, 1983). Kirz, Dorchester, and Freeman (1985) and Mansfield (1986) agreed that the contribution of maternal age is decreased considerably when certain confounding variables are controlled in studies.

Mansfield (1986) conducted a review of studies concerning pregnancy outcomes. In one study, the slow second-stage labor observed in the over - 35 age group was entirely accounted for by the excessive amounts of sedatives given to these women. In another study, the increased rate of fetal deaths disappeared entirely when women with elevated blood pressure were removed from the study group.

Daniels and Weingarten (1979) suggested that some complications exist which are not essentially related to a pregnancy. Many more deaths occur from all causes to people in their 40s than to those in their 20s. Superimposed medical conditions may compound the usual risks faced in pregnancy. Therefore, it is often difficult to distinguish the role of general health from that of age. For example, diabetes multiplies fourfold the risk of toxemia of pregnancy, as well as the frequency and severity of infection, the probability of delivery by cesarian section, and the likelihood of postpartum hemorrhage.

Mansfield (1986) stated that studies which involve older mothers do not consider the following: 1) older women tend to have more chronic diseases which are known to predict pregnancy complications; 2) the "special" care afforded to these older women can result in iatrogenically-induced complications; 3) the cohorts of older primiparas have frequently been involuntarily childless and thus have been a self-selected group of complication prone older women; and 4) the older sample has often included high parity births. The latter may have been unplanned pregnancies to women of lower socioeconomic status, a scenario that is predictive of complications of pregnancy.

Mansfield (1986) concluded that there is little concrete evidence to support the drastic morphological changes at age thirty-five that would be required to produce a major

decrease in reproductive efficiency. Kirz, Dorchester and Freeman (1985) suggested, in fact, that because women who postpone childbearing are generally well informed and well educated, they are likely to monitor their health and adopt healthy lifestyle practices, thus enhancing pregnancy outcome.

It is difficult to reach any conclusions regarding the impact of age on reproductive efficiency and pregnancy outcome based on the review of the literature. For the purposes of this study, it was important to determine how the women themselves perceive childbearing after age thirty-five, and whether they perceive themselves to be at increased risk because of age.

#### **Infertility**

Menkin (1985) defined infertility as reduced ability to conceive and bear a live child. Factors such as sexually transmitted disease, pelvic inflammatory disease, and the use of intrauterine devices have been associated with secondary infertility and may be more prevalent in the older population simply because of more years of exposure to sexual activity (Menkin, 1985). Daniels and Weingarten (1979) agreed that infection, endometriosis, and fibroid cysts are the leading causes of infertility in women, however, women who use the intrauterine device or oral contraception do not appear to suffer long term infertility problems which are directly traceable to their previous method of contraception.

A great deal of controversy exists regarding the relationship between fertility and age. Hendershot, Mosher, and Pratt (1982) concluded that women who postpone child-

bearing until they are in their thirties do face an increased risk that they will not be able to conceive. In contrast, Bongaarts (1982) did not accept what he considered to be a gross overestimation of the true magnitude of permanent infertility, as well as its increase with age in the general population.

Wood (1987), after studying the controversy, concluded that fertility declines with age "to some extent" (p.22). However, Baldwin and Nord (1984) proposed that there should be no problem conceiving if the woman is in good health and free from fertility impairments which can occur at any age.

Daniels and Weingarten (1979) pointed to a new problem which occurs in couples who have been effectively contraceptive throughout most of their adult lives. These couples often find it difficult to break the contraceptive habit and make a conscientious decision to become pregnant. Therefore, the experience of making a decision to bear a child and possible difficulties in becoming pregnant were explored in the present study.

### **Motivation for Pregnancy**

Lederman (1984) indicated that the motivation for pregnancy may not be "motherhood" but rather the fear of becoming too old to have children; the fear of missing a major female experience. Many investigators concluded that women may plan a pregnancy for fear of waiting beyond their "biological boundary" (DeVore, 1983; Kitzinger, 1982; Mansfield & Cohn, 1986; Woods, 1987).

Flapan (1969, p.408) suggested that the motivation for pregnancy is associated with an awareness of the "social expectations of childbearing and the disapprobation of

childlessness". Childless couples can be made to feel guilty, selfish, and inadequate (DeVore, 1983; Flapan, 1969; Houghton & Houghton, 1984; McBride, 1973).

How a woman views her own mother is important to the childbearing decision (Breen, 1975; Flapan, 1969; Lederman, 1984; McBride, 1973; Mercer, 1985; Rubin, 1984). Women may choose the traditional role of homemaker and childrearer (Boulton, 1983; Kitzinger, 1982), or, may choose "to seek personal identity outside of the traditional role" (Killien, 1987, P.121). Swanson-Kauffman (1987) expressed concern that motherhood may be seen by some women as less desirable than the pursuit of a career. Those who choose motherhood may be seen as having "sold themselves short to a role stereotype that legitimizes the social inferiority of women" (Kitzinger, 1982, p.92,). Conflict arises because women of the 80s are encouraged to "have it all" (Killien, 1987, P.121).

Baldwin and Nord (1984) described new attitudes among both women and men concerning marriage, the family, and women in the work force. These attitudes, as well as changing sexual and childbearing norms, have had an impact on the timing of first births. Killien (1987) examined the relationship between career commitment and childbearing intentions and behaviors of professional women. The women who were ambivalent about ultimate parenthood goals were those with the highest career commitment. For these women, "the childbearing decision could become overbearing and could interfere with other goals" (Killien, 1987, p.130).

Fear of producing a baby with chromosomal anomaly may have been a reason to ignore the call for motherhood at one time. However, Roghmann and Doherty (1983)

found that "25 percent of 35-39 year olds and 12.8 percent of 40-45 year olds indicated an increased willingness to have children if they were reassured that their baby had none of the birth defects detectable by amniocentesis" (p.760).

# **Impact of Maternal Illness on Pregnancy Outcome**

Mercer (1977) noted that maternal illness during pregnancy or birth may affect a woman's self-esteem and be a drain on energy that would otherwise be available for mothering. Kitzinger (1982) maintained that some of the risks are complicated by anxiety conveyed to the patient because of "too much doctoring" (p.82). Mansfield and Cohn (1986) claimed that older mothers-to-be not only "share the concerns of their younger counterparts, but experience additional stress from believing that, because of their advanced age, both they and their babies are at high risk" (p.137). This stress can in itself "predispose the expectant mother to various pregnancy and birth complications" (Mansfield & Cohn, 1986, p. 146). Galloway (1976) described the anxiety caused by the diagnosis of a "high risk pregnancy". She suggested that a woman may have difficulty accepting herself as a high-risk mother, and may have fears regarding the outcome of the pregnancy and the normalcy of her child.

Improved techniques of prenatal diagnosis can detect fetal abnormalities, so that decisions can be made early in the pregnancy regarding the outcome. However, even with amniocentesis, the elderly primipara may have concerns regarding the health and welfare of her baby (Kitzinger, 1982; Mansfield & Cohn, 1986).

### Gratification, Role Attainment, and Self Esteem

Mercer (1985) studied maternal role attainment among women who were grouped according to age: 15-19 years (n=66); 20-29 years (n=138); and 30-42 years (n=90). All had delivered their first normal live-born infant at 37 or more weeks gestation. Mercer measured self-image, role strain, time of internalization of the maternal role, as well as challenges or demands on the woman's talents and resources. Measurements were made at one month, four months, eight months, and twelve months following the birth of the baby. Mercer (1985) reported that the women over 30 years of age scored significantly less positively in the category "gratification in the maternal role" than either of the younger groups at each test period. The most frequently mentioned challenge was that of not having any personal time. Feelings of incompetency were reported more often by the over-thirty group than by the teenage group at one month and again at twelve months. Mercer (1984) found that the older mother was more adaptable and her maternal behaviour more positive when handling irritating child behaviour than the younger groups.

Motherhood did not enhance self-concept in the majority of women in the study. In fact, 64 percent of the sample experienced a decrease in total positive self-concept (Mercer, 1986). Mercer reported, however, that "motherhood appeared to cause greater internal change and decreased adaptability" (p. 31) in the 30+ group. These women experienced a 51.8 percent decrease in personality integration and a 67.8 percent decrease in self-concept at eight months post-delivery. Mercer (1986) concluded that the older woman is able to achieve competency in maternal behavior, but the intrapersonal price appears to be higher than for younger women.

In a number of studies, higher socioeconomic status and level of education tended to be associated with more positive maternal behaviour, but were negatively associated with gratification in the mothering role. The higher the socioeconomic status, the more adaptable the maternal behaviour and the more positive the approach to handling irritating child behaviour (Mercer, 1986). Boulton (1983) found that middle-class women not only saw motherhood as exclusive responsibility for children, but felt that motherhood inhibited their personal freedom and autonomy so that their identity as individuals was replaced by an identity as mothers. Boulton (1983) also found that middle class women from professional and higher secretarial occupations were more likely to assess themselves as discontented with having children, and that women with previous experience with skilled, responsible, and prestigious occupations were much more critical of their situation than women who lacked this experience.

Russell (1974) reported that highly educated parents experience more of a crisis during transition to parenthood and enjoy the parenting role less than parents with less education. DeVore (1983) referred to the "baby shock" experienced by older first time parents. Kitzinger (1982) suggested that women in their thirties have a "heightened awareness of problems and are perhaps taking the whole experience seriously as a commitment and responsibility" (p.104). These problems, according to Kitzinger (1982), include feeling utterly incompetent and anxious; feeling socially isolated and drained of strength; watching her "well-ordered life turn into chaos"; experiencing major conflict between motherhood and career goals; losing independence, freedom and prestige.

McBride (1973) suggested that many of the frustrations, anxieties, and dilemmas of being

a mother are due to the notion that a baby is supposed to be a woman's ultimate fulfilment. As Boulton (1983) stated, "a sense of meaning and purpose does not come automatically or inevitably in motherhood" (p.119). Mercer (1981) observed that older women often move from well-established routines to the very unpredictable context created by an infant, and have higher expectations for themselves as mothers. As result, early transition into the role can be hampered.

Decreased personality integration among older first-time mothers was also recognized by Pickens (1983). Five career-oriented women who had recently delivered healthy infants were interviewed at 13 to 26 days postpartum and again at 16 to 17 weeks postpartum (Pickens, 1983). The investigator was able to identify six different clusters of behaviour that these women used to help them in identity reformulation. The following "cognitive processes" were identified.

- 1. **Reviewing.** This was a defining of selves in the past. It served to anchor the women at a time when they were not certain who they were.
- 2. **Projecting.** This was a defining for themselves what it might be like in the maternal role or how it would be for them in combining the maternal and career roles. This gave them a sense of the ideal and therefore a goal to attain.
- 3. Planning. This was an attempt to coordinate the present with the future so as to construct a more manageable situation. These women had been planners and organizers and used these skills in an attempt to maintain control.
- 4. **Cost accounting.** This was a process of considering the costs and rewards of mothering. At initial interviews there were more costs than rewards. This tended

to reverse itself at the second interview.

- 5. Weighing. This was the considering of the demand placed on oneself by two things which are both good and which exist simultaneously. This presented a "nowin" situation as they tried to choose one role over the other. The question was whether they could successfully combine the two.
- 6. Assessing. This process involved appraisal of knowledge and performance in the mothering role. These women initially assessed themselves as being less than adequate mothers. They tended to seek out evidence that they were achieving in their new job (much like the performance appraisal at work or the increment based on merit). There was a need to care for their infants correctly (Pickens, 1983, p.142).

Pickens concluded that the women were experiencing an "identity crisis" and, in order to restore a state of equilibrium, they used these six cognitive processes. However, by four months the women seemed to view themselves more positively in the maternal role. They had all returned to the work force. Their boundaries of self were formulating again.

In a study conducted by Frankel (1982), older parents planned for their child, used support groups extensively, were more accepting of the parenting role, and had less conflict regarding balancing their career and parenting roles. They may have the psychological advantage of having come to grips with their own identity and, therefore, be better equipped to handle childbearing (DeVore, 1983).

DeVore (1983) and Frankel (1982) pointed to a number of disadvantages to being

an older first-time mother. Older women have less energy to cope with the demands of caring for a child. They may become more aware of their age and may be taken for the child's grandparent. Older women lack the freedom to space their children, lack a close relationship with grandparents, and have been accused of being overly anxious about their children, lavishing on them too much love and attention (Frankel, 1982).

Indeed, Fox (1982) suggested that because of a scarcity of children (fewer children per family), there may be a loading of importance on each child. McBride (1973) agrees that there is a tremendous pressure to view the baby as exceptional, special, and out-of-the-ordinary.

#### Role Strain

When the older woman takes on the role of mother, it is often in addition to her existing multiple roles of wife, daughter, employee, and co-worker. Hirsch and Rapkin (1986) suggested that such multiple roles can cause role overload, interrole conflict, and role strain. On the other hand, multiple roles can result in personal growth, greater coping flexibility, and increased autonomy. Hirsch and Rapkin (1986) claimed that what seems to be relevant is the perceived quality of the role and the response of the social network members. In addition, Hirsch and Rapkin (1986) reported that spousal support is critical if women are to manage multiple roles.

Menkin (1985) examined the demographics of delayed childbearing. She found that "postponing childbearing increases the duration of simultaneous responsibility" of women "to young children and elderly parents" (p.48). These women have an unusually

high dose of responsibility (Menkin, 1985). Menkin (1985) suggested that because of better health care, the length of time that an older person experiences a disability and requires assistance has been lengthened. The burden on adult children has increased and these children may themselves be older when this obligation begins. Women have taken on increased responsibility in the work place yet still tend to take primary responsibility for child and household care. They have the responsibility in many cases of being primary caregivers to elderly relatives, their own offspring, and their husbands. Postponing childbearing increases the duration of simultaneous responsibility to young children and elderly parents, possibly creating overload when added to career or job demands.

Baldwin and Nord (1984) reported that older working mothers are the least likely to rely on grandparents or other relatives to provide child care, and therefore are more likely to rely on day-care facilities. The responsibility for provision of child care remains with the individual family and primarily with the mother. Baldwin and Nord (1984) explained that older parents may have to cope simultaneously with the costs of parents' nursing homes and children's college expenses and may never be able to call on their own parents for support or guidance regarding childrening.

### **Support and Perinatal Satisfaction**

The benefits of marital support through the perinatal period are well documented (Brown, 1986). Marital support contributes to overall satisfaction with pregnancy and less stress for both partners. It is a predictor of the woman's psychological adaptation during the perinatal period, and is associated with a lower incidence of perinatal depression.

Women who receive marital support are the calmest group in the hospital, experiencing fewer complications. Marital support is associated with men's more positive approach to fathering. The closer the marital relationship, the more likely the male is to experience the pregnancy vicariously, establishing an attachment relationship with the fetus before birth.

Tietzen and Bradley (1985) found that spousal support was more closely related to women's psychosocial adjustment than was support from other network members. In their study, it was found that network support was associated with negative attitudes toward pregnancy. Women who reported increased levels of satisfaction with the support received from their network members at three months postpartum also experienced increased levels of stress.

Majewski (1987) studied the role of social support in assisting women to adjust to the maternal role. Where the spouse was identified as most supportive, the mother of the newborn had less difficulty in making the transition to motherhood, compared to the group who identified non-immediate family members as most supportive. Mothers who attended a support group had significantly more difficulty with the transition to parenthood than those who did not.

Marital support among delayed childbearers has not been well researched. When Mercer (1986) examined predictors of maternal role attainment at one year post-birth, none of the support variables which she looked at (size of network, and emotional, informational, and physical support) were found to predict maternal role attainment. Marital support among women who delay childbearing was considered important to

examine in this study because of indications that marital support influences perceptions of the childbearing experience.

# Impact of Childbearing on the Marital Relationship

Boulton (1983), McBride (1983), Kitzinger (1982), and Humenick and Bugen (1987) reported conflict arising in the marital relationship regarding expected parental roles and responsibilities. Boulton (1983) found that among the middle class women, children were, in fact, seen as a threat to a sense of sharing and equality between husband and wife. Children were seen to disrupt activities and to impose demands on the mother that were not experienced by the father (Boulton, 1983).

McBride (1983) studied the differences in women's and men's thinking about parent-child interactions using attribution theory. She demonstrated that men and women have quite different perspectives which could lead to regular disagreement regarding childrearing. This was supported in a study by Humenick and Bugen (1987) that indicated middle class fathers and mothers differ "not only in initial parenting roles, but also in how closely their expected role coincides with the one they actually adopt during their infant's first weeks" (p.38). Middle class husbands tend to see their main responsibility as outside the home, as breadwinners, and they are often caught up in their own career success (Kitzinger, 1982). This leaves the new mother isolated, intellectually frustrated, and resentful (Kitzinger, 1982). She is placed in the difficult position of being financially dependent after having been a major wage earner (DeVore, 1983; Kitzinger, 1982; Lederman, 1984). Since women in the over thirty-five group tend to have careers, these

considerations may be problematic for this group. In addition, Mercer (1981) found that the older primipara often has trouble maintaining her relationship with her husband because she is particularly bothered by her postpartum body image.

Baldwin and Nord (1984) suggested that perhaps couples who have delayed their first birth for a long time after marriage experience less disruption after having planned for the birth. On the other hand, many of these couples find themselves juggling the demands of children and careers. They have high expectations of themselves and their children. Frustration or dissatisfaction could set in as they realize that they cannot manage everything equally well. In many cases couples work opposite shifts to assure that at least one parent will always be home when the children are (Baldwin & Nord, 1984). The effects of such arrangements on the children, the marriage, and the well-being of the family unit have not been researched.

# **Expectations for Labor and Delivery**

Studies that examine the relationship between childbearing expectations and the perception of the birth experience have tended to focus on the labor and delivery experience. Clark (1975) explored women's perception of childbirth based on their expectations for the birth experience. She found that women who did not have accurate expectations of the sensations of labor, and who did not have the support of a "significant other" during labor, had a distressing labor, felt negative about the experience, and stated that they were unwilling to have another child. Clark (1975) reported that when labor is complicated by physiological conditions not under the control of the woman, a negative

attitude toward labor is one possible outcome. Since the literature review indicated that a number of physiological risks are associated with delayed childbearing, it appeared that there might be a greater chance for such negative attitudes within this age group of childbearing women.

Although none specifically have examined the expectations of the older primipara, the findings of this group of studies are suggestive of areas that might have importance for the elderly primiparas. Levy and McGee (1975) examined the relationship between expectations and subjective outcomes in childbirth. Sixty primigravidas responded to a questionnaire before and after labor and delivery. Levy and McGee (1975) found that women who rated childbirth favorably also indicated that childbirth was better than they had expected. In contrast, women who evaluated labor and delivery as unfavorable tended to report that the experience was worse than expected. These findings raise questions about the expectations that the mature primigravida might have regarding labor and delivery, given that this group tends to be aware of the risks involved in delaying childbearing after the age of thirty-five.

Stolte (1987) looked at the aspects of labor and delivery which women described as being different from, or the same as, their expectations. During an interview which took place twenty-four to seventy-two hours postpartum, seventy women were asked to rate how similar their birth experience was to their expectations, and to compare and contrast the event with their expectations. She found that 73 percent of the subjects had experiences in labor and delivery that differed in some way from what they expected. Stolte (1987) observed that the primipara has no previous experience on which to base

her expectations, therefore hearsay or what she has been told in prenatal classes forms the basis for her expectations.

Morcos, Snart and Harley (1989) examined the perceived importance of, and expectations concerning, a variety of specific aspects of antepartum, intrapartum, and immediate postpartum care in a sample of prospective parents. Their study revealed that the majority of parents have desires in areas concerning the childbearing experience which they consider important but which they feel will not be accommodated. Morcos, Snart, and Harley (1989) expressed concern that such discrepancy could produce stress or apprehension in parents. They recommended that consideration be given to the potential psychological effects when patient expectations do not concur with what actually happens.

Recently, attention has focused on development of instruments to measure expectations and perception of childbirth. Hodnett and Simmons-Tropea (1987), developed the Labour Agentry Scale to measure women's expectations and experience of control during labor and delivery and have tested the instrument in a number of studies. The Childbirth Expectations Questionnaire (CEQ) developed by Beaton and Gupton (1990) is a more comprehensive instrument that incorporates four major categories or subscales: pain/coping, partner/coach support, intervention, and nursing support. Beaton and Gupton interviewed eleven women in their third trimester of pregnancy to determine their expectations for childbirth. Based on content analysis of the interviews and on a review of relevant literature, items were generated for use in the CEQ. The emergence, through factor analysis, of the subscales provides some indication of the complexity of maternal expectations for the birth experience (Gupton, Beaton, Sloan, & Bramadat, 1991).

Bramadat (1990) used the CEQ to measure expectations of childbirth in a convenience sample of 102 primiparas experiencing different types of labor. Perceptions of childbirth and satisfaction with the birth experience also were measured. Women whose experience was better than anticipated were more likely to be satisfied with childbirth than those whose experience was worse than expected (p<.001). The work of these research teams has contributed to an increased understanding of women's expectations and their experience of labor and delivery.

# **Failed Expectations**

Sandelowski (1984) described an emerging diagnosis, "failed expectations", which occurs when there is a gap between childbearing expectations and reality. "Failed expectations" tends to be expressed as feelings of guilt, anger, depression, loss, and overall disappointment and dissatisfaction. Mercer (1985) concurred with this view, adding that unmet or "failed" expectations may have a long-term impact on adaptation to motherhood and on later mothering behaviors.

Mercer (1981) reported that the elderly primipara has expectations for herself in the maternal role that can hamper early transition into the role. There is an expectation that a sense of meaning and purpose will automatically or inevitably accompany motherhood (Boulton, 1983). McBride (1973) discussed expectations surrounding motherhood, based on the notion that a baby is a woman's ultimate fulfilment. Many of the frustrations, anxieties, and dilemmas of being a mother result from the realization that these expectations are not realistic.

#### Summary

The review of the literature raised questions regarding the expectations mature primiparas have for their childbearing experience, the discrepancies which might exist between their expectations and actual experience, and the consequences of these discrepancies should they exist. Most authors focused on expectations for labor and delivery. It seems likely, however, that expectations for childbearing extend beyond the actual birth. The mature primipara may have expectations about many aspects of childbearing including timing of conception, ability to conceive a "normal" child, availability of family and network support, and balancing career and childbearing. Childbearing expectations and the congruency of expectations with the childbearing experience have not been explored in a broad context which would define childbearing as a process beginning with the planning of the pregnancy and continuing into the postpartum period. Since the congruency of expectations with the perceived childbearing experience may have significant impact on how the childbearing experience is viewed by the mature primipara, and on her ability to take on the mothering role, it is imperative that we gain an understanding of this phenomenon.

In the following chapter, the methodology and research design which were used to address research questions are presented.

#### CHAPTER III

### Methodology

### **Grounded Theory**

In this study, the childbearing experience of the mature primipara was explored and described with specific focus on maternal expectations, and on the discrepancies between childbearing expectations and the perceived experience. The methodology of grounded theory was utilized. Grounded theory is "the discovery of theory from data" (Glaser & Strauss, 1967, p.1). It is a process through which theory is "discovered, developed, and provisionally verified through systematic data collection and analysis of data pertaining to that phenomenon" (Strauss & Corbin, 1990, p.23). In using this form of qualitative research, there is an express commitment to viewing events, norms, actions, and values from the point of view of the people who are being studied (Bryman, 1988).

Stern (1980) recommends the use of grounded theory in investigations of relatively uncharted waters, or to gain a fresh perspective in a familiar situation. Qualitative methods are appropriately used to gain an understanding about a phenomenon of which little is known; to gain new insight into things about which quite a bit is known; to furnish details that cannot be captured with quantitative methods; and to uncover the nature of a person's experiences with a phenomenon (Strauss & Corbin, 1990). Although a number of research studies have focused on delayed childbearing, little is known about the expectations that the mature primipara might have regarding her childbearing experience or about the consequences should discrepancies exist between her expectations and her perception of her actual experience. Since studies that examined childbearing

expectations have not focused on the mature primipara and have not tended to include expectations surrounding conception, pregnancy, and parenting, this remains a phenomenon about which little is known. In this study, the phenomenon of delayed childbearing was examined from the perspective of the subject, in an attempt to capture details of the personal experience that would not have been possible using a quantitative research methodology. Given the focus of this study, grounded theory was selected as the most suitable methodology to employ. A flexible and open ended design was used, in which the phenomenon was approached without proposed hypotheses or predefined variables.

Theoretical sensitivity. "Theoretical sensitivity refers to the attribute of having insight, the ability to give meaning to the data, the capacity to understand, and the capability to separate the pertinent from that which isn't" (Strauss & Corbin, 1990, p. 42). The degree of theoretical sensitivity with which the researcher entered the study was enhanced through personal experience with the phenomenon being studied, as well as through a review of relevant technical literature. It is necessary to be aware of researcher biases and assumptions throughout the research process. Strauss and Corbin (1990) stated that the researcher must maintain a balance between science and creativity. In order to accomplish this, they must periodically step back and ask "Does what I think I see fit the reality of the data?". The researcher must maintain an attitude of scepticism toward any theoretical explanations and categories brought to the research study until they are supported by the data and must follow the research procedures.

Constant comparative analysis. "Constant comparative analysis" (Glaser & Strauss, 1967) was employed. Comparative analysis is a general method used to establish the relevance of categories.

In this study, the first three interviews were transcribed and then analyzed to discover similarities and differences in the data, through the process of open coding (Strauss & Corbin, 1990), that is, data were broken down by sentences or sometimes paragraphs and labelled so that each concept could be identified for comparison. Initially a large number of concepts were identified. Like concepts were then grouped together into categories and examined to determine the general properties of each category. Categories are simply coded data which seem to cluster together (Stern, 1980). Incoming data from subsequent interviews were compared against emerging categories. Interview questions became more focused as an emerging category required further exploration or validation. For example, the researcher noted that the subjects expressed a fierce love for their infants which was almost frightening to them. This feeling was explored in greater depth in subsequent interviews.

As data collection continued, the properties of and variations within each category were noted and linkages between categories were sought. Stern (1980) refers to this process as reduction. It is the seeking out of "some higher order of category, some umbrella under which all these categories fit" (Stern, 1980). The "core category" is the category which accounts for most of the variation in the data and helps to integrate other categories. In grounded theory, the identification of a core category, the further refinement of categories and the establishment of their relationships to the core category, lay the

foundation for the development of a theory which will explain the phenomenon under study.

The core category that was identified in this study is "delayed childbearing: a bittersweet experience". As linkages emerged, categories collapsed and formed more general categories. Strauss and Corbin (1990) refer to this as axial coding, the development of main categories. Axial coding takes the data, which were pulled apart during open coding, and puts it back together in different ways by making connections between categories and subcategories. Questions are asked which provide dimensions to the categories. Data were collected until the researcher was satisfied that no new information was being received that further explained that particular category. Stern (1980) refers to this process as saturation of the categories. The core category and its related components are discussed in Chapters 4 and 5.

Memo writing. Memo writing is a continuous process that allows the researcher to keep records of emerging hypotheses, analytic schemes, hunches and abstractions. In this study, the computer was used as a means to store memos. A notebook was also helpful when insight would occur at times when the computer was not readily accessible. These memos, which represented the written forms of the researcher's abstract thinking about data, were organized to provide guidelines to writing up the study.

Theoretical sampling. Theoretical sampling, as described by Glaser and Strauss (1967), is the process of data collection which uses joint collection, coding, and analysis of data, with all three operations being done together as much as possible. In grounded theory, two criteria are used for sample selection: theoretical purpose, and relevance,

which means that the researcher makes decisions based on the emerging data as to where next to collect data and from whom. The term "proven theoretical relevance" indicates that certain concepts are deemed significant because they are repeatedly present or notably absent when comparing incidents or they have earned the status of categories (Strauss & Corbin, 1990).

Theoretical sampling was used to enable the researcher to further develop emerging categories when deemed theoretically purposive and relevant. For example, in this study, the researcher wanted to know how the expectations and the perceptions of the childbearing experience might vary in the absence of marital support, therefore, an unmarried subject was interviewed. The researcher wondered how infertility might affect expectations and the perceptions of the childbearing experience, thus two subjects who had been treated for infertility were interviewed. An instance of twins and two of miscarriage were also sampled. The grounded theory method dictates sampling on the basis of the evolving theoretical relevance of concepts.

Strauss and Corbin (1990) suggested that "as your theory evolves, you can incorporate seemingly relevant elements of previous theories, but only as they prove themselves to be pertinent to the data gathered in your study" (p.50). This aspect of the grounded theory approach will be evident in the final chapter where the findings of this study are compared and contrasted with those from other relevant studies.

### Validity and Reliability

There has been much discussion regarding the issues of validity and reliability

for qualitative methods. These terms do not seem to readily fit this methodology and alternate ones have been proposed which are felt to be more appropriate.

<u>Credibility.</u> Lincoln and Guba (1985) suggest that credibility rather than internal validity in the qualitative sense be the criterion against which the truth value of qualitative research be evaluated. According to Sandelowski (1986) a qualitative study is credible:

- when it presents such faithful descriptions and interpretations of a human experience that the people having that experience would immediately recognize it from those descriptions and interpretations as their own.
- when others can recognize the experience when confronted with it after having only read about it in the study.

Lincoln and Guba (1985) suggest five major techniques that make it more likely that credible findings and interpretations will be produced. These are as follows:

- The probability that findings and interpretations based upon them will be found to be more credible if the inquirer is able to demonstrate a prolonged period of engagement (to learn the context, to minimize distortions and to build trust), to provide evidence of persistent observation (for the sake of identifying and assessing salient factors and crucial atypical happenings), and to triangulate, by using different sources, methods, and sometimes multiple investigators.
- Peer debriefing or exploring aspects of the inquiry with a "disinterested" peer is recommended providing the debriefing does not provide so much criticism or influence as to be damaging to the inquiry or the inquirer.
- 3) Negative case analysis is the process of refining a hypothesis until it accounts for

- all known cases without exception in order to eliminate all "outliers".
- 4) Referential adequacy refers to the storage of some portion of the raw data in archives for later recall and comparison.
- Member checks involves providing to the members from whom the data were originally obtained, the investigator's reconstructions for testing.

In addition to these techniques, Sandelowski (1986) added that credibility is enhanced when the researcher focuses on how they influenced and were influenced by a subject. This prevents the researcher from becoming so enmeshed with subjects that they have difficulty separating their own experiences from those of their subject.

In this study, the above strategies were implemented in several ways:

- 1) The in-depth interviews, for example, allowed an opportunity for considerable exposure to the phenomenon.
- 2) Care was taken to assure accurate transcription of the taped interviews.
- 3) The researcher submitted examples of coding to her advisor to confirm their appropriateness.
- 4) Consultation with colleagues provided opportunities for exploration of aspects of the study with a "disinterested peer".
- When examining the data, every attempt was made to consider negative cases and to construct "umbrella" hypotheses such that the majority cases could be included. It was first thought, for example, that all of the subjects who had delivered by cesarian section held negative perceptions of their experience. It was soon discovered, however, that there were a number of subjects who wished that they

had a cesarian section instead of the type of delivery which they had experienced. This lead the researcher to the hypothesis that it was not the type of the delivery but rather the perception of loss of control which precipitated the negative perceptions.

- No raw data will be saved for further recall since one of the ethical considerations of the study is to destroy raw data once the study is complete.
- 7) The subjects will be given the opportunity to consider the findings presented in this study. They will each be given an executive summary of the study for this purpose.

Fittingness. Fittingness is the term used by Lincoln and Guba (1985) to refer to the criterion against which the applicability of qualitative research be evaluated. A study meets the criterion of fittingness when its findings can "fit" into contexts outside the study situation and when its audience views its findings as meaningful and applicable in terms of their own experiences (Sandelowski, 1986). Lincoln and Guba (1985) discussed the establishment of transferability rather than the establishment of external validity in qualitative research. However, the researcher must provide the data base which makes transferability judgements possible on the part of potential appliers. The findings of this study have not yet been tested outside the study situation. The researcher attempted to provide the detail required so that transferability judgments can be made by future researchers.

Auditability. Auditability is a criterion of rigor that relates to the consistency of qualitative findings. According to Sandelowski (1986), a study and its findings are

auditable when another researcher can clearly follow the "decision trail" used by the investigator in the study and when another researcher could arrive at the same or similar, rather than contradictory, conclusions given the data, perspective, and situation of the researcher in the study.

In this study, the advisor was provided with copies of each interview transcript and examples of coding, so that decisions could be traced. In addition, considerable detail is included in Chapter 4, so that readers also will have the opportunity to follow the "decision trail".

<u>Confirmability</u>. Neutrality refers to the freedom from bias in the research process and product. In qualitative research, confirmability is suggested as the criterion of neutrality. Confirmability is achieved when auditability, truth value, and applicability are established (Sandelowski, 1986).

Participants were told at the onset of the interview that the researcher was only interested in their expectations and experiences and that there were no correct responses to the questions posed. The interview guide was loosely structured and questions were phrased in an open-ended manner so that participants could introduce topics which were relevant to their experience. The researcher responded in an open ended way to the topics introduced by the participants to eliminate possible hypothesis guessing on the part of the participant.

#### **Organizational Framework**

Lincoln and Guba (1985) commented on the use of a framework at the onset of

a grounded theory study. The researcher "does not always begin empty-handed (and certainly not empty-headed!)" (Lincoln & Guba, 1985, p.209). They recognized that theory grounded in an earlier investigation may be available to the researcher, as well as tacit knowledge that is germane to the phenomenon being studied. The researcher must be careful that the framework used is appropriate for "the now-being-investigated context". The design at the onset can only be described in "broad-brush process strokes" and as the inquiry proceeds the elements of the design become more and more clear and explicable (Lincoln & Guba, 1985). No hypotheses were put forward at the onset of this study. The framework was used as an organizational tool which was meant to provide some direction without committing the researcher to a set of variables and hypotheses.

The paradigm developed by Flapan (1969) was used to assist the researcher in developing the themes to be explored in the study. Flapan developed the framework to assist in establishing a better understanding of childbearing motivations and conflicts. Flapan arrived at the paradigm through the content analysis of statements elicited from 82 women who ranged in age from 20 to 41 years. Thirty-two of the subjects were postponing or avoiding childbearing. Women were asked to recall thoughts and feelings about "having and not having children", pregnancy, labor and childbirth, and being a mother, "when you were a little girl, as you were growing up, and more recently". In addition, each subject was asked to formulate a series of questions directed at herself and then to answer a tape-recorded playback of these questions.

The paradigm was chosen as an organizational framework for this study for the following reasons:

- 1) It is loosely formulated and open. This feature fit well with the grounded theory methodology.
- The paradigm shows that a multiplicity of meanings and anticipations may be associated with conception, pregnancy, childbirth, motherhood, and childrearing. Use of this paradigm captured the idea of childbearing as a process that begins prior to conception and unfolds well into the postpartum period. Since the literature review revealed that the childbearing expectations of the mature gravida extend to such things as the timing of conception, the ability to conceive a normal child, the availability of family and network supports, and the ability to balance career and childbearing, the paradigm appeared to fit well with the focus of this study.
- The paradigm provided a reasonable link with the concept "failed expectations" introduced by Sandelowski (1984) in that it incorporates the notion that a variety of anticipations and expectations are held surrounding childbearing, and that when conflict is experienced around the anticipations and expectations, problems with conception, pregnancy, childbirth, and childrearing can arise.
- The paradigm introduced the idea that childbearing expectations can change over time. It was of particular interest to this study to consider how childbearing expectations might change over time for those who postpone childbearing. Did changes in expectations allow for the decision to bear a child after having postponed this event until after the thirty-fifth birthday?
- 5) The paradigm shows that the decision to bear children can be understood in the

context of the woman's appraisal of her current life situation and the changes, biological, personal, and interpersonal, which she expects childbearing to bring about. The expectations that the mature primipara holds regarding these components of her childbearing experience were considered extremely important to explore. The profile of the mature primipara that was developed through the literature review suggests that this population is well established professionally and economically secure. They are well read and well educated. For them, childbearing will likely be perceived as eliciting quite dramatic biological, personal, and interpersonal changes. It was anticipated that their expectations of the impact that these changes would have on their lives might be quite different from the expectations of a younger less well-established population.

# **Definition of Terms**

Mature primipara. For the purposes of this study, a woman who was thirty-five years old and over, having her first child, was considered to be a mature primipara.

<u>Delayed childbearing</u>. A primipara who is thirty-five years of age or older was considered to have delayed childbearing.

<u>Childbearing</u>. Childbearing was broadly defined to include the planning of the pregnancy through to and including the postpartum period.

<u>Childbearing Expectation</u>. The term childbearing expectation in this study refers to the participant's report of her anticipated experience with planning her pregnancy, as well as pregnancy, labor and delivery, postpartum recovery, and motherhood.

<u>Discrepancy</u>. Discrepancy refers to the differences between the participant's expectations or anticipated experience with childbearing and her perception of the actual experience.

#### Study Design

Sample. The sample for this study was obtained from the population of all women who have delayed childbearing until the age of thirty-five years or older. Both married and unmarried women were included. To be included in the study, women had to be:

- 1) female
- 2) thirty-five years of age or older
- 3) primiparous
- 4) good command of the English language since the ability of the subject to describe her experience in a clear and articulate manner was paramount to the success of the study
- 5) living within the Boundary Health Unit catchment area
- able to be contacted for the purpose of setting up an interview, ie. have a mailing address and telephone.

Setting. The study took place in an urban community in south-west British Columbia. Interviews were set up at a time and place which was convenient to the participant. In all cases, in-depth interviews took place in the participant's home.

<u>Time frame</u>. The study was retrospective. No limit was placed on the time elapsed since the birth of the baby. The age of the infant at the time of the interview ranged from

two to six months old.

Instruments. An unstructured interview guide was used which was composed of a loose collection of themes to be explored during the interviews (Appendix A). The framework developed by Flapan (1969) served as a beginning guideline to the areas to be explored with the respondents. A pilot interview was conducted with a mature primipara to determine the suitability of the interview guide. The approach advocated by Bryman (1988) was used that is, the person being interviewed was allowed to ramble since this would reveal something about the interviewee's concerns. The researcher provided minimal guidelines and allowed considerable latitude for the interviewee. Interviews were tape recorded and fully transcribed. Some questions or foci were omitted or were supplemented as analytical sensitivity increased. Strauss and Corbin (1990) refer to this as "theoretical sampling on site".

Demographic information was obtained from the participants at the beginning of the interview (Appendix A). These data were used to describe the sample obtained for the interviews.

#### **Procedure**

Approval was gained to access study participants through a local Health Unit (Appendix B). The researcher made a brief presentation of the research proposal to Community Health Nurses in three sub-offices of the Health Unit. Community Health Nurses agreed that when they encountered women who met the study criteria, during regular community health nursing contact, they would ask their permission to release to

the researcher their name and telephone number (Appendix C).

All potential participants were sent a letter of introduction outlining the purpose and the nature of the study (Appendix D). The letter indicated that the researcher would contact the prospective respondent by telephone to further explain the study, answer any questions, and set up a mutually convenient time to interview should they be willing to participate. A telephone conversation followed the mailing of the letter by two weeks to allow time for the potential subject to consider her participation in the study (Appendix D). During the telephone conversation, the prospective participant was provided with the opportunity to ask questions with regard to the study. An interview was set up at a time and place convenient to the participant.

### **Ethical Considerations**

The research proposal was submitted to the Ethical Review Committee of the School of Nursing, University of Manitoba for the purpose of ethical approval prior to commencing the study. (Appendix E).

During the initial interview, the consent form (Appendix F) was reviewed and completed by the participant. Participants were told that they could refuse to answer any questions they wished and could withdraw from the study at any time. Participants were offered a summary of the study once it was completed. The researcher was sensitive to the needs of postpartum subjects and structured the interview so as not to tax or tire interviewees. Interviews were set up at a time and place that was convenient to the participant.

Data collected during interviews have been held in the strictest confidence. Tape recordings and transcripts prepared by the researcher were identified by a code number only. Subject names were kept separate from tape recordings, transcripts, and memos and were accessible only to the researcher. The transcripts were accessible only to the researcher and her advisor. No identifying details or names were used in any publications or reports. At the end of the study all tapes were erased.

In the following chapter, the findings of the study are presented, using an organizational framework, the categories and subcategories that emerged through the use of the grounded theory approach.

#### CHAPTER IV

#### **Findings**

Constant comparative analysis resulted in the emergence of a core category, delayed childbearing as a bittersweet experience. As concepts were identified, associations with the core category were mapped (Appendix G) using Strauss and Corbin's (1990) paradigm model. Antecedents or factors that set the stage for the mature primipara's response to childbearing were identified. Among the antecedents that were central to women's experience were their expectations and perceptions for childbearing. In some cases, an incongruency resulted between the woman's expectations and her perception of what actually occurred. This incongruency often brought negative consequences which caused various levels of distress. Intervening conditions had a positive or negative impact on the mature primipara's experience of childbearing. As well, women were found to have engaged in behavior (action/interaction strategies) served to mitigate the negative aspects of delayed childbearing.

In this chapter, findings are presented in five sections. In the first four sections, findings are presented as they relate to each stage of the childbearing process, from planning the pregnancy through to and including the postpartum period. In Section 5, women's evaluation of their experience and the advice they would give to other mature primiparas are reported. Integration of the core category with the related concepts will be discussed further in Chapter 5.

### **SECTION I - The Preconceptual Period: Making the Decision**

#### **Expectations**

Among the most pertinent antecedents that influenced the decision for delayed childbearing were the expectations and perceptions of the women and the expectations they perceived were held by their partner, families and friends.

<u>Personal expectations</u>. Both positive and negative meanings or values were attached to childbearing.

1) Gratification. Most women wanted to have a child and expected major rewards or gratification:

I needed to share...to teach...some of the things...my values...my morals... I needed to have something other than my husband. Something that's kind of mine...I can look and say this is what I made...I wanted to share my life with some one other than my husband (003).

I think we thought it would make our lives more full (007).

I don't know where that emotion comes from but you feel that you need that. It's just the inherent ability that we have and I wanted to know what that experience would be like...(008).

I knew I wanted a child. It wasn't well formed like how many children I wanted but I always knew I wanted a child. I guess I sensed that it would make me feel more complete...a sense of importance...of being vitally linked with some one (009).

2) Childlessness. Two participants said that they had never expected to have children:

I never had any strong maternal instincts ...it didn't figure into my plans at all (004).

Another had an extremely negative attitude toward the whole childbearing process. She believed that the only conversation that mothers could have involved their children:

I have never met a good kid in my life. I don't know why but I never really thought that I wanted kids in my life (005).

3) Infertility. Women also identified personal expectations about their ability to conceive and bear children. One participant described the problem which she had experienced with amenorrhea. Because of this medical problem, she had not had a menstrual period for five years. Since this woman did not wish to have children, she did not perceive that this problem prevented her from realizing her childbearing expectation. For other women, expectations that they would have children drove them to unusual lengths to overcome infertility. One woman, for example, had expected to become pregnant right after marriage at an early age. Infertility acted as a barrier to her realizing this expectation: "Not in all my dreams did I ever think that it would be as hard as it was." The consequences of this discrepancy between childbearing expectations and her perceived experience was extremely negative:

I think it's been hard because it was six or seven years before I got pregnant the first time. In between all that I was going for the different tests and it really put a strain on everything (007).

As a result, this woman experienced depression and self-blame. She also went through extraordinary hardships which were at times life threatening in order to realize her childbearing expectation. She experienced four ectopic pregnancies over five years. At one point her fallopian tube ruptured and she almost died. Still she did not give up. She enrolled in the in vitro fertilization program which involved travelling thirty-five miles to the clinic twice each day and a large financial commitment. Her commitment to childbearing was evident in her attempt to normalize the whole procedure: "It's a really neat procedure and you don't realize how many women are going through it."

For another woman, the discrepancy between her expectation to conceive and her perceived experience of infertility resulted in very negative consequences including feelings of worthlessness, isolation, and depression. Infertility caused friction in her marital relationship. Both she and her husband wanted children but she felt that they were "in different places and at different times". This woman expressed great dissatisfaction in the medical management of her case. Lack of information or misinformation increased her level of stress. Her husband accused her of over reacting when she would burst into tears at the news of another failed conception.

Friends were perceived as being insensitive to the impact that infertility was having in her life. When testing seemed to indicate that the infertility was "her fault", she felt that she was useless, had time on her hands, did not belong. She asked, "what good am I?" For this woman, self-concept was closely tied to her expectations for parenthood.

Similar responses were identified with women who experienced a miscarriage. One of the participants had expected to conceive at a particular time in her life when she and her husband both felt "ready". However, a miscarriage prevented this from happening. The result of this discrepancy between her expectation and her perceived experience was that both she and her husband were devastated. The miscarriage was seen as a hurdle to her fulfilling her life plan.

One thing was my miscarriage. I never counted on that happening. Because you think all you have to do is get pregnant and then you will have this wonderful child but it doesn't always work that way.... So it was difficult for both of us and I think it was sort of a healing process and I needed to get pregnant immediately to do that (003).

Miscarriage acted as a barrier to conception on time for another participant. Miscarriage was perceived to have been the reason for the dissolution of the relationship which she had with her partner at the time:

So that was very very difficult for us. More difficult for him actually because he's very emotional and he just couldn't imagine going through it again and he was really apprehensive about having a child after that.

He kept thinking if I had one miscarriage it would happen over and over again. And he couldn't deal with that so it was hard on him (008).

This miscarriage also put great pressure on her to become pregnant again within her perceived time frame. Her business partner, who is a woman younger than she, was perceived as not understanding her need to become pregnant:

I don't think there is ever a good time (for childbearing) especially in business. It could have been later but I couldn't wait until later. She (her business partner) knew that was the issue and she's ten years younger than I am so I think it's hard on her because she's younger and she doesn't understand maybe the need or the time frame...(008).

When one woman believed that she had suffered a miscarriage, she describes "an emotional roller coaster". She and her husband had begun to accept the pregnancy and, when they believed that it had ended, they found themselves going through the whole process of deciding whether or not to have children all over again. Another had a miscarriage following infertility treatment. This event tended to evoke increased support from her husband in that he realized that a pregnancy was possible.

# Impact of partner, family and friends on expectations

Being "in sync". The majority of participants agreed that they had been satisfied with their lifestyle prior to conception. Most participants mentioned spontaneity, travel, and financial freedom. The participants

entered into a marital relationship or partnership bringing with them certain expectations regarding childbearing. Some were fortunate to have a partner who was "in sync", who had congruous life plans. For others "getting in sync" did not occur immediately, but rather occurred at any number of different points within the childbearing process. The following are examples of congruent life plans.

One woman and her husband both wanted to have one child. "I've always thought that one would be enough for both of us...and my husband feels the same way...thank goodness we both think the same."

Another subject and her husband did not want to have children. She said about her relationship with her husband:

It's a really great relationship we have. And because of that we never really thought that we needed a family to disrupt anything with this relationship." (005).

Other participants entered their relationships with expectations about childbearing which were incongruous with their partners' expectations. These couples were not "in sync" prior to conception. When there was a lack of congruency there were often negative consequences:

One subject stated: "I kind of would have liked to have had one baby before it was too late...but you know...if the other partner doesn't want to...." (001).

This participant felt disappointed that she probably wouldn't have a child. She describes "an emptiness". Instead of childbearing, their plan was "to work to an early retirement ...living a nice lifestyle."

Another woman said about childbearing:

I guess I was attracted to kids and I always thought that I would want them....I wasn't in a serious relationship so I just didn't think that everything was going to come together so that I could have kids. (006)

Her husband was inclined against having a family, but not a hundred per cent opposed. She described the situation as "a seesaw" because neither could make a commitment to having children or not having children:

It was like I was at the stage where I would be thinking no we're getting too old I don't want the hassles let's just keep on the way we're doing and my husband would say maybe we should think about having kids and then I would raise the issue I would be more ready...I think there was safety in the other person not. I could think about it knowing that my partner isn't really interested right now (006).

In this case, incongruency regarding childbearing created great turmoil for the participant and lead mixed feelings which formed the basis for a bittersweet perception of the experience.

2) Support. The family was felt to offer support to most of the participants regardless of their expectations about having children. Support was identified as an intervening condition in the paradigm model, that is, as a factor that mitigated or otherwise had an impact on the experience of delayed childbearing. Only one participant described any pressure from a family member regarding the couple's childbearing reality and this was not

perceived by the participant to have influenced the couple's attitude toward having children.

- 3) Independence. In one situation, the parents fostered independence which was quite against their cultural norm regarding women's role in society. They encouraged the participant to attend university so that she could gain high level employment. This participant talked about how her mother always put her children first and this gave her a basis from which she would operate as a parent.
- 4) Competition. One participant discussed the competition she felt with her sister who gave her a standard of behavior which she always felt she had to surpass. The sister had a wonderful daughter who idolized the participant and caused her at times to re-examine her own lack of desire to parent. Interaction with nieces and nephews created an increased desire to have children for one participant.

Friends and co-workers, on the other hand, seemed to have very little influence on childbearing expectations. One participant had noted a trend among her career-oriented friends to delay childbearing. This helped to validate her own life plan. Another subject who clearly had no desire for children, felt very left out when women gathered socially and discussed their children. She admitted that she had pretended to be interested in their children all these years so she would not appear to be rude. This validated her desire to be childless. Friends of one of the participants encouraged

her, in a teasing sort of way, to go against her culture and have a baby, married or not. Although this was never acted upon, their support nurtured her strong desire for a child.

Society/Culture and childbearing expectations. The expectations of society/culture regarding women and childbearing also tended to influence childbearing expectations, depending on how participants viewed the expectations of society/culture. At times the subjects's personal expectations regarding childbearing were not in concert with perceived societal/cultural expectations.

- 1) Reason for being. For some women, parenthood was seen as the inevitable female reason for living. They recognized the role of society in conditioning women to be mothers. "I think it's just expected that you are going to grow up, get married, and have kids. I didn't really think about the why" (007). Some participants expressed a keen awareness of the traditional lifestyle and two verbalized the cliche "living happily ever after with the white picket fence" (001, 003). One woman seemed to sense society's disapproval of the fact that she had no desire for children and looked for reasons to validate not wanting children:
  - ...you know people are quite shocked at a situation like ours where we are so compatible and yet we don't want kids. They think that's very strange....It must have had something to do with the way that we were brought up" (005).
- 2) Options. Even so, the majority of participants wanted to ensure independence before marriage and childbearing. They believed that society

had given them the freedom to choose the lifestyle that suited them and that options to a traditional lifestyle were available:

I always thought that I would have a child but I had no desire to do it when I was younger....I think that the reason that I didn't get married and didn't have children was the reverse expectation...of being a baby boomer and being that perfect age group and having the advantage of being able to be single and be more independent and have a career so I think it actually was the reverse of that. For me I was allowed to do so much more that I delayed that, in fact I think that I delayed relationships and everything thinking I've got all this freedom. I'm going to do this and this and this (008).

Some of the women had set down very concrete life plans with very concrete goals:

...it was almost like I had planned my life in that I wanted to finish an education. I didn't want to get married before I was twenty-five and that's actually the way it happened (003).

There was a perception for some that both options were open and that motherhood and a career could be combined:

"I guess I always hoped to have it all. I didn't see it as an either or" (006).

Others felt pressure to find employment before raising a family, even though they were not committed to a career:

I said to myself I need to work in my field a little while before I get pregnant. If not I'll have thrown away ten years of trying to find myself....Pregnancy would have been an easy out for me at that time because it was a scary thing for me to do (009).

According to one participant's cultural values, childbearing was not to occur until after marriage. The influence of this cultural taboo was felt so strongly that she waited to find a partner despite her overwhelming desire for a child. For another subject, however, the influence of culture\society in this regard was not perceived to act as a deterrent so that she felt that she had the freedom to plan a pregnancy outside of marriage. It was evident that all women were aware of societal/cultural expectations and that they felt varying degrees of pressure on their decision making around delayed childbearing.

Childhood fantasies and childbearing expectations. Childhood fantasies did not seem to consciously influence childbearing expectations of women in this study. The majority of the participants did not recall any fantasies or dreams about having children when they were growing up, other than saying that they thought that they would like to have children some day. One participant said that as she was growing up she wanted to be like her mother. She remembered "playing house as a lot of little girls do" as did one other participant. Another subject stated that she wanted a child so that she could give him/her the opportunity to do the things that she did not get to do as a child.

The variety of personal meanings that women attached to having children, preconceptually, influenced their expectations for their experience and for themselves in the mothering role.

### **Perceptions**

The passage of time and childbearing expectations. Women's perception of the passage of time converged with their expectations for childbearing. All participants made reference to timing, the passage of time, or running out of time. The passage of time was identified as a strong motivating factor for pregnancy. A number of circumstances, which have already been presented, prevented "conception on time". These included miscarriage, infertility, and finding a suitable partner. In addition, the passage of time brought forth the following issues.

1) Increased childbearing risks. Participants were aware that the passage of time increased the risks involved in childbearing:

I have no experience having babies but what I have heard is that if you are past the age of 35 it is difficult to get pregnant and to have babies (002).

I certainly was aware of some of the information being in the field of mental retardation. Some of the statistics about Down's Syndrome and this sort of thing (006).

My major concern was that we were dealing with old eggs -really ripe... (004).

This awareness of risks created anxiety in the subjects and was considered to be an antecedent to the core category.

2) Lifestyle disenchantment. The passage of time also seemed to cause some of the subjects to become disenchanted with the lifestyle in which they had previously found satisfaction:

You say I've travelled the world and now what?

Do I do it again? (006).

After a while you got sick of going out for dinners and everything. It's like there was no meaning (007).

Missing the female experience. The passage of time caused subjects to recognize that they were nearing the end point to their ability to bear children:

I was very conscious of the biological clock ticking that was certainly a part of it for me making that decision. I didn't want it to go by without making a clear decision. I didn't want it just to stay in limbo and then to realize it's too late to make a decision (006).

I was perfectly content. And I don't think I had really thought seriously about time clocks as they say until just a few years ago. Maybe when I turned 35 or 36 (008).

4) Readiness to conceive. The passage of time was the signal for some participants that they were ready to conceive:

I don't know how to describe how I felt...I just knew it was time. I wanted to share my life with some one other than my husband. I knew I was ready and it was a point of he will come to me when he is ready (003).

One subject recognized that she had a full life and that a child now would not take away from that. She was ready to give to some one without feeling that she was missing out on anything, "It was the right thing to do now".

5) Changing childbearing expectations. The passage of time caused some

participants to re-examine their childbearing expectations:

We started to talk and say well my time is starting to run out and we should decide whether or not we want kids (004).

This participant had stated earlier that they had no desire for children.

Another subject had been extremely negative about the whole childbearing process. However, she stated:

And then as you get older you know your mind changes and I might have in my own mind thought a little bit more about gosh I'm getting a little older and if I was going to have kids I should do something about it (005).

The passage of time seemed to be a critical factor in ultimately influencing the actions/interactions of those subjects in the study who had never expected to have children or those who had expected to have children but whose partners did not share their childbearing expectations. Two behaviors identified were: 1) weighting, which is the process of considering the pros and cons to childbearing, and 2) taking chances, which is the failure to consistently practise effective birth control methods.

# Actions/Interactions in Preconceptual Period

Weighting. Those subjects who had not expected to have children or whose partner did not share their childbearing expectation, engaged in a process of examining the pros and cons to childbearing and the impact it would have on their lifestyle. Lifestyle appraisal was seen to be an antecedent to the core category since it was not found to

assist the subjects in making the childbearing decision and lead to negative perceptions for those who were unable to make a conscious decision to parent.

One couple gave consideration to their advancing age and their financial situation, "...we went and bought a house and were strapped with these big mortgage payments". However, these were being weighted against a sense of unfulfillment, of missing out, of having no purpose to their life.

One subject, who did not desire children, started thinking more about having children, and what she might regret if she did not have a child. This subject started to give consideration to parenting, "...if I had a child I would love it. I would be the best mom I could be but I would never know that side of my husband." She began wondering what her husband's thoughts might be on the subject. She even talked to her physician about the risks involved if she were to become pregnant. Her doctor did not see it as a problem, however the subject admitted that she didn't really ask enough questions since she "hadn't really planned on getting pregnant."

For another subject, this weighting process was very stressful and resulted in marital tension. Factors which were considered included having the patience to parent effectively, how parenting might effect their lifestyle, and the risks involved related to age. This couple enjoyed a comfortable lifestyle, financial freedom, and the freedom also to take part in interesting activities. But "is that all there is" was the question asked. The subject was keenly aware of the "biological clock ticking" and she felt the need for making a clear decision. She says about making this decision, "A lot of responsibility you know...knowing that this decision would affect us for the rest of our lives so it wasn't

something that we could renege on once it was made".

For some of the subjects, childbearing was part of a carefully laid out life plan. Certain goals needed to be accomplished before a pregnancy would be considered (education, career, finding a suitable partner, certain life experiences). In some cases, life circumstances acted as a barrier to childbearing expectations (infertility, miscarriage). For others, pregnancy was never an expectation or, at least, not one that was shared with their partner until time started to "run out" and they were forced to re-examine their lifestyle and the weighting process was begun.

Taking chances. For those couples with incongruent childbearing expectations and for those who had not expected to have children, the final decision regarding whether or not to parent was an extremely difficult one to make. Many of the couples began to engage in the behavior "taking chances". This is the failure of the couple to consistently practise reliable birth control methods. Those who became pregnant after "taking chances" had difficulty in accepting the reality of pregnancy.

One subject was told by her doctor to quit smoking or quit taking birth control pills. She chose to quit taking birth control pills and did not adopt a new method despite the fact that she and her partner shared inconsistent childbearing expectations. "I guess it was about a year and a half afterwards (when conception occurred)...so I guess that there's a time when the pill stays with you..."

Another subject used no birth control at all, even though her husband clearly did not share her desire for children and despite her awareness of the risks involved in childbearing at her age. She believed that she would not get pregnant right away because of her age.

About birth control, one subject prefaced her comments by saying that she's a really reliable person. She admitted to becoming "sloppy about precautions". This was within her husband's level of awareness.

It was sort of like he didn't think I could get pregnant and I didn't because for six months I hadn't really done any precautions and I never got pregnant so we just sort of thought like we'd talk about it looks like we can't get pregnant because of not even doing any precautions. And yet in the back of my mind I thought yes but I could get pregnant. You never know (005).

For another woman, the test came when it was time for her to have her IUD replaced. This couple had not made a clear decision regarding childbearing. She says:

If we want to consider having kids let's use this as a marker. So we kind of used it as a marker and we said okay we won't use another IUD and then we panicked and couldn't go without any control. So we used condoms for a while and then decided not to use those...We hated the condom. It was really what it was. It was out of frustration so we said let's not continue with these. And I think quite frankly in the back of my mind I really questioned whether I could become pregnant being thirty-nine and spending my whole life wanting to avoid pregnancy (006).

Regardless of their original childbearing expectations or whether there were congruent expectations, the passage of time appeared as a most significant factor for this study group.

# **SECTION II - Women's Experience of Pregnancy**

All of the participants in the study talked about their reactions upon receiving the news that they were pregnant and how they were able to accept and incorporate

pregnancy into their life plans. Some of the women had very definite expectations about what pregnancy would be like for them. Others brought with them few preconceived notions about pregnancy. In all cases, their perception of pregnancy was different from their expectations. The incongruency between pregnancy expectations and the perceived reality of pregnancy was identified as an intervening variable that contributed to how women perceived their childbirth experience, that is, why it was perceived as a bittersweet experience.

#### **Expectations For Pregnancy**

Of the study participants, two did not want or expect to become pregnant. Subject 004 had not really considered pregnancy at all and so had no real expectations regarding her experience. On the other hand, subject 005 had very negative expectations regarding what pregnancy would be like for her:

...I wasn't looking forward to being pregnant. All pregnant women get sick, at least that's what I thought. And they all get gross looking. Most women that I see are really big ...big in the face...I mean big all over. Sure people say that pregnant women are beautiful, at least this is what I've heard, but I've never thought that many pregnant women were beautiful.... That might have something to do with never having a desire to be pregnant (005).

Three subjects had a strong desire for a child, and were "in sync" with their husbands in this respect. Two of these women expected that pregnancy would be an extremely positive experience for them:

I thought being pregnant would be wonderful. I wouldn't be sick and I would just carry this baby around for 9 months and all of a sudden I would give birth and it would be

great...I thought it was going to wonderful. When you start thinking you're going to be a typical model pregnancy. You're going to still have your figure. All you're going to have is this little ball in front. And summer is going to be wonderful because you can sit out in the sun and nothing is going to bother you. You're still going to be dainty looking (003).

The third subject of this group (009) had not formulated many expectations regarding pregnancy. Although she too wanted a child, she was afraid to expect that it would happen for her because of problems with infertility and miscarriage.

I guess when you're going through infertility treatment you don't get too attached to things. You didn't want to plan. We used to talk about names...all sorts of silly things...silly names...and joke and then after a while I didn't want to talk about it any more. I didn't want to be around children, babies, pregnant women. Even going through a toy department was difficult...so you try not to think about it too much. That's probably what happened. It wasn't well formulated about what pregnancy would be like before I got pregnant (009).

The remaining four participants indicated that they wanted a child but none of them were in sync with their partners. Three participants from this group had really not thought too much about pregnancy and had no expectations regarding what pregnancy would be like for them. Subject (008) said about pregnancy, "Well I didn't imagine it at all. I had no preconceived notion about it at all. I really didn't. I just did it."

The fourth woman had very positive expectations regarding what pregnancy would be like for her. She thought that everything would be easy since her mother had eleven children without any problems.

#### **Perceptions of Pregnancy**

For this group of women, perception of their pregnancy did not match their expectations. Those who had the most positive expectations regarding pregnancy perceived their experience to be most negative. The women who had expected pregnancy to be negative, perceived it to be a most positive experience. Finally, those participants who had no expectations regarding pregnancy, all perceived their experience to be positive. Gaps between the expectations for the experience of pregnancy and the perceived experience contributed to negative perceptions of childbearing.

Three subjects who expected pregnancy to be a positive experience had a negative perception of their experience. The following passage is an example of negative perceptions of the experience of pregnancy:

It was a difficult pregnancy in that in the first three months I was very sick. I was to the point where I was becoming dehydrated...was so sick. But you carry on I mean I was still happy that I was pregnant...and I guess the worst time for me was the last month. I started to retain a lot of fluid around my seventh month...and they were wondering ...I was borderline diabetic. I could control it with just diet. But I still retained water and my ankles were just huge. I felt uncomfortable. I couldn't sleep properly because I couldn't move. My legs hurt because I was carrying so much weight. He was quite a big baby so I was quite uncomfortable .... I started feeling fat and towards the end I started feeling not pregnant but fat. And you look at other women who are a little slender and you're self conscious of yourself in a lot of ways (003).

Subject 002 had expected an easy pregnancy but she experienced premature labor and found the experience to be very frightening for her. She had read about normal pregnancy and was not prepared for this eventuality. On the other hand, subject 005 had

expected pregnancy to very negative and for her the experience was most positive:

...But I didn't look pregnant. I didn't until I was about 7 months. You know how you can wear clothes that don't make you look pregnant, that are baggy. So I only gained weight around my tummy....And I was very lucky because my pregnancy was so good. I was never nauseated at all. I wasn't sick. I didn't get all clumsy and overweight. I had a really good pregnancy and that's a good thing because I probably couldn't have coped (005).

The remaining subjects had no preconceived notions about pregnancy and all of them found pregnancy to be a positive experience:

And I found it a fascinating process to go through. It was just thrilling for me...I enjoyed pregnancy...and I had never given it a thought before then. It was always having the children that I thought of rather than the actual pregnancy. I do a lot of reading so I had my trusty guide and I just enjoyed watching it all develop and feeling it all develop and experiencing the changes you know (006).

During my pregnancy, my husband took pictures of me in all those places where we had visited. Always a sense of pride...not shame that I looked so big. He always made me feel so beautiful...What was inside was such a treasure for us...(009).

For three out of the four participants who developed pregnancy complications, negative perceptions of the experience were linked with medical concerns encountered during the pregnancy. Complications included premature labor and delivery at twenty-seven weeks (002), borderline gestational diabetes (003), edema (003), and pregnancy with twins (007). The last of these was not necessarily a complication, but was treated as such by the physician who imposed a number of restrictions on the participant to safeguard the pregnancy. Subject (004), who experienced pregnancy induced hypertension, had no expectations regarding pregnancy and, even though she encountered some

difficulties, perceived pregnancy to be a positive experience.

#### **Intervening Conditions**

Accepting the reality of pregnancy. The readiness with which women and their partners were able to accept the pregnancy had an impact on how they perceived their pregnancy. A number of factors were associated with the subject's ability to accept the pregnancy. These included: the fit between childbearing expectations and the reality of pregnancy, the ability of the partner to "get in sync", the reassurance that baby would be healthy, and support from friends and family.

Congruence with expectations. News of conception was met with a variety of reactions which varied according to the subject's childbearing expectations. For those who failed to conceive on time because they had experienced a miscarriage, the news that they were pregnant was met with excitement but also the fear that a miscarriage might happen again and their expectations not be realized.

For those who had not expected to have children or who had a partner who did not share their childbearing expectations, shock and disbelief were typical reactions. This reality did not match their expectation regarding childbearing. The following is an example of this type of reaction:

So I got the test and I didn't tell anyone, just got the test and I remember feeling so shocked that I had to sit down, it was like I was going to faint...I wanted to take out my contact lenses and clean them to make sure I was seeing it right. I kept turning it to the light. No its just clear. I tried to talk myself into it. Anyway it was definitely pink...I was just devastated like I was feeling in a way that I wished I could turn back the clock you know... like if someone just

told you you have cancer or something. And yet as you look back on it you wonder how you could have ever been so devastated but at the time I was so shocked (005).

Three of the subjects felt that the pregnancy had happened "all of a sudden". None of these subjects had made a conscious decision to parent but had engaged in "taking chances". Subject 006 states:

That was again a really difficult time. We both went into shock. Whoa! I think because it happened so quickly. We didn't have time to adjust to the fact that it could happen. It happened too quick...I guess the way I look at it is that we just hadn't got used to the idea that the possibility now could become real. There just wasn't enough time to accept the possibility. And so I think we both went into shock over it. I was worried about how my husband would accept it (006).

Those subjects who had not expected to parent had other plans regarding how their adult life would unfold. Early retirement, financial security, travel, freedom were incongruent with pregnancy. These couples needed to reframe their expectations in order to incorporate childbearing:

My whole life...we had planned...our retirement, our travel, our second home here...I guess everything is all set now, organized, our financial all organized, and then all of a sudden this happens and its like starting from scratch. I mean its all gone. Its like all your plans are gone. I just got this job. I had only been working at it for a year, a most fantastic job and what's going to happen there and all these sorts of thing as going through your mind. And I just couldn't believe it and I must admit that I wasn't totally happy (005).

...and it was kind of we had focused on being 55 or whatever and its like thinking of your retirement age and all of a sudden you're turning into a middle aged parent...(001).

Assurance that the baby was healthy. All of the subjects were aware that certain risks to the infant were associated with delayed childbearing, and all required proof that the child was whole as part of accepting the pregnancy. None of the subjects, regardless of their desire for a baby, thought that they would continue with a pregnancy if the results of the amniocentesis were not favorable. As a result, in the initial weeks of pregnancy excitement was tempered with anxiety. This situation contributed to a mixed response to pregnancy—these weeks were bittersweet as the subjects awaited the results of the testing procedure. About amniocentesis, subject 001 said:

We kind of talked it all over...and we decided to go ahead with it...as long as it would be physically okay...the baby...Cause I can't really see well I don't know if it would make any difference but sort of being older and working and sort of having to work and raising a handicapped child is pretty difficult I think for someone who is able to stay at home (001).

For those subjects who had experienced a miscarriage, fetal monitoring was particularly difficult:

I guess at around nine or ten weeks they wanted me to go for ultrasound and I dreaded that day. I did not want to go. It was the hardest thing for me.I was really scared. Going in there you know you don't get an opportunity to see the monitor right away...they keep you looking away. I kept saying how does it look and they would say fine fine. They said that the first time you know and then I guess they were looking for the heart and so finally I came right out and said is there a heart beat...They said oh yes yes yes. Well then that was fine. That was a very hard time (003).

Getting "in sync" with partner. As discussed in section one, "getting in sync" is the formation of congruent lifestyle expectations between partners. For some participants, congruency regarding childbearing expectations was evident prior to conception but, for

others, "getting in sync" did not occur until the news of the pregnancy or much later. Failure for the couple to "get in sync" had negative consequences for the participant.

Subject 006 had wanted a child but she and her husband were not "in sync". His negative reaction made it difficult for the participant to accept the pregnancy. She said:

Well I think it would be fair to say when we found out that my husband thought of all the negative things. Like what if I don't like this kid? you know if I don't want to live with this person for the next 18 years. Maybe I just won't like him. And maybe I won't be a good father, I won't have the patience, and its going to interfere and that's not going to make a good situation.... And so I think my reaction would have been quite different if his reaction had been "oh that's great" or something because I think I would have been more excited, more positive about it. Oh it was very stressful. Because basically throughout the pregnancy he had ambivalence about it so which I guess in retrospect was really unfortunate because as he would say "if only I knew then what I know now" (006).

Subject 002 had a strong desire for a child, a desire which was not shared by her husband. About the news of the pregnancy she said:

He didn't like the idea... because we were having a trip. And he thought it would spoil our holiday. And he said why don't you have an abortion...and then maybe next time...But I'm too scared...I would never do something like that (002).

The fact that this couple failed to reach congruency regarding childbearing not only affected how the woman experienced childbearing, it almost destroyed their relationship. For subject 008, congruency did not occur with her partner. For her, accepting the pregnancy also involved accepting the fairness of raising a child without a father:

I started to feel responsible and I started to feel really guilty

because I thought is this fair to the baby? Is it fair to do this...a child without a father...especially when he was not around when he was deciding that he was not going to be involved. I suppose then I was feeling very badly but it was a fleeting moment. By then I already decided that I had wanted it for so long it wasn't something that I would do (008).

The two participants who were "in sync" with their partners in not wanting children found congruency with their partners almost immediately upon discovering that they were pregnant. Subject 005 had the greatest difficulty sharing the news of the pregnancy with her husband. This may have been associated with the difficulty she was having in accepting the pregnancy. She related the details of telling her husband:

...he went over and he sat on the bed and he turned white as a ghost and he actually had a smile from ear to ear and when I saw that smile that was really all I needed and he laughed. He just thought it was hilarious. He didn't turn somersaults but he did laugh.... And its a funny thing that I never knew how he would react. I was really surprised and that was like a big relief cause I hadn't told him for two weeks. It's a good thing that you have 9 months to adjust to having this baby because it took me a good 6 months to feel really excited about having this baby (005).

Support from family and friends. All subjects received support from their family and friends. For those who had not expected to parent, comments like "you'll make good parents" validated their decision to proceed with the pregnancy. Surprise and shock were typical reactions of friends and family. "I think a lot of people's mouths dropped open actually." (001)

# Action/Interaction Strategies during Pregnancy

Mature primiparas engaged in action/interaction strategies that provided evidence

of and assisted in their acceptance of the pregnancy. These included presenting the pregnancy, complying with the rules of pregnancy, and preparing for delivery.

Presenting the pregnancy. Accepting the pregnancy and presenting the pregnancy to others were closely linked. Those who had difficulty with acceptance seemed to delay the process of presenting the pregnancy. Most subjects waited until the results of the amniocentesis before telling friends and family. For subject 009, who had experienced a miscarriage, presenting the pregnancy did not occur until an ultrasound showed a heartbeat:

The first time we were high as kites and we told everybody. I think that 200 people knew. I miscarried at about 6-7 weeks, so all these people had to find out. It was hard. With this one we were scared..so we told very few people. He was happy but we weren't going to get ourselves elated until we saw the heart beat on the screen. Then we relaxed a bit...then we could tell everyone...but we didn't put out a banner or anything. A lot of the pregnancy I was scared (009).

Subject 005 waited to present the pregnancy until she was five or six months pregnant. She had held very negative views on childbearing and saw the pregnancy as threatening her career as well as her relationship with her husband.

Complying with the "rules of pregnancy". All of the participants knew the "rules of pregnancy" regarding diet, alcohol consumption, and cigarette smoking. Some found these "rules" more difficult to follow than others. For example subject 001 had to make many adjustments to her normal routine:

...I didn't eat junk food I skipped that kind of stuff...I'm a coke addict but I changed to diet coke...just one glass a day ...and I drank all that milk...and I tried to you know how you're supposed to eat so many portions and I tried to

follow that ...I'm not used to eating a lot ...we used to skip dinner and just have a sandwich or crackers for dinner and you just couldn't do that sort of thing...so you always had to plan dinners...and make sure you were eating all those little snacks...I maybe didn't do that good a job ...I only gained 21 pounds...so maybe I wasn't eating all that well (001).

Following the "rules" was a means of maintaining control over the pregnancy.

Maintaining control, in turn, was identified as an action/interaction strategy women used to mitigate or cope with negative aspects of their experience.

<u>Preparing for delivery</u>. The majority of the subjects attended prenatal classes. The focus seemed to be on preparation for labor and delivery, rather than learning about nutrition or exercise during pregnancy:

And why she said this is that because of age, we knew nutrition and so forth and a lot of our friends who were in their thirty's and went through that found it was boring. We went just one day. It dealt with a lot of concerns that we had and that was labor and delivery. I didn't care about nutrition. I knew what I could and couldn't eat (003).

The need to feel prepared for labor and delivery was a strategy designed to assist the subjects to maintain control over their experience. Acquiring knowledge and attending classes was seen as a means for paving the way to success, or for ensuring involvement of their partner:

And we went to prenatal classes and that really put him as the significant person in this ordeal. You know it was like I had read books throughout my pregnancy, read books but he never read anything and he's a real book reader. He reads a lot. I would tease, I would say well I guess you think that I'm going to be the real knowledgeable one in this. I'm going to do everything. And he would say oh no, I'm going to do crash reading (005).

For subject 006, attendance at prenatal classes raised anxiety. Her husband had not yet accepted the pregnancy. For him, being present at the classes was confirmation of the pregnancy and this was uncomfortable for both of them.

## SECTION III - Experience of Labor and Delivery

#### **Expectations for Labor and Delivery**

The main response women had toward labor and delivery was one of fear. Many participants expressed a fear of the unknown, as well as a fear of the pain which they thought would be involved during labor and delivery. Two of the participants said that they would prefer to have a cesarian delivery than suffer through a vaginal birth:

...I think that was the worst part of the whole thing...what I thought it would be like...over the years being my age I'd gone through the different groups and I'd heard all about morning sickness, 36 hours of labor and all this...(001).

I was okay with it...the c-section. They had started talking about it earlier on...you are so small...with your back problems and your age along with this and that, you'll probably have 40% chance of surgery. I've had surgery before...I can deal with post-op...but I didn't know what giving birth was like and I was frightened to death of it. I was more frightened of labor and delivery than of a c-section (009).

Subject 005 compared her expectations for the experience to that of having cancer:

Fear of the unknown...when you've never gone through it and you don't know what your delivery is going to be...It's like some one telling you that you have cancer and you are going to die and you don't know when you're going to die...or how you're going to die...(005).

Subject (005) also feared the indignities involved in labor and delivery,

"I wasn't looking forward to putting myself in that position...legs wide open and exposing myself to every person who pops their head in."

### Perceptions of Labor and Delivery

All nine participants found that their labor and delivery experience was far more difficult than they had ever anticipated. The failure of their expectations to match the perception of their experience contributed to their perception of childbirth as a negative experience and to their perception of childbearing as a bittersweet experience. Those who had attended prenatal classes felt that they were left unprepared to deal with their experience. A number of themes were associated with the participants' perceptions of their experience. These included sense of control, support from their labor coach, pain management, doctoring, and the perception that there was a danger to the infant.

# Intervening Conditions Affecting Perception of Labor and Delivery

Sense of control. All but one of the subjects experienced some type of complication during labor and delivery. Techniques for pain management practised in prenatal classes and birth plans were discarded when medical interventions were required. Table 1 indicates the complications and the medical interventions which were experienced by the subjects in the study.

Table 1

Complications and Medical Interventions

<b>Subject</b>	Complications
001	cesarian birth for fetal distress general anesthetic
002	premature labor and delivery at 26 weeks
003	vacuum extraction for CPD epidural
004	cesarian birth fetal distress, breech, PIH spinal block
006	forceps for CPD, manual pushing back of the cervix oxytocin, no analgesic
007	forceps, vacuum extraction oxytocin, spinal block
008	high forceps for failure to progress epidural
009	cesarian birth epidural

Subject (002) experienced a premature labor and delivery, so that her experience was quite different from her expectations. She did not know what was happening to her, or whether her baby, who weighed only 900 grams, would survive:

When did you start contracting she asked me because I was already having so much pain and I said no I'm not having the baby it's too early. But I went straight into the delivery room and the doctor examined me. I said I want to go to the toilet and the midwife said oh no we don't want to have a baby in the toilet and she gave me a bedpan and the doctor was examining me and it just went out everything and I was still holding it I don't want the baby to go out because I knew it was too early. I have to go back. It was everything and I said what's that I didn't push it or anything and I feel all the pain is gone. And I didn't even move I didn't want to see what happened either. I just closed my eyes and I could hear them...(002).

Some women felt that they had not had an opportunity to prepare themselves emotionally for the labor because they found themselves in a situation which was different from what they had expected. Birth plans, which were to have afforded a sense of control, were of little value:

So I was hoping to have a nice natural childbirth. That's what I was anticipating. But that was before the blood pressure problem. I wanted little or no medical intervention. I had wanted to stay home as long as possible, but it just didn't work out that way (004).

Subject 006 did not fully dilate so that her cervix had to be manually pushed back by the physician. This was done without any communication with the subject and without any pain medication:

I realized after. He may have said something but I didn't feel that it was directed at me. Because I can remember saying "what are you doing!" ...and I said you're hurting me...and that was the worst part for me. I felt totally out of control that these things were happening to me... (006).

<u>Pain management</u>. Within the participants' perceptions of their labor and delivery experience, pain management and sense of control were found to be closely linked. An example of this is given by subject 003 when she discussed how their birth plan assisted in helping her to maintain a sense of control over her pain:

Subject: I really think you have to have a game plan otherwise I could have easily become hysterical in there with my pain.

Researcher: It helped you to maintain control? Subject: It certainly did. I could vaguely hear my husband say "well I think that it's time for you to give her something and what can we give her". And it was okay because he knew that I had come to that level that we had spoken about (003).

All of the subjects found that their experience of pain during labor was far greater than they had expected. Subject 005, who actually experienced no complications and who had likely held the worst expectations for labor and delivery, shared her perception of the experience:

No one tells you a lot of things. No one tells you about delivery. They tell you about the breathing and all this but no one ever tells you how painful it is and what a horror it is. It has got to be, and I bet every mom will tell you this, that has got to be the most...I shouldn't say the worst because that would be negative...but its got to be the most difficult time in their entire lives to have to go through (005).

Subject 003 had expected that she would be "a brave enough soldier to deal with the pain" of labor and found that she could not. She required an epidural:

The epidural was starting to wear off. That's when I said I feel this pain I don't want to feel this pain like give me something because I was so afraid of the pain... I did not expect the labor or delivery to turn out the way they did. But I thought I would be able to cope with it. I would endure and I couldn't...the pain was too great (003).

The majority of subjects found that the techniques learned in prenatal classes for pain management were of little or no value:

And I was trying everything I'd learned in the prenatal classes. For me they just made it worse...every position with every pain and I thought oh this is harder. The only thing that I found that worked for me which was basically that I would become catatonic. I just literally couldn't move and I just closed my eyes and I was just kind of getting into myself and that worked (006).

Two of the subjects (004) (006) likened their experience to dying and going to heaven:

I had had no pain medication by that point. They were coming every minute just non-stop and the baby's not moving and my body was just involuntarily pushing. It was really difficult... at that point I thought I was going to heaven. I thought that I was dying (006).

Two of the subjects (006, 007) who delivered vaginally wished that they had had a cesarian birth:

I expected I'd go in and be in labor for a few hours and have the babies. I thought it was going to be a normal labor. I thought there was going to be pain and everything but I didn't expect that it was going to last over a few days and nothing worked. I expected that the epidurals would work...I mean after such a good pregnancy I wished they had just given me a C-section and got it over with....It was just a lot longer and worse than what I thought (007).

Support from labor coach. Eight of the nine subjects had expected support from their labor coach during the labor and delivery process. The coach attended prenatal

classes and worked with the subject to develop a birth plan. The majority of the participants found the support from their coach to be invaluable:

I guess he was so tired that he quit breathing and I grabbed him by the shirt and I pulled him down and I said start breathing...because I would look at his face I would concentrate on his eyes and he would breathe with me. So he would regulate my breathing also. But he was tired. I needed him so that I think that if he weren't there I would have gone to pieces...(003).

Only subject 004 did not find the presence of her labor coach to be helpful:

You know they say how important it is to have your mate there with you for support. When this all started I really felt sorry for him. There was nothing he could do. I'm in agony and I didn't want to hold his hand, I mean I was throwing up and I thought why does he have to look at all of this. At that point I was really unaware of how many people were around me (004).

<u>Doctoring</u>. The physician who cared for the subjects during their perinatal experience played an important role in setting up expectations for the subjects and in determining how the subjects perceived their experience. Some doctors were entirely prescriptive while others were willing to discuss birth plans with their patient and to take into account the patient's wishes. The attitude of the physician toward the mature gravida was particularly important in determining how the subject perceived the experience, therefore, "doctoring" was identified as an intervening condition in the study.

One woman's doctor claimed that her difficulties arose because she had a weak placenta because of her age. Another's physician suggested prior to the onset of labor, that because of her age, she would be a candidate for a cesarian birth. A completely different attitude was conveyed to the subject who developed pregnancy induced

hypertension (PIH). Her doctor maintained that pre-eclampsia often occurs with first pregnancies and that with subsequent pregnancies there may be no concerns of this nature, that is, PIH was not age-related.

Some of the women felt that there was a problem communicating with their physician. The failure of the physician to prepare their patient for procedures and to give adequate explanations lead to misunderstandings, stress, and fear. Subject 002 was told that she was going to have a big baby. This frightened her "because I am so small and I don't want a big baby. So all the time I don't eat too much. I don't want a big baby to get bigger."

Subject 001 had not been prepared for the likelihood of an early admission:

The doctor said oh I guess we'll have to bring this baby out early... and I thought he meant that in a few days I would go in...but he meant that day...so I almost died. I had to go to the hospital right from the doctor's office...(001).

Providing the patient with explanations and some input into decision - making was felt to be important because it allowed the patient to retain a sense of control over her body and the overall process. Subject 004 and her partner were given a full explanation of the risks related to PIH, to the fact that there was fresh meconium in the amniotic fluid, and to the fact that the baby was breech. They were given a few moments of privacy to decide how they wanted to proceed. The physician who cared for subject 007, on the other hand, gave her no input into the decisions regarding induction or the use of a spinal block. These procedures were instituted on the basis of the fact that he wanted to safeguard her twins rather than on any medical complications.

The differences in physician approach can be clearly seen when the experience of

subject 003 is compared to that of subject 006. Both required the assistance of forceps or suction during delivery:

I really felt he was pulled out rather than pushed out because he would say push but I was really just trying to keep up with the force of the pull...That scared me because I felt that I had to keep up with this because he's being pulled out (006).

She said I'm just putting this on his head but don't worry it will just assist you. When you push I will pull. So in my mind I thought this is good, now I don't have to do all this work by myself (003).

Those subjects who had a female physician appeared to have been given more anticipatory guidance, more input into decision making, and to have been treated with more empathy than those subjects who were cared for by a male physician:

And I think it really helped me to have a female doctor. I don't care what anybody says, you could have a wonderful male doctor who delivers children but he'll never know what you're going through. Because she (her doctor) gave birth and had a cesarian and had a traumatic time with her first. So she knows exactly what you're going through. She was very calm and monotone through the whole thing and she would encourage me and when I would get a little ornery she would say you're making progress and I would say no I'm not you're lying to me she would be very calm and say yes come on now. So it was good. It was important to have someone like that there (003).

The comments made by subject 003 can be contrasted to the opinions that subjects 001 and 009 held about their physicians:

The doctor wasn't there...they usually come in at the last minute and take their bows...it was she (the nurse) who decided that something was wrong (001).

I thought maybe I caved into the doctor...because he wasn't my regular doctor and I think now that he was just trying

to make it easier for himself (009).

Perceived threat to the infant. The awareness of risks to the infant had created anxiety in the early weeks of pregnancy, and all of the subjects had agreed to continue their pregnancies on the basis that their baby would be healthy and whole. When medical complications posed a threat to the infant during labor and delivery, these expectations were also threatened. An example is given by subject 006 when she learned that the physician was about to use forceps to assist the delivery:

...he said we've got to get him out...and they were going to use forceps...and that by the way was my dread. Of all the things, again because of my field I've worked with so many people who are mentally handicapped because they had forceps in their birth history and now granted I realize that that doesn't necessarily relate, but in my mind it did (006).

## Action/Interaction Strategies during Labor and Delivery

The majority of participants developed strategies which they hoped would prepare them for the experience. These included attending prenatal classes, developing a birth plan, and securing the support of a labor coach, in most cases, their husband. Strategies were identified which were aimed at maintaining control of an unknown and frightening experience. Women prepared for their experience using the tools which had worked for them in the past, studying, reading, planning, and organizing.

Attending prenatal classes. Eight of the participants attended prenatal classes in order to prepare themselves for the labor and delivery experience:

She focused on delivery, explaining what delivery was, what was going to happen and how you can make it easier for yourself. Just going through breathing techniques and

positions and then she went through some of the complications that you might be faced with and the sort of decisions before you went to the hospital so that you have a birth plan (008).

Subject 006 could not imagine what to expect, and prenatal classes failed to enlighten her:

I honestly had a hard time visualizing at all what to expect and I know that one of the most frustrating things for me in the prenatal classes was trying to visualize what the heck was this contraction going to be. I just couldn't fathom in my mind what that was going to be. I just couldn't conceive...I can still remember the words "Just consider a grapefruit coming through your vagina". It's like I can't!! I honestly just couldn't visualize what it would all be about (006).

Developing a birth plan. Eight of the participants developed a birth plan which included the timing of the trip to the hospital, the type of pain management which would be acceptable to them, and support from their labor coach. The labor coach was expected to provide support and encouragement to the subject during labor and delivery. The labor coach participated in developing the birth plan, and was to be the patient's advocate. The birth plan was designed to help the subject maintain control over an unknown and frightening situation:

I thought I could cope with the pain. Even one of the questionnaires said would you consider taking this type of drug ...and I said I would wait until the very end (003).

We both were of the same opinion. We weren't going to have heroics. I was going to just play it by ear. If I thought things were going fine but if I felt that some pain relief would help then I was going to ask for it (006).

Minimizing discrepancies. The perceived experience of labor and delivery was

different from the expectations in every case. These women attempted to minimize the discrepancies between their expectations and their perceived experience by using a number of strategies. Only subject 005 experienced a labor and delivery without complications and without analgesic. Even though she found the experience to be more difficult than she had ever expected, she felt proud of her performance:

I wanted to do it perfectly. I wanted to get an A in it. I never thought about it that way. And I wanted everyone to know I got an A in it, especially my husband. I wanted him to know about it. And it even felt like... well my pregnancy... people say I had a textbook pregnancy, a textbook delivery, and so I wanted a textbook baby (005).

Five of the subjects expressed the idea that even though the labor and delivery experience did not proceed as expected, they were satisfied that at least their baby was healthy. They were able to say that without medical intervention, this outcome might have been otherwise.

Subject 009, on the other hand, worried that she had "caved in" to the doctor because she did not insist on a trial of labor:

It was probably the right decision in a way, otherwise the doctor might not have come back until the next night to check. It would have been when it was convenient for him I'm sure. In retrospect, it would have been a very long labor...the head was high...a forceps delivery probably...he didn't need that. I didn't need that. It might have been a distressed birth. For all the little problems we had that first week, the baby didn't have an extra one (009).

Subject 006 had been subjected to medical interventions during the labor and delivery for which she was unprepared and which left her feeling out of control. However when she spoke to the physician the next day, she was more able to understand the

urgency of the situation and to rationalize why it had to happen as it did:

I didn't know what was happening at the time. But what was explained to me by the doctor is he had to get him out. It was basically the point of no return...so that's why the forceps were being used. And it was the next day when the obstetrician came back and told us that it was, as he described it, the kind of situation that gives him grey hair. It was that nip and tuck and he said," I couldn't have used any more force. I used as much force as I could and it was just enough to get him out" (006).

A number of women sought out whatever positive aspects of their experience that they could find. Subject 001 felt that her experience could have been worse. She could have been in labor much longer before the cesarian birth. Subject 004 had a taste of labor before her cesarian birth and she was satisfied that she had not missed anything by not experiencing a "natural childbirth". Subject 006 was the only one who experienced medical interventions without analgesic. For her the positive aspect was how the pain was gone as soon as the baby was delivered:

I think one of the things I remember most is how it all ended as soon as he was out. That was the most powerful experience. Being in that much pain and to be going through that much trauma and then literally the second he was out it was over. It was like a completely different world. It was wonderful and I will never at least I hope that I will never forget that moment. It was just kind of like an incredible experience (006).

Three of the women experienced some difficulty in minimizing the discrepancy between their expectations and their perceived experience of labor and delivery in the early postpartum period. Subject 002 experienced a premature labor and delivery. She was unable to minimize the discrepancies because not only did she feel that she had been

careless during her pregnancy but she also did not know whether her baby would survive:

I feel guilty. I was careless. I was so scared that there might be some abnormalities some complications because she was so small. And I said it's my fault. Because I didn't take care of her like that (002).

Both subject 008 and 009 talked about feelings of failure during and immediately following their experience. Both of these women had healthy babies. Subject 009 had experienced a cesarian birth because of a failure to dilate. Subject 008 had experienced a high forceps delivery for cephalo-pelvic disproportion and failure to progress:

The feeling of why is this so hard. And after it was over I guess philosophically I had a hard time with the whole process of why do you get pregnant and why is it so difficult and why would you get pregnant and the baby not be able to come out. And I've talked about it among women and we've just sort of come up with the philosophy that well a lot of us just wouldn't have had babies if it weren't for modern medicine... But I did find that difficult. And you want to go through it as naturally as possible. I mean women have done this for centuries. How did they do it? You wonder about that. And you feel like a failure. (008).

Subject 009 received counselling from the head nurse on the maternity unit to help her to come to terms with her feelings of failure following delivery:

The girl beside me...they were making such a big deal about her delivery...this nine pound baby vaginally...and I couldn't deliver a six pounder. It really upset me. And some of the nurses...this didn't help...some of the nurses even came in and said stuff and I felt like I didn't fulfil my "womanly" part like I didn't do it right (009).

The perception of labor and delivery for every subject was that it was far worse than expected. Those who had difficulty minimizing the discrepancies experienced

#### **SECTION IV - Experience of Motherhood**

#### **Expectations for Motherhood**

Subjects entered into motherhood with an array of expectations about how this experience might unfold for them. Satisfaction with parenthood did not automatically come to those who had initially expected to parent and who were congruent with their partner regarding childbearing expectations. All participants, regardless of their desire to parent or their expectations regarding motherhood, required a period of time to form attachments to the baby and to incorporate the baby into their lives. Once subjects had dedicated themselves to motherhood, the majority had to begin to separate from their infants in order to return to their careers.

The majority of subjects held high expectations for their experience with motherhood. High expectations contributed to women's perception of their experience as bittersweet because, in the majority of cases, the perceived reality of their experience was incongruent with their expectations.

Expected lifestyle changes. Women differed greatly in their expectations of the impact pregnancy would have on their lifestyle. Participants 004 and 005 had never expected to parent. Participant 004 had never given childbearing much thought and had no preconceived notions regarding what lifestyle changes might occur as result.

Participant 005 had completely negative expectations regarding how childbearing would change her lifestyle:

I thought that it would change our lifestyle dramatically. I think that the older you are the more aware you are of the commitment of having children. And I knew that if I was going to have a child, it would be a lifetime commitment. For the rest of my life. I'm 37. For the next 20 years anyway...oh well for life. So its obviously going to drastically affect your lifestyle. I just wasn't ready for it...(005).

One woman (002) had never discussed childbearing or expectations regarding lifestyle changes with her husband. Another (006) and her husband did not reach congruency prior to the birth of the baby. Expectations regarding lifestyle changes from this husband's perspective were completely negative. Women who wanted to parent, and who were in sync with their husbands, believed that changes to their lifestyle would be minimal:

I knew it would tie us down a little bit. But we just thought that it would enhance it. There would be someone else to show all this wonderful stuff to...we'd take him back to all these places we'd seen (009).

The remaining women, who wanted to parent but were not in sync with their partners prior to conception, shared the belief that lifestyle changes would be minimal:

I didn't think it was going to do much and I still don't. I resigned myself to the fact that it would alter it drastically for the first six months. I faced that and definitely for the first three months I said I don't expect to do anything and then I said over the next few months I should be able to do a bit more. I definitely said that after six months I don't expect it to change my lifestyle a lot... (008).

Expectations for the child. Some of the participants had a very definite picture in

their mind about how the baby would look. Because of amniocentesis, a number of the subjects knew the sex of the baby:

I knew that it would be a boy and that it would have dark hair and blue eyes (003).

Some of the women held expectations concerning the type of relationship that they would have with their child:

I think most of the thoughts I had were about a child not a baby. Like when they're about a year or two or three and that process. The relationship that you have with them...the friendship. I have a nephew and I think I've looked at that relationship and thought about having a baby in that sense (008).

Women tended to have fairly high expectations for their children. Some who had sons seemed to emphasize the importance of their being involved in sports activities. Subjects also emphasized the importance of their child attending university and of "making something of himself". Their children were expected to develop rather sterling qualities:

I want him to have a wonderful sense of self esteem which I don't think I had as I was growing up...a sense of self worth...self love (009).

I would like him to be a leader not a follower cause I think that is a clue to a lot of things. How confident you are in yourself. And I want him to be that. I want him to be able to say no or I don't like that. And I think it's from my mom ...don't be afraid to do this or that and if you make a mistake never be afraid to walk into a room with your head held high. Never be ashamed of anything (003).

Expectations for themselves as parents. In considering how they would parent their child, the majority of participants reflected back on the way that they were parented.

Some hoped to imitate aspects of the way that they were parented. Others hoped to correct some of the mistakes which they felt their own parents had made:

I'm thinking when he's older...if he's in the park over there saying something that he's not supposed to that I will go out there and just grab him by the ear...so maybe I'll be the one who's too strict...my husband is a real neat freak... that's not strict exactly but he's going to make sure that he doesn't mess things up....Because of the things I wasn't shown...I'm going to teach him how to cook... have him cook in the kitchen with me. I think he should learn things (001).

Subjects generally had high expectations for themselves in the parent role as is shown in the following example:

Well, I think I will instill in her a lot of the things that I have learned through the years. Confidence, positiveness, giving, sharing, and good listener. All those kinds of things. Making her feel special, and for her to love herself....I'm hoping not to spoil this child because I'm only going to have this one child...(005).

Subject 008 suggested that as an older mother she wanted to do the job "correctly:

You tend to over do it. You tend to want to know everything. You want to make sure that you are doing the job right. You want to get all the information you can...but I also don't want to be one of those mothers that pushes their child and you know that you read about all that too "my child is only a year old and already he's doing this" (008).

## Perception of the Experience of Motherhood

Women provided a detailed account of their perception of motherhood. They described their initial reaction to their baby, what it was like to return home with a newborn infant, the support they received, and their perceptions of breastfeeding.

<u>Initial reactions to the baby</u>. Women who had medical interventions were reluctant to hold the baby following delivery:

I was quite aware but I just didn't want to hold her because of all the apparatus around me and I knew I wasn't really as alert as I thought I was but my husband was there and he held her (004).

Most of the participants expressed disbelief that this baby was theirs:

I wondered on the way out of the hospital is anyone going to ask if this really is my baby. Do I look like this is my baby? As if someone was going to walk up and say "excuse me miss but is this your baby?" (008).

Many expressed the idea that they did not immediately feel a connection, a bond with their baby:

I was in disbelief - I think this whole thing was in disbelief. I knew she was, I mean she's the spitting image of my husband. She was even at birth. You knew right away who her dad was. I feel a whole lot closer to her now. But it's quite a concept. I was interested in her... looking at her hands and feet - to learn about what she was like. But I didn't feel any immediate bond (004).

Subject 003 found a remedy to the pain and exhaustion which followed labor and delivery:

You should have seen me the days after. My eyes, well you couldn't even see my eyes. I was so bloated and swollen. I was very very tired. But its funny, when they give you the baby, your energy seems to come back. You just perk up. When I would hold him I just perked up (003).

Some of the subjects became quite emotional during the interview as they recounted their birth experience:

Well I guess it felt unreal. I felt that it wasn't happening. I just couldn't believe that this was our little fellow. And with my husband crying....I can't believe how choked up I get when I think about it even now (subject broke down and began to cry as she recollected the birth experience) (006).

For subject 002, initial reactions to the babe included tears but not of joy. She expressed feelings of guilt and concern because of her early delivery and her baby's unknown prognosis:

And I went home it was not a home it was a camper van. That is the worst thing I have ever experienced in my life...going home without your baby and you are in a foreign country. I am just glad that my husband is there with me. I just go to the trailer park and I am crying and crying and I sit on the floor and I am crying and crying. I just want to sleep and not wake up at all but my husband said we have the baby you should be strong (002).

Subject 009 found the first few days in the hospital to be quite upsetting:

I was overwhelmed by a lot of feelings...love...I think I attach pretty quickly...inadequacy. For a few days I was very confused about what was expected of me and what wasn't. After the surgery I hardly had him the first day, I didn't know what was expected of me. I tried to start breast feeding right away, but I was kind of bewildered and a little depressed funnily enough (009).

Initial reactions to and feelings for the baby were not what was expected by the majority of subjects and can be seen as contributing to their mixed perception of the experience as bittersweet.

<u>Perceived realities of coming home with the baby</u>. The first few weeks home with the baby were found to be overwhelming and exhausting for the majority of the participants. This reality did not match their expectation of motherhood. The subjects

commented that it felt very strange to have a baby in the home and to be his\her mother.

The following passages express the emotional turmoil experienced in the first weeks home:

When I brought that child home, the feeling...it was the weirdest feeling when I walked out of that hospital and came here and had that little baby...walked through the door...it was. It was a weird feeling. It was like my whole life... stepping into a new chapter of my life. It was like I didn't even know my home. You know when you've gone on a holiday and you've been away a long time and you come home and you feel strange. Well that's how it felt and I had just been away for two days (005).

All of a sudden there's this little baby here. The first night we had the monitor on - full blast - and she made one little noise and I jumped out of bed. I thought it was good to start her in her own crib right, but I ran down the hall so fast I thought my heart was going to jump out ...it was pounding so hard. I still wasn't moving around so good (004).

I think I was so bagged when I came home that the first few weeks are just a blur. After that kind of labor and everything I was just... I had to go back the following week for a D & C because I was bleeding quite heavily and they realized that they didn't get everything out. It's all sort of a blur (007).

I remember too denying the discomfort that I felt from my episiotomy. I had no idea that it was going to hurt so much and I think for the while after we were home that I was just running on adrenalin (006).

<u>Perceptions of breastfeeding</u>. Seven of the subjects started out breastfeeding their infants. Six of the subjects were still breastfeeding at the time of the interview. Subject 007 expressed disappointment in the fact that she was unable to maintain breastfeeding:

I breast fed for about a week. But how can you breastfeed when they tell you you're supposed to get lots of rest and

you're supposed to eat properly. Even now I don't eat properly. It's just too busy. And at the beginning there was no way. I was breastfeeding almost 24 hours a day between the two of them. I wasn't getting a lot of sleep so my milk wasn't coming in properly. I thought I just can't do this any more. Not just for me but for them (007).

Two of the subjects (004,008) had difficulty with the whole concept of breastfeeding:

Well at first I thought it would be...well breastfeeding seemed so strange, as a single person you don't associate your breasts with nurturing a child (004).

The participants who breastfed had done extensive reading and consultation in order to prepare themselves for the task. Despite this preparation, some of the participants found breastfeeding to be quite difficult:

However it was very hard at first... He was on supplements from the beginning which made it difficult because he got nipple confusion. My nipples got sore because he wasn't latching on properly. His mouth was so small. I wanted to do it so much because I had the cesarian so I wasn't able to give birth. So I really wanted it to work. In hospital I would try for an hour to get him on...he wouldn't even be eating...just trying...finally I would be in tears. I would call for the nurse. At one point I had four nurse and a doctor in the room. I burst into tears. I said the baby is going to starve to death...what am I going to do? (009).

In addition, for at least one subject, the experience was less gratifying than anticipated:

I have mixed feelings about this breastfeeding. Again I think you can really get into that...you feel like there's supposed to be this feeling that you get...this emotion...this bonding...and to me it feels more like a function. It doesn't feel like an emotion. I mean I am thrilled, I am happy that I can do this for him but its not...that thing where...I don't know whether I just fantasized that it should be more than

it is or whether books or whatever literature that I've read has made it that way...has made me feel that like I said...this bonding. I feel that there is a bond there no matter even if I didn't breastfeed (008).

Common negative perceptions. The majority of subjects believed that no amount of readiness training could have prepared them for the experience of motherhood. This was something that you have to experience in order to understand. "Except you don't prepare yourself. For everything I read and heard that it was going to be a lot of work, it didn't prepare me" (007). Negative perceptions were unexpected and lead to the perception of motherhood as a bittersweet experience. The following are some of the common negative perceptions which were identified by the subjects:

### 1) Lack of sleep.

And my biggest concern after I delivered the baby, because you don't get any sleep for the five to eight days, whatever, is I need sleep...and for the first week, I don't even remember it. It was like a nightmare. It was like a dream...no nightmare because I never got any sleep. It was just crazy. For me not to get any sleep...it was like I really didn't even know what was going on. (005).

## 2) Having no time for yourself.

I found that I could have breakfast or I could have a shower but I could never have both on the same day. My friend is the same age as me and had her first baby about 3 months before I had mine and we'd talk - this was before my baby was born -and she'd say I haven't done a thing all day and I'd think come on, it can't be that difficult to make a cup of coffee or well I just couldn't believe and looking back now, I'm not even sure why I couldn't do those things, but it just seemed that every second that was free you had to do something and I had no idea of the time that would be involved. (004).

3) Worries about the baby's wellbeing.

Because even now...they're supposed to cry to let you know when they are hungry or not knowing what kind of a cry it was...okay was this a hunger cry? was it because they were wet? or what? Just not knowing. Them not being able to tell you what's wrong. (007).

4) Feeling cooped up and isolated.

I would say to my husband, I'm bored I can't stand just sitting around here. I need some kind of stimulation besides watching TV. I mean I was so sore I couldn't even really go for walks. But I was ready to go to work. And I kept saying I'm bored here, I'm bored and I resent the fact there you are at work having conversations with people and here I sit. (003).

5) Having to set new priorities.

I'm not as organized. When he's awake I just don't want to stick him in a chair. I want to make sure he gets adequate play, adequate loving...otherwise I feel very guilty. I think he really needs the playtime. He has a lot of learning to do and so I think it's really important to work with him. He's the priority. Often, I haven't even got supper started when my husband gets home but that's okay...we're flexible. I think that's part of being older...we're flexible about things like that. (009).

Worries about parenting. The majority of subjects were concerned about how they would handle their child as he/she became a teenager. Drugs, AIDS, peer pressure, and manipulation were key issues:

It's scary right now having kids. I look at all the teenagers out there and I wonder what it's going to be like when they're 13 or 14 years old. With AIDS and everything. I don't like to think ahead like that (007).

Some of the participants worried about their age in terms of parenting their growing child:

I'm worried as he grows up will I have the energy to cope with him. We've started going to fitness classes and my husband joined the spa to try to keep our selves in good condition. I think overall we've become more aware of our health since the baby has joined us. I worry about the isolation. My family and my husband's family live away from here and I wonder if the baby will ever get to know his grandparents in any way at all... We've even talked about having a second baby and what that might be like. I wonder what it would be like for him to be an only child with older parents (006).

Actually its funny because I thought about that tonight. I thought I wonder how I'm going to feel when I'm fifty and he wants to get roller blades. I was watching a TV commercial and I was wondering how I'm going to feel. But then I'm forty and I would put them on today so why wouldn't I put them on when I was fifty? That's my attitude. I mean I'm active, physically active. So hopefully as long as everything is still working I'll be able to do that. I hope that I still have the energy. I will work hard to have the energy (008).

It might be harder because I've heard that children don't want an older mother, when they were in school, because they think that their classmates will say that they are their grandmother, but I don't think I look like a grandmother (002).

Common positive perceptions. Two features of motherhood were identified which assisted the subjects in folding the child into their lives. Both of these features were based on the passage of time. As the infant became more mature he/she began to interact with the subject and in addition the infant became more predictable so that the subject could take back a little of the control which had been lost.

1) Maternal-child interaction. Subjects felt increased satisfaction with motherhood as their infant began to react and interact with them:

I find it quite a routine...feed and bath and change and that's really all it

is. There's the emotional but I think really in the first few weeks...in the beginning, I was confused and I thought is this all there is and then you start to get feedback from them. As soon as they start looking at you and you start getting something coming back to you, then you realize that all this is for a reason. (008).

Infant predictability. When the infant began to sleep through the night and subjects felt more rested, motherhood became far more enjoyable. Some subjects were willing to contend with daytime crying providing that the baby slept through the night:

... I'm two months into it and its getting easier and easier. Now that she's sleeping through the night, I just feel I'm in heaven. It's just like "no sweat". I don't care if she's cranky in the day, babies have to cry but she's just great. (005).

Most subjects found that increased infant predictability gave them the ability to venture out to visit friends and the shopping malls. One exception to this observation was subject 009, who felt more isolated as the baby got a little older:

He screams trying to get him into his outdoor clothes and I just want him to be happy...so I just don't go. Just even taking him out for a walk...I know the fresh air would be good...but I can't deal with the screaming...so I just think...forget it. I won't go. So we get stuck... Some things are a lot harder than I envisioned (009).

Subject 008 found that the lack of infant predictability was very difficult for her:

Every day is a new day and when he wakes up you don't know. He may be the best baby that day and you just think oh maybe he's going to be that way from now on and you really know that he's not but the next day may be good again (008).

#### **Intervening Conditions**

Support. All of the subjects had supportive help when they brought their infants home. Support was extremely important to the new mother in helping her to cope in the early weeks postpartum. However, support did not offset the perception of the postpartum period as a bittersweet experience. Seven of the subjects had their mother come to stay with them while they recovered. Other family members as well as friends and neighbors were mentioned as supports. Three of the subjects mentioned the Public Health Nurse as being helpful during the early postpartum period:

I think the hardest thing in the first month, well I was really lucky to have my mom come. She came for a couple of weeks and my sister. I don't know how any woman can go through this and have no help after. You have got to have that help after (005).

Some of the subjects found that there were too many visitors and that this sometimes added to their stress. Subject 008, although she appreciated the help she received, found that she did not really begin to attach to her infant until she was alone with him:

I think it was after the first couple of weeks, after we had been alone for a while. I think I was sort of overwhelmed at first by visitors and people. My mother stayed with me so we were never alone. After we were alone I felt that we started connecting or I felt more...maybe because I felt more responsible or I was closer to him...maybe because we could do what we wanted (008).

Subject 005 had expected that she would lose many of her friends after having the baby. She found that she actually regained friendships through the process:

Everyone wants to drop over and see you. You get phone calls. I never knew people did that. I never knew it was

such a big deal. I couldn't believe that these people were so overwhelmed at this baby of mine. Why should they? I mean I could see me being overwhelmed or my husband, but why are all these people calling and sending flowers. I mean I had flowers all over that table and there. I couldn't believe it. I mean why were all these people so excited for me? This is what shocked me. You see I guess I really never really got that excited when anyone had a kid (005).

<u>Dedicating to baby</u>. All of the participants discussed the intensity of the love which they felt for their infants. For some participants this emotion was almost frightening. The following passages illustrate "dedicating to the baby":

I can't get enough of this little boy. The love that I have for this little boy I can't put into words. I mean I would throw myself in front of a train for him. It's just unconditional love. It's something that a person just can't explain (003).

The passion. The depth of feeling that I have for him which I never dreamt I could feel for anyone. Its different from anything you might feel for a lover or a husband. A passion after going through this experience which I would never have understood even if someone had explained it to me (006).

How it scares you. How it... I don't think I've ever felt like that. It's just like an extension of yourself. It's very hard to describe. It shocked me because I didn't realize how deep it was or how emotional I was about it...(008).

This dedication occurred in all cases regardless of what initial childbearing expectations had been and regardless of whether perceptions of the childbearing experience were positive or negative to date. All of the women were quite possessive of their infants and to some extent they became the directors of infant care. This possessiveness interfered with the marital relationship when fathers wanted to be involved, but were criticized because they were not handling the baby "correctly".

He gets mad at me because I boss him around. He says I do. It's like "tip the bottle up higher" or "burp him now" because he will take his time and he'll sort of play with him and the way they used to spit up all the time it was "come on get the burp out of him or he'll get gas." It's probably because I think I know better because I'm around them all day and he's not (007).

Although the subjects dedicated themselves to their infants, many of them realized the importance of including their husbands in infant care. They "sat on their hands" while dad performed the necessary tasks and in some cases tried to make it a cooperative venture:

I don't like to boss him around. We are both new to this. But I was a little nervous. He may not have the experience with babysitting and I may have read the books before he did. But I read that if you criticize too much they are going to get frightened or fed up and say to \*\*\*\*! with you. Sometimes I would get like "he's not holding him the way I would" and he would fuss. So sometimes I would say little things but I've tried to let him find his own way (009).

Perceived changes in the marital relationship. Seven of the participants perceived that their partners were supportive of them following the birth of the baby. In these cases, partners were willing to help with infant care as well as with household tasks. However, marital support did not totally offset the perception of childbearing as a bittersweet experience. Subject 002 did not receive this type of assistance. However, she seemed content to care for her infant without her husband's help:

I just want to be with my baby. I am so happy taking care of her, sometimes I get tired, but it doesn't matter because soon she will grow up very fast and I have to help her right now especially when I have to take her out and I take her to the Mall only the two of us sometimes I don't even want my husband (002).

Some of the subjects perceived negative changes in their relationships with their husbands. They were unable to spend as much time with their husbands as they had prior to the birth of the baby:

At times my husband will say to me "We need some time to be alone to be close"...because you don't... you don't make time for that and we're both guilty of that. Now you're listening for sounds, making sure the formula is made, that this is here that his clothes are washed and he has enough sleepers...your time isn't your own any more...you almost have to make time for yourselves (003).

Some husbands felt that they were cheated on the amount of attention that they were receiving from their wives:

I should have thought of these things before. What I hadn't anticipated was how much time I would have to be away from my husband. We used to on the weekends have nice breakfasts and have coffee and get caught up on the week and maybe go for a walk on the beach especially at the very beginning. When I wasn't moving around too well, I mean we never for the first six weeks, we never sat down together for a meal. There was just no time. It was like she was psychic - as soon as she could smell food on the table she would cry.I think it bothered both of us. And I think even now he feels that he's cheated on his time. It's got better, but I think he still feels it (004).

Couples were now taking on new roles as "mommy" and "daddy", and this was found to change the nature of their relationship:

The baby is kind of number one right now. I think we still feel affectionate toward each other, but I think we express more of our affection to the baby...sort of channelled through him...normally you go to bed and hug and kiss and so when he goes to bed, I'm feeding the baby and by the time I come to bed he is sound asleep...so that we don't get that late night hug and kiss kind of thing. I don't think it bothers my husband...I don't think he is jealous or anything...he talks about me being a good mommy to the

baby and I think that is very much what he wants...(009).

Subjects 005 and 006 identified positive changes in their marital relationships:

I think before we seemed often to have divergent goals ...going off in our own ways. Since we've had the baby I think that our relationship has become much more solid. I think that we are actually much more in tune with each other (006).

Changes in self-concept. Motherhood brought with it a number of changes in self-concept. Three of the subjects referred to their body image. Subject 005 was determined not to look "gross" after being pregnant and was proud that she could fit into her jeans. Subject 007 on the other hand felt quite depressed about the fact that she had no time to exercise and that she still had inches to lose:

My clothes don't fit that depresses me. My hair is falling out that depresses me. I didn't expect that (007).

Subject 009 was not as concerned about losing weight as she was about her grey hair:

I'm used to carrying a lot of weight...I know it's not good for me but my body image well I don't get too hung up on it. But I did get my hair dyed today (laughter) ...so I don't look like I'm 50...so I don't look like I'm the grandmother which I've gotten a number of times..."Are you babysitting?" "Are you his grandmother?" "Is that your biological child?" I was very grey - so I decided to get the dye job (009).

Separating from the baby - returning to work. Seven of the participants were going to be returning to work following their maternity leave. All of these subjects expected that it would be very difficult to leave their infants:

It's going to be really hard to let go of him. Only because little things, like the way he cries and now I listen for that

certain cry when he's going to go into that transition, where he's going to stop breathing because he's going to get hysterical. I can hear that and I don't know whether some one else is going to give him that attention. Will they be there for him all the time. So that's really hard. I mean he's my little boy. It's hard to even think about it (003).

They realized, however, that they would not be totally satisfied at home raising a child:

Well that's another thing that worried me about being pregnant is that I knew I wasn't the type of person, or at least this is the way I had always pegged myself, not being a mother who would stay at home looking after children.I just assumed that I would be back at work as soon as I could (005).

Subject 003 felt that working outside the home would be easier than staying at home raising a child:

Well I think you have different distractions. And I think you have different stimuli. You have conversations. You have adult conversations. I think that being home with a child is very demanding. You can't just say "No I can't do that for you right now because I'm busy myself... that job will have to wait until I have time to do it." ...you just do it. I mean if he wets his pants or whatever I can't say you just sit there and wait for a while. It's uncomfortable for him so you do it. And also you can't sit down and talk about current affairs when you have children. And I need that. I need that extra stimuli (003).

The participants found ways to make the separation from their infants less difficult. Three of the subjects were going to be using a family member to provide child care. Subject 005 was going to hire a live-in nanny so that the baby would have continuity in her life instead of a number of different daycare workers. Subject 006 did some research into the best way to integrate working part time with raising her child:

I think its going to be very difficult for me. I have just hired a woman to provide daycare for him. I am going to go back to work part time and you know I did a bit of research, talked with some friends about how to do this you know whether to go back so many days a week or part days and I have come to the conclusion that there would just be too much of a pull to work part days so I've decided against that option (006).

Subjects 001 and 005 seemed to be preparing themselves for the time when they would return to work by leaving their child with a sitter to see how everyone would manage:

...maybe I've already sort of got it so that he's going to be independent. Almost like maybe its that I know I'm going to leave him at some point that its...I've already conditioned myself that if I go out now ...maybe subconsciously I've tried to put him in another place...because I know I'm going to be away from him when I go back to work that the odd time when I'm away from him...for an hour or two I sort of think the same way (001).

Feelings of guilt about leaving their child were expressed as well as the need to spend as much quality time with the baby as possible while at home:

Well I guess to me as I said I'll be going back to work in March...so that I would dedicate that whole time to the baby...basically because...well you're not ignoring him but you are basically depriving him a little bit going back to work and not being home...(001).

Two of the subjects (002, 009) were not going to be working outside the home. Subject 009 felt that her baby was too important to be brought up by a series of day care workers:

This business of waiting so long and trying so hard...just to "stick him in daycare" and some one else be that special, special person to him...I think that's ...I don't like that. At least one of us should be that special person...We both

should be...but at least one of us. A daycare worker is not going to be there in 3-4 years. It won't be the same person. For one thing he has to develop that special trusting relationship and that's so important and I understand that now (009).

### **Action/Interaction Strategies**

One of the ways in which women tried to resolve their conflicting perceptions of childbearing was by looking back over their experience, identifying the advantages of delayed childbearing.

Advantages to delayed childbearing. The majority of participants felt that there were certain advantages to being an "older" first time mother. The fact that they had been able to travel and experience life was to their advantage. They did not resent the demands placed on them by their infant as they might have if they were younger. They felt that if they had parented at an earlier age they would not have the financial security which they were now able to enjoy. The participants believed that they were more aware of their infants' needs, better informed, and more adaptable because they were older parents:

The one advantage is that I wouldn't have wanted to do this at 20. If this had happened to me at 20 I don't think I could have done it. Because I think that I would have been frustrated and impatient and felt ripped off from a lot of experiences. Like if it had happened and even I think if you planned it...because I knew what I was getting into and it's difficult but I'm also not feeling like I'm missing anything. I've had good jobs and careers and I've done a lot of travelling and I've got great friends that we have good relationships that when they phone I can go "I can't talk to you" and don't phone them back for 4 days and they're not angry at me. So I think all those things are important and I didn't have any of those things when I was 20. And after 2 months if I were 20 I don't think that I would have been

a very happy woman. I don't think so (008).

Subject 003 did not believe that age in itself would give her a parenting advantage. For her it is more a question of maturity:

I don't know if age makes you a better parent. I think your economics, your control, a lot of things play a big role. How you feel about yourself. Having a job where you don't have to worry about where my mortgage payment is going to come from or when I'm going to get my next cheque to buy baby food. I mean that's a big weight off somebody's shoulder. I don't know if that's age or not. I don't think it is. I think there are women out there that are in their late thirties's who are on welfare and have to budget themselves. I'm not saying I'm better than they are. I'm just saying that its easier for me. I think you need to be ready to have children because...Because in your mind you think that you are going to have this ideal child and when its time to go to bed it will go to bed and it won't cry and it won't do this and it won't do that and its not like that at all. So unless you are mentally prepared to deal with these things then I don't think people should have children. It's difficult...it is difficult (003).

# **Consequences of Negative Perceptions of Motherhood**

Women experienced depression and feelings of guilt associated with their negative perceptions of motherhood.

<u>Depression</u>. Three participants felt that they had experienced postpartum depression to some degree following the birth of their baby:

I'm not a person to be depressed but I have been depressed. I've noticed a few days when I wasn't actually depressed but lethargic and I know it's related to a type of depression ...feeling overwhelmed and not quite sure if I can do it any more (006).

Feelings of guilt. Subjects sometimes found that motherhood made it difficult for

them to satisfy their own needs:

Sometimes when I do things for myself, I feel sometimes I think that if they jeopardize him in some way it just doesn't feel right...doesn't feel good. If we go to the mall and he is so miserable...it just doesn't feel right (009).

### **SECTION V - Evaluation and Advice to Others**

In the interviews women discussed their satisfaction with the childbearing experience. They also provided suggestions for ways in which other mature primiparas might be helped to cope with delayed childbearing. In this section, women's overall satisfaction with the experience and their advice to other women in a similar situation are summarized.

## Overall Satisfaction with their Childbearing Experience

Two of the nine subjects were left with a fairly negative perception of their childbearing experience. Although subject 002 had had a strong desire to have a child, her experience with a premature labor and delivery was so discrepant from her expectations that she states that she would never want to go through it again:

I am so happy but there's always in my mind wondering, thinking, will she grow up normal like any other baby...I know it might not happen any more if I have another pregnancy, maybe it won't be like this one. It was different, I was travelling at the time, but my experience scares me so much that I said that's enough. At least I have one...at least I experienced it (002).

Subject 007 had gone through great hardship to become pregnant because both she and her husband expected that children would enhance their lives. The following passage

indicates the difficulty which she is having in accepting her perceived childbearing experience:

I think I just feel cooped up sometimes and that's what gets me teary eyed or I will worry if I'm feeding them properly... I feel like I'm not a good mother sometimes because I don't bath them everyday. They don't get their hair brushed everyday. Some days I don't have time to do everything right. You're always taught okay you should give them baths every day and do their hair and do this and do that or read them stories or play with them a lot...That's why I feel bad sometimes... I think I would give anything to get rid of them. But then I feel bad when I have thoughts like that I shouldn't feel like that. That's what gets me upset...I live for my husband getting home at night though. I'm such an organized person all the time and it's so hard when you have babies that you can't really organize. They do what they want when they want. You have to learn to live with it... I guess it's never what you expect. It's never the same (007).

Subjects 005 and 006 on the other hand perceived their experience to be more positive than expected. Subject 006 had not expected to have children because her husband and she did not share congruent childbearing expectations. She found the experience to be far more rewarding than she had ever expected. Subject 005 had started out expecting childbearing to be totally negative:

I think this has had a positive affect on me. I don't think there is anything wrong with having a child over 35. I used to. I would say if I don't have kids by the time I'm 30, that's it. But there is something to be said for having children later on and I'm glad we did. I wouldn't change this now for anything. I'm very excited about this baby. She has become a huge part of our lives and so we have to change our whole life. Change is what keeps you going.... It has been a ways easier than I ever thought. I thank my lucky stars. I think I expected the worst. Maybe that's why it seemed so good (005).

For subjects 001, 003, 004, 008, and 009, the childbearing experience was "bittersweet". These subjects were totally dedicated to their infants but there were far more negative perceptions than they had expected. Subject 001 seemed to indicate resignation rather than satisfaction:

I have to do some packing and hauling around but its better than staying home. I've sort of resigned myself to the fact that where I go he goes (001).

Subject 003 had a very concrete life plan which included childbearing at a time when she and her husband felt "ready":

I don't know if its everything you thought. It's just a feeling that you can't explain and you can never think... you can think of what it would feel like but it's something more....So its a feeling that you can't describe it. You can imagine, oh I'm going to feel like this or that, feel so happy. But it's different (003).

Subject 008 had expected to parent and was raising her child as a single parent.

She talks about her perception of the "control factor":

Being pregnant was definitely one of the most incredible experiences of my life and the most humbling. Having a baby is very humbling. And for women of my age and lifestyle I don't think we know very much about that. I don't think we've ever had to succumb to things...to let go. We've had a very big control factor in our lives and been able to do what we want and be where we want and be who we want and just the fact that I can be here and be a single mother and for it not to be a taboo sort of thing says a lot for it. I think I'm fortunate to be doing what I'm doing when I'm doing it (008).

Subject 009 had experienced infertility treatment. She and her husband shared congruent childbearing expectations. She described how difficult mothering can be:

Until you go through it you don't really understand. I know

how much love and effort it takes to even half way feel that he's getting what he needs. I can understand what it takes to be a mother...it is not an easy thing...it's wonderful but it is very taxing. You've got to want it to do it right (009).

In summary, the majority of participants did not find childbearing to be a totally gratifying experience. The higher the expectations of motherhood the greater the discrepancy between expectations and the perceived reality.

### **Women's Advice to Others**

Looking back over the experience, some subjects had advice to give to others based on what they felt they had learned. Subject 006 advises that if a couple is in the process of making the decision to parent then there is room for a positive decision:

It doesn't seem like the kind of decision that you can make rationally you know weighing the pros and cons. It's one that when it happens it happens naturally (006).

Two of the women, 008 and 005, wished that they had been in their early thirties when they delivered their first babies. Subject 005 thought that if she had started earlier she might have had time to have a second baby. Subject 008 believed that she might have had an easier experience if she had been younger having her first baby:

...I would say have a baby when you are 32-35 because 40 is really getting there. I think I would have had an easier experience when I was 32-33. I would never have done it in my 20's but I think early 30's would have been ideal. I think that's just physically and mentally. I think the difficulty with the birthing experience was related to age also to the experience that I had with a difficulty in pregnancy. If you go back and compare, the experience might have been the same at either age. Every woman is so different (008).

Subject 008 advised against reading too much literature:

It's almost like a couple of books are good and then it starts to get overwhelming. I think you get neurotic (008).

Subject 005 advised that people do change and although she started out with such a negative perception about motherhood, she now has a totally new outlook on life and has a new sense of excitement about her life now that she is a mother. Subject 002 felt that it was her ignorance that caused her premature labor and delivery. She read books but did not read about abnormal occurrences. She had no idea that babies could be born so early and because of this she did not take proper care of herself.

In the next chapter these findings will be discussed in relation to the organizational framework and to other research in the area. In Chapter five further integration of the concepts identified with the core category also is provided. Some direction for future research and for changes to nursing practice are discussed.

#### CHAPTER V

### **Discussion of Findings**

The purpose of this study was to explore and describe the childbearing expectations of the mature primipara in relation to her perception of her experience. Expectations and perceptions were explored in a broad context that defined childbearing as a process beginning with the planning of the pregnancy and continuing into the postpartum period. Qualitative analysis of the data using grounded theory methodology resulted in the emergence of a core category, delayed childbearing as a bittersweet experience (Appendix G). The core category and associated categories will be discussed in this chapter, within the framework of the paradigm model of Strauss and Corbin (1990). Discussion will focus first on the childbearing expectations of the mature gravida and the discrepancies between her expectations and the perceived reality of her experience. The findings of the study will be compared and contrasted to research which has been conducted in this area. The findings then will be considered in relation to the organizational framework and the limitations of the study identified. Finally, recommendations for future research and for nursing practice will be presented.

### **Delayed Childbearing as a Bittersweet Experience**

Delayed childbearing as a bittersweet experience emerged as the core category or main theme around which all other categories can be integrated. Childbearing as a bittersweet experience was identified as being central to the experience of delayed childbearing as described by the subjects in this study.

The phenomenon of delayed childbearing as a bittersweet experience was identified as the perception held by mature primiparous women that there were more negative aspects to their childbearing experience than they had expected and that these factors offset, and at times overshadowed, the positive aspects of childbearing. Discrepancies existed between their childbearing expectations and their perception of the actual experience which they were unable to minimize. This perception was still evident at the time of the interview. The perception of childbearing as a bittersweet experience was most evident through labor and delivery and again through the early weeks at home with the baby. In the postpartum period, this perception tended to decrease as the baby became more predictable and began to interact with the subject.

Antecedents. Delayed childbearing as a bittersweet experience was preceded by a number of variables that resulted from the interactive effects of age and childbearing. These can be broadly subsumed under the categories of "expectations" and "perceptions" and were evident during all phases of the childbearing experience. An overview of the major findings during each phase of childbearing and the interaction between expectations and perceptions will be discussed.

From a review of the literature, it appeared that women wait to bear children until they are over the age of thirty-five as part of a life plan. This was not found to be true for many of the women who participated in this study. Four factors which impeded childbearing at an earlier age and therefore contributed to delayed childbearing were: infertility, miscarriage, lack of willing partner, and no expectation to bear children. Factors such as satisfaction with current lifestyle, expectations of the experience, and

congruency with their partner did not ultimately influence the mature primipara's decision to parent.

Expectations surrounding the ability to conceive and to carry an infant to term were antecedents which lead to the perception of childbearing as a bittersweet experience. Two of the nine subjects in the study were being treated for infertility so that they failed to conceive within their expected time frame. Two of the subjects had experienced a miscarriage which caused them great emotional turmoil and created worries of repeated failure at the news of a subsequent pregnancy. The remaining subjects had difficulty believing that they could become pregnant when they tested their fertility. Pregnancy for them was a bittersweet experience as they attempted to accept a reality different from the expectation that they would not bear children.

Daniels and Weingarten (1979) found that couples who have been effectively contraceptive throughout most of their adult lives find it difficult to break the contraceptive habit and make a conscious decision to become pregnant. Six out of the nine subjects interviewed in this study did not make a conscious decision to parent. They, in fact, started taking chances with the birth control method which they used. Their expectation was that becoming pregnant at their age would be at least difficult if not impossible.

Motivation for pregnancy was seen as an antecedent to the perception of childbearing as a bittersweet experience since it was found to be the pressure created by the passage of time which was the most important pregnancy-motivating factor for women in this study. The passage of time exerted tremendous pressure on women of this age

group who feared that they would miss the experience of childbearing. It was the perception of passage of time, the "ticking of their biological clock", which led the majority of women to contemplate childbearing. The decision to parent was not always made after careful consideration in which the benefits outweighed the costs. A number of these women did not believe that they could conceive since their fertility had never been tested. They "took chances" with their birth control method when they found that they could not make a rational childbearing decision. This finding is consistent with Lederman's (1984) suggestion that the motivation for pregnancy may not be "motherhood" but rather "fear" of becoming too old to have children; fear of missing a major female experience. Many researchers discuss the fact that women may plan a pregnancy for fear of waiting beyond their "biological boundary" (Mansfield and Cohn, 1986; DeVore, 1983; Kitzinger, 1982; Woods, 1987). This was found to be the case for the women interviewed in this study. Women were aware of the "ticking of their biological clock" and, for the majority, this signalled changes in attitudes and behaviors around childbearing.

The mature primiparas perception of risks associated with delayed childbearing also was identified as an antecedent that contributed to women's perception of childbearing as a bittersweet experience. Because the population of women who delay childbearing tend to be well read and aware, it was not surprising to find that all of the subjects in the study were knowledgeable about the risks involved in delayed childbearing. Many examples of maternal physiological risks to the mature primigravida were documented in the literature. These risks include an increased incidence of delivery

by cesarian section. This risk became a reality for four out of the nine subjects interviewed. None of the subjects who delivered by cesarian section were in poor health, even though the health status of the woman has been mentioned as an important factor in predicting good obstetrical outcome. None of the factors mentioned by Daniels and Weingarten (1979), which include the number and spacing of previous pregnancies, mother's genetic disposition, medical history, hygiene, nutrition, obstetrical care, as well as socioeconomic circumstances, could be implicated. Three of the nine subjects interviewed required the use of forceps or suction to assist them in delivery. Again, no predisposing factors seemed evident.

Awareness of risks may have acted as an antecedent to the perception of childbearing as a bittersweet experience by creating anxiety in the subjects. According to Mansfield and Cohn (1986), anxiety in itself could "predispose the expectant mother to various pregnancy and birth complications" (Mansfield & Cohn, 1986, p. 146). Levy and McGee (1975) studied the relationship between expectation and perceived reality of childbirth within the framework of Janis's theory of psychological stress. The "work of worry" is discussed as being necessary so that the individual is better able to understand and control the adversities of the stress episode by her rehearsal of events. However, extreme worry and denial of danger result in poor outcomes. In all cases, the participants in this study held negative expectations of the labor and delivery experience, and in all cases they perceived that the experience was far worse than expected. It is possible that high anxiety rendered these women unable to cope adequately. Consideration must also be given to Clark's (1975) suggestion that when labor is complicated by

pathophysiological conditions not under the control of the woman, as was the case for eight out of nine participants in this study, it is likely that the outcome will be a negative attitude toward labor.

Participants also were aware that certain risks to the infant were associated with childbearing over the age of thirty-five. The risk with which they were most familiar was that of giving birth to a child with congenital anomalies. This risk was well documented in the literature (Woods, 1987; Kitzinger, 1982; Baldwin & Nord, 1984; Daniels & Weingarten, 1979; Merlin, 1987). Women underwent amniocentesis as a guarantee against this occurrence and none would have continued with the pregnancy if the results of the tests had indicated any concerns. This fear was a condition which resulted in the initial weeks of the pregnancy being bittersweet in which negative overshadowed positive, as the subjects awaited the results of the testing procedure. It also created fear during labor and delivery, when complications were perceived to threaten the wellbeing of the infant.

The major theme associated with expectations for labor and delivery was fear, in particular, fear of the unknown. In all cases, their perception of the labor and delivery experience was that it was worse than expected. Eight of the nine developed complications and/or required medical intervention. One of the more intriguing findings of this study was that female physicians were better received by this group because they were found to be more empathetic, less prescriptive, and more likely to allow the patient to the maintain control during labor and delivery.

The desire for a baby and the positive expectations around childbearing did not mean satisfaction with parenting during the postpartum period. This group set high

expectations for the baby and for themselves in the parent role. They expected childbearing to bring only minor disruptions to their lifestyle. All had supportive help during the early postpartum period from their family. All of the women felt that no amount of readiness training could have helped to prepare them for motherhood. Breastfeeding was found to be more difficult and for some it was not as satisfying as expected. Both positive and negative changes to the marital relationship occurred following the birth of the baby. The subject became the "coordinator of infant care" which caused some amount of conflict in the marital relationship, as the father attempted to participate in infant care.

Forming attachments to the baby took longer than expected. The instant bond which the subjects had expected did not occur. Dedication to the baby occurred in all cases regardless of the woman's perceptions of her childbearing experience. In the early postpartum period, all of the women held negative perceptions of motherhood. These perceptions of motherhood tended to become more positive with the passage of time as the baby became more predictable and began to interact with the caregiver.

Women worried about a number of issues surrounding being older parents. They were more aware of their age and wondered if they would have the energy to cope with their children as teenagers. Those who would be separating from their baby because they were returning to work used strategies to minimize the difficulties they expected. None of these subjects expected that such separation would be easy. The guilt which they felt concerning returning to their careers helped to contribute to the perception of their experience as one in which negative factors offset positive outcomes.

This study supports Mercer's (1985) findings regarding gratification in the maternal role. The most frequently mentioned challenge of not having or finding any personal time (Mercer, 1985), was confirmed by the subjects interviewed in this study. Another challenge, the inability to master role skills, with a resulting feeling of incompetence, also reported by Mercer (1985), was validated by the majority of women in the present study. In a number of previous studies reviewed, higher socioeconomic status and level of education were associated with more positive maternal behaviour, but were negatively associated with gratification in the mothering role. This also was demonstrated in this study. These subjects took their role as mother extremely seriously and wanted to do the job correctly, and yet gratification did not come with the mothering role. The work of Russell (1974), DeVore (1983), Kitzinger (1982), McBride (1973), and Boulton (1983) is supported in this study, in that all of the subjects had difficulty in making the transition to parenthood. Those with the most positive expectations had the most negative perceptions of motherhood.

Overall, many similarities were found between the findings of this study and those reported by Pickens (1983). Pickens interviewed five career-oriented primiparas with demographic backgrounds similar to those of the mature primipara. Many of the conditions which predispose the mature primipara to the perception of childbearing as a bittersweet experience have previously been identified, for example, in the report by Pickens (1983). These are as follows:

- a. Career was an important part of the identity of the subjects.
- b. Subjects felt competent and confident in their careers.

- c. A number of the subjects were feeling less than satisfied with their careers prior to becoming pregnant.
- d. One of the major aspects of identity was "independence".
- e. After the women had cared for a "totally dependent other" for several weeks, they became aware that their independent functioning had been affected.
- f. Subjects held high expectations for themselves in the mothering role.
- g. Subjects were concerned for their child's psychic well-being and had high expectations for their infant.
- Initially, the cost of motherhood considering such things as personal time,
   rest and sleep, ability to organize were perceived to outweigh the rewards.
- i. With the passage of time, the number of perceived rewards increased, possibly due to the baby becoming more responsive, and sleeping through the night.
- j. The choice to return to work had already been made in most cases. None of the subjects however expected that returning to work would be easy.
- k. Initially, subjects assessed themselves as being less than adequate as mothers.

<u>Intervening conditions</u>. Intervening conditions in this study are the conditions which either facilitated or impeded the mature primipara's attempts to cope with delayed childbearing. Several intervening conditions were identified. Discussion will focus on three of these conditions: support, doctoring, and dedicating to the baby. These factors

will be discussed in relation to the findings of this study and to other research in the area of delayed childbearing.

Support. The support of family and friends was evident in all cases in this study.

This support was physical as well as emotional. Presence of support assisted the subjects in accepting the reality of pregnancy and was found to be extremely important to the mother's ability to cope with her infant in the early postpartum period.

Contrary to the findings of Baldwin and Nord (1984), this study demonstrated the important role that parents play in supporting the mature primipara. In all but one case, the subject's mother provided care for her and for the baby in the early postpartum period. A number of grandparents would be providing child care when the subject returned to work.

However support from family and friends did not appear to mitigate the perception of childbearing as a bittersweet experience. This is congruent with the findings reported by Mercer (1986), who examined predictors of maternal role attainment at one year post birth. None of the support variables which she considered (size of network and emotional, informational, and physical support) were found to predict maternal role attainment (Mercer, 1986). Support could not be used in this study to predict ease of maternal role attainment or the positive perception of the childbearing experience.

Marital support was not found to moderate the childbearing perceptions held by the participants. In this study, marital support was present in all but two

cases. Support was both emotional and physical. Husbands were involved in performing household duties prior to conception. They were involved in attending prenatal classes, and in the design of the birth plan. They supported their wives during labor and delivery and were involved in infant care following the birth. Even in the cases where partners were not expecting to parent, the support was demonstrated. Couples who were "in sync", whether both expecting to parent or both expecting not to parent, remained "in sync" after the news of the pregnancy. The birth of the infant was found to disrupt the marital relationship to some degree. For example many subjects did not have as much time as previously to spend with their husbands. The nature of the relationship was found to change as the subject and her husband took on new roles as "mommy" and "daddy". In all cases the new mothers took on the role of "coordinator of infant care" and often were found to criticize their partners for not providing care to the infant "correctly". The "coordinator" role was not documented in the literature reviewed. Neither of the participants who lacked marital support had positive perceptions of their childbearing experience. However, marital support also was not sufficient to predict that the subject would hold positive perceptions of her childbearing experience.

Doctoring. Kitzinger (1982) maintains that some of the physiological maternal risks are complicated by anxiety conveyed to the patient because of "too much doctoring" (p.82). "Doctoring" was found to influence the perceptions of a number of the participants in the study regarding their childbearing experience. The

attitude of the physician toward the mature gravida was particularly important in determining how the subject perceived her experience. The failure of the physician to prepare the subject for procedures and to give adequate explanations led to misunderstandings, stress, and fear. It was found that those subjects who had female physicians were allowed to maintain control of their childbearing experience to a far greater extent than those who had male physicians. Male physicians were described as more prescriptive, less communicative, and less empathetic than their female counterparts.

"Dedicating to the baby". This intervening condition was not addressed in the literature reviewed. This dedication could be seen as an antecedent to the view of childbearing as a bittersweet experience since it existed even without gratification in the maternal role. It existed amid negative perceptions of the childbearing experience. The depth of emotion which the subjects felt for their infants was unexpected by then.

Action/interaction strategies. Action/interaction strategies are directed at managing, handling, carrying out, or responding to a phenomenon. Mature primiparas used several strategies to cope with delayed childbearing. In the preconceptual or decision-making phase, they tried "weighting", considering the pros and cons to childbearing, but found this process did not assist them in making a decision of this nature. Many of the subjects "took chances" with their birth control method, testing their fertility rather than planning a pregnancy. The phenomenon of "taking chances" was not found to have been documented in the literature. It is often assumed that those who delay childbearing plan

their pregnancy once they have achieved certain life goals. This study demonstrates that such planning does not always occur and that the decision to become pregnant could not be rationally made using the decision-making skills which had worked for this group in past. For this reason, those who became pregnant after "taking chances" had some difficulty in accepting the reality of pregnancy. The consequences for these women were feelings of emotional turmoil when they faced the childbearing decision. The news of pregnancy was met with feelings of shock and disbelief when they discovered that the childbearing decision had been made for them.

The reality of pregnancy was difficult to accept for the women who became pregnant after "taking chances". In order to accept the reality of pregnancy, women needed reassurance that their infant would be healthy. They also needed to reframe their lifestyle expectations to include childbearing. Behavior which was taken as an indicator of acceptance of pregnancy included presenting the pregnancy to family and friends, following the rules of pregnancy, and attending prenatal classes. Attending prenatal classes, designing a birth plan, and securing the support of a labor coach were strategies used to help women prepare for the labor and delivery experience. These strategies were designed to help them to maintain control over an experience for which they held negative expectations.

Mature primiparas used a number of strategies to help them to minimize the negative aspects of their experience. Planning, studying, and organizing were the tools with which they were familiar. However, their past performance in educational and professional endeavours was not a guarantee of success in the unpredictable context of

childbearing. It was their ability to let go of the control factor which had dominated for most of their adult lives which was paramount to their perception of their childbearing experience. None of the strategies used by these women were perceived as effective in helping them cope with their experience. Their attendance at prenatal classes was not found to be helpful to them during their labor and delivery experience. Subjects attempted to accent the positive aspects of their labor and delivery experience even though in every case the experience was far worse than expected. For the women in this study, part of the process of minimizing the trauma of labor and delivery was celebrating the fact that their baby was healthy and that without medical intervention, this might have been otherwise. Their first night's sleep, their interaction with the baby, their ability to resume some former activities like shopping at the mall were all acclaimed as positive aspects of their experience and the consequences for them were feelings of failure and guilt following their experience.

Women also attempted to maintain control over their childbearing experience. They did extensive reading and attended prenatal classes in order to prepare themselves for childbearing. Such preparation had worked for them in the past and should have paved the way for a successful experience. They planned and organized in order to do the best possible job of childbearing. However, their experiences were such that these strategies were not found to be helpful. Attendance at prenatal classes was not sufficient for a positive labor and delivery experience. Loss of control resulted when unforeseeable circumstances presented themselves.

When faced with mixed perceptions of their experience, mature primiparas analyzed their experience, examining themselves in their new role. This reflective awareness was directed at coming to terms with the discrepancies which existed between their expectations and their perception of the experience. They were able to see many of the advantages as well as the disadvantages of delayed childbearing. Many of the disadvantages to postponing childbearing which were reported by Frankel (1982) and DeVore (1983), were also addressed by the women who took part in this study. Disadvantages included not having the energy to cope with their child, particularly when they became a teenager; an increased awareness of their age; and difficulty in spacing children.

Many of the advantages which these subjects felt to be associated with delayed childbearing were not discussed in the literature. Subjects felt that the fact that they had been able to travel and experience life was to their advantage. They did not resent the demands placed on them by their infant as they might have if they were younger. They felt that if they had parented at an earlier age, they would not have the financial security which they were now able to enjoy. The participants believed that they were more aware of their infants' needs, better informed, and more adaptable because they were older parents.

<u>Consequences</u>. Mature primiparas experienced several negative consequences of delayed childbearing. The majority of participants in this study held bittersweet perceptions of their childbearing experience in that the negative perceptions countered, and at times, overshadowed the positive aspects of the experience. The consequences of

holding bittersweet perceptions reported by these women ranged from postpartum depression, in three cases, to feelings of loss of control, disappointment, dissatisfaction, anger, and guilt. This study therefore adds support to the contribution of Sandelowski (1984) that 'failed expectations' may have negative psychoemotional consequences.

Mercer (1985) supports Sandelowski, adding that unmet or "failed expectations" may have a long-term impact on adaptation to motherhood and on later mothering behavior. The finding of negative consequences that contributed to a bittersweet perception of

childbearing therefore should be noted with some concern.

In summary, mature primiparas in this study held high expectations for their childbearing experience. They expected few lifestyle changes as result of parenting and believed that their lives would be enhanced through childbearing. They held high expectations for themselves as parents as well as for their children. These high expectations for the childbearing experience can be seen as an antecedent to the perception of childbearing as a bittersweet experience since in all cases the perceived reality of their experience was incongruent with their expectations. Women who had the most positive expectations regarding pregnancy had the most negative perceptions about their experience. Those who had negative expectations or no expectations perceived their experience to be positive. The strategies which they had used successfully in the past did not help them in the new and unpredictable context of childbearing. The women all stated that no amount of readiness training could have prepared them for their experience. These findings should be carefully noted, because discrepancy between expectations and the perceived childbearing experience, or "failed expectations" (Sandelowski, 1984) has been

reported to have significant impact on how childbirth is viewed by primiparas and on their ability to take on the mothering role (Mercer, 1985).

### The Relationship of the Findings to the Organizational Framework

The organizational framework which guided the interviews was derived from a paradigm developed by Flapan (1969). This framework was selected because it explores the expectations and ambivalence that women hold regarding childbearing. Childbearing is defined in the paradigm in a broad context as was the case in this study. In practice, the choice of this paradigm was found to provide an excellent fit with the phenomenon being investigated in this study for the following reasons:

- The loose and open formulation of the paradigm fit well with the grounded theory methodology in that it provided an organizational framework without committing the researcher to set hypotheses and variables. It therefore facilitated an unstructured exploration of the phenomenon.
- 2) The paradigm implied that a multiplicity of meanings and anticipations may be associated with conception, pregnancy, childbirth, motherhood and childrearing. This was found to be particularly pertinent to the mature primipara. The meanings and expectations associated with such issues as fertility, motivation for pregnancy, maternal physiological risks, fear of labor and delivery, ability to parent, ability to combine motherhood and career all can be seen as having an impact on the perception of the mature primipara regarding her childbearing experience.
- 3) The paradigm provided a better link with the concept of "failed expectations",

introduced by Sandelowski (1984), than was initially anticipated. The paradigm suggests that when conflict is experienced around childbearing expectations, problems with conception, pregnancy, childbirth, and childrearing can arise. This aspect of the paradigm was validated by the findings of this study in that the core concept that emerged (childbearing or bittersweet experience) centers around the discrepancy or conflict between the childbearing expectation and the perception of the actual experience.

- The paradigm introduced the idea that childbearing expectations can change over time. Again this was found to be an excellent fit with the data which emerged. This study demonstrated that it is possible for changes in childbearing expectations to occur with the passage of time. Regardless of their lifestyle appraisal or regardless of the changes which they thought childbearing would bring about, the single most important factor which motivated the participants to "taking chances" was the passage of time. Even those who had negative expectations surrounding childbearing began to change their outlook with the passage of time.
- The paradigm suggests that the decision to bear children can be understood in the context of the woman's appraisal of her current life situation and the changes, biological, personal, and interpersonal, which she expects childbearing to bring about. Again an excellent fit was found between this aspect of the paradigm and the phenomenon being studied. The subjects in this study all held expectations about the impact that childbearing would have on various facets of their lives. When trying to decide whether or not to bear children, they engaged in a

weighting process, an appraisal of their lives, trying to determine the benefits and costs of childbearing for them. For the women in this study, many of the expectations which they held regarding their childbearing experience lead to the perception of childbearing as an experience with many negative as well as positive features, that is, a bittersweet experience.

### **Implications for Further Research**

The present study was based on interviews with a small sample who primarily were middle class urban career women. The interviewer sought out subjects with varied experiences in that some of the subjects had experienced infertility, some had experienced miscarriage, one was unmarried, and one was non-Caucasian. However, in order to develop a greater understanding of expectations and perceptions of childbearing, sampling should be expanded to include subjects from other socioeconomic groups, as well as subjects from rural or remote areas, and those from different cultures.

Women were interviewed only once in the postpartum period. A longitudinal study might tap into expectations and discrepancies after the subject had returned to work. The passage of time also might change the perceptions held by women regarding their child-bearing experience. A different research design also might include interviews with women during their pregnancy, during the immediate postpartum period, and at later intervals. A prospective longitudinal study would address one limitation of this study, that is, it's retrospective nature and would document the long term impact of postponing childbearing. It would be worthwhile to interview the husbands of these women in order to compare

and contrast their expectations and perceptions regarding childbearing with those of their partners.

More research is required in the area of "doctoring" since medical care has been demonstrated to have great impact on the expectations and perceptions of women regarding their childbearing experience. Morcos, Snart, and Harley (1989) recommend that physicians identify and discuss specific areas of concern or apprehension with their patients, providing options wherever possible and rationale where choices cannot be honored (p.8). Research into the concept "doctoring" might explore the differences in approach between male and female physicians, as well as patient preferences regarding their obstetrical care.

Prenatal classes were not found to be helpful in preparing the subjects for their labor and delivery experience or for the realities of motherhood. Stolte (1987) was surprised that women who had attended prepared childbirth classes reported more unexpected events than those who did not attend. She postulates that prepared subjects may have expected to be prepared for any eventuality, and, when they were not, were more aware of unexpected events than were unprepared or informally prepared subjects who may not have had such specific expectations (p.102). Current approaches to childbirth preparation must be explored so that more effective methods can be developed for preparing the mature gravida. Research is required to determine the best ways to provide "motherhood readiness training". Bliss-Holtz (1988) reports that interest for learning infant care is low in the prenatal period and recommends that the postpartum period be considered. However, this study demonstrates that the postpartum period is too

late to address these issues. In fact, subjects indicated that nothing could have prepared them for the realities of motherhood. Would preconceptual counselling be of any value to these women?

### **Implications for Practice**

The researcher's interest in this topic stemmed from a clinical observation. An overall tendency toward increased difficulties in postpartum adjustment had been observed. The observation was supported by the findings of this study. Labor and delivery and the early weeks following were reported by the subjects to be extremely difficult for them. In some cases postpartum depression was reported, as well as feelings of disappointment, loss of control, dissatisfaction, anger, and guilt. Perhaps medical and nursing personnel have unrealistic expectations of this age group because they appear to be so capable. They are mature, financially secure, well read, and well educated. Perhaps professionals do not provide the same type of information and support to these women because they appear not to need it. This study demonstrates that mature primiparae can suffer serious emotional consequences because of failed expectations and that they require different approaches to what they traditionally have been offered.

Prenatal classes that provide opportunities for women to voice their fears, concerns, and expectations would be more helpful to these woman than those following a prescribed course outline. The women in this study felt that they did not need much of the basic information presented in the traditional classes. The mature gravida must be recognized as having different learning needs and requiring an approach which is more

tailored to her needs. More emphasis must be given to building confidence and providing a less prescribed approach to coping with labor and delivery. The majority of women interviewed found that the strategies that they had learned in class, and that they had expected would work, did little to help them cope with the birth experience.

The subject who had twins believed that it would have been helpful for her to have attended a twin support group so that she could have learned first hand about parenting twins. It might be helpful to provide opportunities for other mature gravida to talk with women who have recently given birth so that they can test their expectations against the perceived reality of others. The subjects seemed to suffer from information overload, yet lacked the opportunity to test what they had heard and read against the perceived realities of others. They were very determined to do the job correctly and sought "the correct" way to perform. They may have appreciated learning that a whole array of "correct ways" exists from which to choose. Women who had female physicians were more satisfied with their care than those who had male physicians. The mature gravida must realize that all physicians do not use the same approach with their patients and that they have the right to choose a physician who will provide the type of care with which they feel comfortable.

The Public Health Nurse (PHN) was mentioned by a number of subjects as having provided support to them in the postpartum period. The PHN is in the unique position of being able to care for the family in the home during the postpartum period. The PHN must make contact early in the postpartum period since that was the time which the study demonstrates to be the most difficult for new mature mothers. Support and encouragement

during the first week home could help to make a difference in women's perception of their experience. Linking these women with others in their community would also help them to form support networks. The PHN could take a lead role in facilitating the formation of such support networks.

Above all, the attitude of health care professionals toward the mature gravida must change. Increased sensitivity of physicians, childbirth educators, and hospital and community nurses who provided care to the mature gravida would have done much to improve the childbearing experience of the subjects in this study.

### **Limitations of the Study**

Several limitations of the study are acknowledged:

- The study was retrospective. The researcher was unable to validate the reports given by the subjects, but had to rely on the ability of the subject to accurately recall the experiences and the emotions which accompanied them.
- 2) The perceived realities were not explored past six months following the birth. A number of expectations which the parents held for their child as he/she grew older and for themselves as parents returning to the workforce were not explored.
- 3) The study cannot be replicated because of the unstructured and open approach to the research design.
- 4) The sample obtained for the study was not representative of the population of all persons who have postponed childbearing, so that the findings cannot be generalized to this population.

#### **Conclusions**

In conclusion, the following overview highlights the salient features which described delayed childbirth as experienced by the mature primipara. The observations made apply to the majority of women in the study.

The childbearing experience was expected to enrich the lives of these women, to satisfy their need to share and to teach some of the things about life which they had experienced. Expectations for this "female experience" were so great that these older women began to fear that they might in fact wait beyond their "biological boundary". The pressures of time clashed with situations of miscarriage, infertility, and incongruent expectations with their partners and, in some cases, with their own personal life plans. The problem-solving skills which had stood them in good stead in their lives to date did not help them in making childbearing decisions. They used "weighting", looking logically at the pros and cons to childbearing. In the end, when it seemed that no logical decision could be made, they resorted to "taking chances" with birth control. This is not unlike the behavior observed with teenagers.

These women expected that logic and past skills would pave the way to success as it had in past endeavours. They studied and went to classes to prepare themselves for the childbearing process. Above all, they wanted to be organized with birth plans and baby clothes washed and packed. They expected that because they had successfully dealt with so many of life's dilemmas, they had the skills to integrate parenting with marriage and career. They did not expect that there would be too much disruption in their lifestyle. Their expectations for themselves in the mothering role and for their children's

achievements were extremely high.

These women perceived that their childbearing experience overall was far more difficult than they had ever expected. Most of these women felt that no amount of readiness training would have prepared them for their experience. The techniques which they had successfully used in past failed them. The new skills which they had learned in prenatal classes were of little value. The situations in which they found themselves were so unpredictable and emotionally draining that their sense of control was lost. The availability of family and marital supports did not seem to mediate this feeling of loss of control.

Most of the women had a sharing relationship with their husbands. However, they experienced such a fierce and unexpected "dedication" to their infant that they found themselves having difficulty giving up child care responsibilities to their partners. Their lifestyle was thrown into chaos. The time that they had to themselves and with their husbands was suddenly gone, and their ability to organize and plan seemed no longer to exist. Breastfeeding was expected to bring great emotional satisfaction and to cement the bond between mother and infant. However, breastfeeding was perceived as a function that had none of the glamor that was anticipated. Those who had many negative perceptions of childbearing expressed feelings of guilt, disappointment, inadequacy, and depression.

Women used minimizing techniques, like celebrating the health of their infant and saying that the labor could have been worse, them cope with their negative perceptions. The passage of time was an important factor which helped participants to regain control over their lives. Many of the negative perceptions were reduced as the infant became

more predictable and began to interact with the mother.

The women were aware that there were risks involved with delayed childbearing, risks to themselves and to their infant. It is possible that this awareness created in them an increased level of anxiety, especially regarding labor and delivery. Perhaps because they appeared to be so capable, the supports that they needed were not offered. The fact that these women expected to be "correct mothers" may have set them up for failure. They expected that they were prepared for childbearing and when situations were different from what they expected, they were aware of the discrepancies. That is, the higher the expectations, the greater the discrepancy may be between expectations and the perceived reality.

As a consequence of these discrepancies, negative aspects of the experience intermingled with, and at times overshadowed, the pleasure and gratification of the childbearing experience so that childbearing was perceived as a bittersweet experience by the majority of the mature primiparous women who participated in this study.

#### References

- Baldwin, W., Nord, C. (1984). Delayed childbearing in the U.S.: Facts and fictions. <u>Population Bulletin</u>, <u>39</u>(4), November, 1-43.
- Beaton, J., & Gupton, A. (1990). Childbirth expectations: A qualitative analysis. Midwifery. 6, 133-139.
- Bliss-Holtz, V. J. (1988). Primiparas' prenatal concern for learning infant care. Nursing Research, 37 (1), 20-24.
- Bloom, D. E. (1984). Delayed childbearing in the United States. <u>Population Research and Policy Review</u>, 3, 103-139.
- Bongaarts, J. (1982). Not so unresolved: a reply. <u>Family Planning Perspectives</u>, <u>14(5)</u>, 289-290.
- Boulton, M. (1983). On Being a Mother. New York: Tavistock.
- Bramadat, I. J. (1990). Relationships among maternal expectations for childbirth, maternal perceptions of the birth experience, and maternal satisfaction with childbirth in women undergoing induction, augmentation, and spontaneous labor. Unpublished doctoral dissertation, University of Texas at Austin.
- Breen D. (1975). The Birth of a First Child. London: Tavistock.
- Brown, M. A. (1986). Marital support during pregnancy. <u>JOGNN</u>, Nov./Dec., 475-483.
- Bryman, A. (1988). Quantity and Quality in Social Research. Unwin Hyman: Boston.
- Clark, A. (1975). Labor and birth: Expectations and outcomes. Nursing Forum, XIV(4), 413-428.
- Daniels, P., Weingarten, K. (1979). A look at the medical risks in late childbearing. Women and Health, 4(1), 5-36.
- DeVore, N. E. (1983). Parenthood postponed. <u>American Journal of Nursing</u>, Aug., 1160-1163.
- Flapan, M. (1969). A paradigm for the analysis of childbearing motivations of married women prior to the birth of the first child. <u>American Journal of Orthopsychiatry</u>, <u>39(3)</u> April, 402-417.
- Fox, G. L., (1982). The Childbearing Decision. California: Sage.

- Frankel, S. A., & Wise, M. J. (1982). A view of delayed parenting: some implications of a new trend. <u>Psychiatry</u>, <u>45</u>, August, 220-225.
- Galloway, K. (1976). The uncertainty and stress of high risk pregnancy. <u>The American Journal of Maternal Child Nursing</u>, Sept/Oct, 294-299.
- Glaser, B., & Strauss, A. (1967). <u>The Discovery of Grounded Theory</u>. Aldine Publishing Company: New York.
- Gupton, A., Beaton, J., Sloan, J., & Bramadat, I. (1991). The development of a scale to measure childbirth expectations. <u>The Canadian Journal of Nursing Research</u>, 23(2), 35-47.
- Hendershot, G. E., Mosher, W. D., & Pratt, W. F. (1982). Infertility and age: an unresolved issue. <u>Family Planning Perspectives</u>, 14(5), 287-289.
- Hirsch, B. J., & Rapkin, B. D. (1986). Multiple roles, social networks, and women's wellbeing. <u>Journal of personality and Social Psychology</u>, <u>51(6)</u>, 1237-1247.
- Hodnett, E., & Simmons-Tropea, D. (1987). The Labor Agentry Scale: Psychometric properties of an instrument measuring control during childbirth. Research in Nursing & Health, 10(5), 301-310.
- Hofferth, S. L. (1984). Long-term economic consequences for women of delayed childbearing and reduced family size. <u>Demography</u>, <u>21(2)</u>, 141-155.
- Houghton, D., & Houghton, P. (1984). Coping with Childlessness. London: George Allen and Unwin.
- Humenick, S., & Bugen, L. (1987). Parenting roles: Expectations versus reality. <u>Maternal Child Nursing</u>, <u>12</u>, Jan\Feb, 36-39.
- Killien, M. (1987). Childbearing choices for professional women. <u>Health Care for Women International</u>, 8(2-3), 121-131.
- Kirz, D. S., Dorchester, W., Freeman, R. K. (1985). Advanced maternal age: The mature gravida. <u>American Journal of Obstetrics and Gynecology</u>, <u>152</u>(1), 7-12.
- Kitzinger, S. (1982). Birth Over Thirty. London: Sheldon Press
- Lederman, R. (1984). Psychosocial Adaptation in Pregnancy. New York: Prentice-Hall.

- Levy, J., & McGee, R. (1975). Childbirth as a crisis: A test of Janis' theory of communication and stress resolution. <u>Journal of Personality and Social Psychology</u>, <u>31(1)</u>, 171-179.
- Lincoln Y., & Guba, E. (1985). Naturalistic Inquiry, Beverly Hills: Sage Publications.
- Majewski, J. (1987). Social support and the transition to the maternal role. <u>Health Care for Women International</u>, <u>8</u>, 397-407.
- Mansfield, P. K., & Cohn, M. D. (1986). Stress and later-life childbearing: Implications for nursing. MCN, 15(3), 139-151.
- Mansfield, P. K. (1986). Re-evaluating the medical risks of late childbearing. Women and Health, 11(2), 37-60.
- Marriner, A. (1986). Nursing theorists and their work. Toronto: C.V. Mosby Company.
- McBride, A. (1983). Differences in women's and men's thinking about parent-child interactions. Research in Nursing and Health, 8 389-396.
- McBride, A. (1973). The Growth and Development of Mothers. Toronto: Fitzhentry & Whiteside.
- Meleis, A. (1985). <u>Theoretical Nursing development and progress</u>. New York: J. B. Lippincott Company.
- Menkin, J. (1985). Age and fertility: how late can you wait? Demography, 22(4), 469-483.
- Mercer, R. T. (1984). Adolescent motherhood comparison of outcomes with older mothers. <u>Journal of Adolescent Health Care</u>, <u>5</u>(1), 7-13.
- Mercer, R. T. (1986). Predictors of maternal role attainment at one year postbirth. Western Journal of Nursing Research, 8(1), 1-32.
- Mercer, R. T. (1977). Nursing Care for Persons at Risk. New Jersey: Charles B. Slack.
- Mercer, R. T. (1981). The nurse and maternal tasks of early postpartum. <u>Maternal Child Nursing</u>, <u>6</u>, September/October, 341-345.
- Mercer, R. T. (1981). A theoretical framework for studying factors that impact on the maternal role. <u>Nursing Research</u>, 30(2), March/April, 73-77.

- Mercer, R. T. (1985). Relationship of birth experience to later mothering behaviors. <u>Journal of Nurse-Midwifery</u>, 30(4), 204-211.
- Mercer, R. T. (1985). The process of maternal role attainment over the first year. <u>Nursing</u> <u>Research</u>, <u>34</u>(4), July/August, 198-203.
- Mercer, R. T. (1986). The relationship of developmental variables to maternal behaviour. Research in Nursing and Health, 9, 25-33.
- Merlin, K. (1987). Pregnancy after 30. Self, May, 142-144.
- Morcos, F. H., Snart, F. D., & Harley, D. D. (1989). Choices, expectations, and the experience of childbirth. <u>Canada's Mental Health</u>, March, 6-8.
- Morrison, I. (1975). The elderly primigravida. <u>American Journal of Obstetrics and Gynecology</u>, 121(4), 465-470.
- Pebley, A. R. (1981). Changing attitudes toward the timing of the first births. <u>Family Planning Perspectives</u>, 13(4), 171-175.
- Pickens, D. S. (1982). The cognitive processes of career-oriented primiparas in identity reformulation. <u>Maternal-Child Nursing Journal</u>, <u>11</u>, 135-164.
- Roghmann, K. J., & Doherty, R. A. (1983). Reassurance through prenatal diagnosis and willingness to bear children after age 35. <u>American Journal of Public Health</u>, 73(7), 760-762.
- Rubin, R. (1984). Maternal Identity and the Maternal Experience. New York: Springer.
- Russel, C. (1974). Transition to parenthood: Problems and gratifications. <u>Journal of Marriage and the Family</u>. <u>36</u>, 294-301.
- Sandelowski, M. (1984). Expectations for childbirth versus actual experiences: The gap widens. Maternal Child Nursing, 9, July/August, 237-239.
- Sandelowski, M. (1986). The problem of rigor in qualitative research. <u>Advances in Nursing Science</u>, April, 27-37.
- Stolte, K. (1987). A comparison of women's expectations of labor with the actual event. Birth, 14(2), 99-103.
- Stern, P. (1980). Grounded theory methodology: Its uses and processes, <u>Image</u>, <u>XII</u> (1), 20-23.

- Strauss, A., & Corbin, J. (1990). <u>Basics of Qualitative Research</u>. Sage Publications: Newbury Park.
- Swanson-Kauffman, K. M. (1987). Overview of the balancing act: Having it all. <u>Health Care for Women International</u>, <u>8</u>(23), 101-108.
- Tietzen, A. M., & Bradley, C. F. (1985). Social support and maternal psychosocial adjustments during the transition to parenthood. <u>Canadian Journal of Behavioral Science</u>, <u>17</u>, 107-121.
- Tilden, V. T. (1980). A developmental conceptual framework for the maturational crisis of pregnancy. Western Journal of Nursing Research, 2(4), 668-679.
- Ventura, S. J. (1982). Trends in first births to older mothers, 1970-1979. Monthly Vital Statistics Report, 31(2-2), May 27, 1-15.
- Wilkie, J. R. (1981). The trend toward delayed parenthood. <u>Journal of Marriage and the Family</u>, August, 583-590.
- Winslow, W. (1987). First pregnancy after 35: What is the experience? MCN, March/April, 12, 92-96.
- Woods, S. (1987). Myths and realities of the biological time clock: The childbearing years. <u>Health Values</u>, <u>2</u>(5), 21-25.

APPENDIX A

**INSTRUMENTS** 

### Appendix A

#### Interview Guide

The following are the themes to be explored with the mother. The framework adopted (Flapan 1969) will be used as a guide and will assist in providing a focus for the interviews.

- 1. Appraisal of her life situation prior to conception, (ie. description/feelings about herself, her spouse/partner, family, social network).
- 2. Explore the mother's cultural beliefs, experiences, meanings associated with childbearing (ie. hopes, dreams, desires, fantasies).
- 3. Changes to her life situation (as described) which she expected to take place as result of childbearing, (ie. expectations concerning biological changes, personal and interpersonal changes).
- 4. Compare her perceived experience with the expectations held.
- 5. The range of consequences if the mother's expectations and her perceived reality are widely disparate.

#### Demographic Data

The participant will be advised that she can omit answering any of the questions asked.

- 1. Age at delivery (in years)
- 2. Marital status
- 3. Education
- 4. Reproductive history
- 5. Employment history
- 6. Future plans regarding return to work

### APPENDIX B

LETTERS REQUESTING ACCESS TO STUDY PARTICIPANTS

Administrator Public Health Nursing

I am a Graduate Student in the School of Nursing at the University of Manitoba. I have completed the course work required for the Masters Program and I am ready to begin work on my thesis. My thesis advisor is Dr. I. Bramadat, Associate Director, Coordinator Undergraduate Program, School of Nursing (474-6222).

My study will explore the childbearing expectations of the mature primigravida, who, for the purpose of my study, will include women who are thirty-five years of age or older. The study will involve meeting with women who have delayed childbearing in order that I might hear from them about their childbearing expectations and experiences. The interviews will be tape recorded and will be used to analyze the discrepancies between childbearing realities and expectations in this age group. A trend toward delayed childbearing has been identified and it is hoped that the results of this study can be used by health care workers to better understand this phenomena.

I am seeking permission to recruit women who might be interested in participating in this study through Boundary Health Unit.

Women who volunteer to take part in the study will be provided with an explanation of the nature and purpose of the study and will be required to sign a consent form. Participants may withdraw from the study at any time and may refuse to respond to any questions at any time as they wish. All information furnished to me by the participants will be held in strict confidence.

For your information, please find enclosed a copy of the interview guide which will be used during the study. I would be happy to provide to you any additional information which you might require regarding the study.

I look forward to receiving a response to my request at your earliest convenience.

Yours truly, Margaret Gander

### APPENDIX C

APPROACH TO PROSPECTIVE PARTICIPANTS

To the Participant,

I am a Graduate Student in the School of Nursing at the University of Manitoba. I have also worked as a Public Health Nurse in Winnipeg for several years. One area that I am most interested in is maternal child health.

I have completed the course work required for the Masters Program and I am ready to begin work on my thesis project. My thesis advisor is Dr. I. Bramadat, Associate Director, Coordinator Undergraduate Program, School of Nursing (204-474-6222). The area that I am studying is childbearing expectations of women who were thirty-five years of age or older when they had their first baby. I am interested in talking with women in this age group so that I might hear from them first hand about their childbearing expectations and experiences. It is hoped that the results of this study can be used by health care workers to assist them in providing care for childbearing women in this age group.

The purpose of this letter is to tell you about the study and ask you to consider volunteering as a participant. I will be contacting women who meet the following criteria:

- 1. thirty-five years of age or older
- 2. having had their first baby
- 4. English speaking
- 5. living within the jurisdiction of Boundary Health Unit
- 6. can be contacted for the purpose of setting up an interview.

The study will consist of interviews which will last an hour to an hour and one-half. Interviews will take place at a time and place which is convenient to you. Should you become tired during the interview we can arrange to complete it at another time. Interviews will be tape recorded so that I will not miss any of the details of the conversation. All information shared with me will be held in strict confidence. All information will be locked in a safe location and only my advisors and I will have access to it. All the interviews will be identified by code number only

and no identifying details or names will be used in any publications or reports. At the end of the study all tapes will be erased.

I am required to have all participants sign a consent form. This will be given to you before our interview begins. Please read it very carefully at that time and be sure to ask any questions you may have before you sign it.

Your participation in this study is strictly voluntary and you may withdraw from it at any time. You may decline answering any questions during the interview. I will be happy to share the findings of the study with you once it is completed.

I will telephone you in about two weeks in order to answer any questions which you might have about the nature of the study and your role as a participant. Then we can arrange a suitable time for our interview should you decide to become a participant in the study.

Thank you for your time and consideration.

### Telephone conversation with prospective participants

Hello. I am Margaret Gander. I am calling as a follow-up to the letter which I sent to you last week about my thesis project. Is this a convenient time for me to talk with you? (If not, set up a more convenient time to have this telephone conversation.)

Do you have any comments or questions about the study or what your role would be if you were to decide to participate?

(Answer questions and clarify any points with the prospective participant.).

If you are interested in participating, I would like to set a time and place where we could meet and begin the interview. Where and when would be a convenient for you?

Thank you for your participation. I am looking forward to meeting with you.

APPENDIX D

**CONSENT FORM** 

Consent Form
By signing this consent form, I,, having met the criteria set ou for this study, agree to participate in the study. The following is my understanding of the nature of the study and my role as participant therein:
1. The purpose of the thesis project is to study the childbearing expectations of womer who are thirty-five years of age or older when having their first baby.
2. I have been provided with written information about the study.
3. The study is being conducted by Margaret Gander who is a Masters Student at the University of Manitoba. Her thesis advisor is Dr. I. Bramadat, Associate Director Coordinator Undergraduate Program, School of Nursing (204-474-6222).
4. My participation in this study is purely voluntary. Participation in the study will not result in any direct benefit to me. I can withdraw from the study at any time without penalty to me. I may refuse to answer any questions asked of me during the interview.
5. All information shared during the interview will be held in strict confidence. Only the researcher and her advisor will have access to it. The information will be identified by code numbers only and all information will be kept in a safe place. No identifying information will be used in reporting the findings of this study and no one will know the names of the participants. At the end of the study, the tapes will be erased.
6. The interviews will be conducted at a time and place which is convenient to me. The interview will be about an hour to an hour and one-half in length. The interview will be tape recorded.
7. I will be provided with a copy of this consent form.
8. I can contact Margaret Gander at any time if I have questions about the study or my participation in the study.
By my signature I am indicating my willingness to participate in the study as outlined above.
Data

Participant\_\_\_\_\_

Researcher\_\_\_\_

### APPENDIX E

CONTACT FROM COMMUNITY HEALTH NURSE

### CONTACT FROM COMMUNITY HEALTH NURSE

The community health nurse will read the following request to release potential subjects' names during a regular postpartum contact:

Margaret Gander, a graduate nursing student, is doing a study on the childbearing expectations of women who deliver their first baby when they are thirty-five years of age or more. She would like to contact you in the next few weeks to ask you to participate in the research study. You would receive a letter of explanation prior to her contacting you. The study involves a home visit which will last one hour to one hour and a half. May I give her your name and address so that she can contact you?

Thank you.

### APPENDIX F

ETHICAL REVIEW COMMITTEE APPROVAL

## The University of Manitoba

# SCHOOL OF NURSING ETHICAL REVIEW COMMITTEE

### APPROVAL FORM

	Proposal Number_N#91/20
Proposal Title: "Di	screpancies Between Childbearing Expectations ived Experience of the Mature Primipara."
	ived Experience of the Mature Primipara."
Name and Title of	
Researcher(s):	Margaret Gander
resourcher(s).	Master of Nursing Graduate Student
•	University of Manitoba School of Nursing
Date of Review:	June 03, 1991.
APPROVED BY THE	COMMITTEE: JUNE 03, 1991.
Comments:	
<del></del>	·
Date: <u>June 19,</u>	1991
	Erna J. Schilder, RN, DNS Chairperson Associate Professor
	University of Manitoba School of Nursing
	Position

#### NOTE:

Any significant changes in the proposal should be reported to the Chairperson for the Ethical Review Committee's consideration, in advance of implementation of such changes.

Revised: 91/01/11/se

## APPENDIX G

SCHEMATIC OF CORE CATEGORY

#### CORE CATEGORY

Delayed Childbearing: A Bittersweet Experience

### ANTECEDENTS

#### Expectations

Personal

Gratification

Childlessness

Infertility

Lifestyle changes

Selves as parents

For child

Parmer/Family/Friends

Being "in sync"

Support

Independence

Compedition

Society/Culture

Reason for being

Options

Failed Expectations

#### Perceptions

Passage of Time

Increased risks

Lifestyle disenchantment

Missing the female experience

Readiness to conceive

Changing expectations

Initial Reactions to Baby

Realities of Homecoming

De communication of montecomm

Breastfeeding

Common Negative Perceptions

Lack of sleep

No time for self

Worries about baby

Feeling isolated

Setting new priorities

Worries about parenting

Common Positive Perceptions

Maternal/child interaction

Infant predictability

### ACTION/INTERACTION STRATEGIES

Weighting
Taking Chances
Presenting the Pregnancy
Complying with Rules
Preparing for Delivery
Attending Classes
Developing Birth Plan

Minimizing Discepancies

Recognizing Advantages

INTERVENING CONDITIONS

Accepting the Reality

Congruence with expectations

Assurance of healthy baby

Getting "in sync"

Support from family/friends

Sense of Control

Pain Management

Supports

Doctoring

Threat to Infant

Dedicating to Baby

Changes in Marital Relationship

Changes in Self-Concept

Separation from Baby

#### CONSEQUENCES

Depression Feelings of Guilt